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STATE OF WISCONSIN,

VS.

Plaintiff,
"""" Case No. 05 CF 381
FILED

aM nM (X-Q Q W!!!V

STEVEN A. AVERY, JAN 3 0 2007
Defendant.

CLERK OF CtRCUIT COuFlT

DECISION AND ORDER ON ADMISSIBILITY OF THIRD PARTY
LIABILITY EVIDENCE

The court previously issued its "Order Regarding State's Motion Prohibi(ing

Evidence of Third Party Liability ("Denny" Motion)" on July 10, 2006. That order

provided in part as follows:

"Should the defendant, as part of his defense, intend to suggest
that a third party other than Brendan Dassey is responsible for any of
the crimes charged, the defendant must notify the Court and the State
at least thirty (30) days prior to the stmt of the trial of such intention.
In that event, the defendant will be subject to tkie standards relating to
the presentation of any such evidence established in ?.De?;
120 Wis. 2d 614 (Ct. App. 1984)."

Pursuant to the couit's July 10, 2006 order, the defendant filed "Defendant's

Statement on Tliird-Party Responsibility" on Januaiy 8, 2007. The State filed its

"A4emoraiidum to Preclude Third Paity Liability Evidence" on Januaray 12, 2007.

Thc court heard oral argument on the third party liability issue at a hearing on

January 19, 2007.

l
i

Doc. 490

d,=l

(=)
238-1

App. 1
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While the parties dispute its applicability to the defendant's offer of proor,

the leading Wisconsin case on the issue third paxty liability evidence is State v.

Denny, 120 Wis. 2d 614 (Ct. App. 1984).' The defendant in that case, Kem

Denny, 'was chai'ged with first-degree murder. At trial, he claimed that he had no

motive to murder the victim, but that a number of other individuals did. The trial

court refused to allow tl'ie defendant to present such evidence because it was not

accompanied by any evidence that the other individuals had an opportunity to

commit the crime or a direct connection to it. The Court of Appeals upheld the

triaJ couit's refusal to admit the evidence. In its decision, the court adopted what is

known as the "legitimate tendency" test. Under that test, a defendant seeking to

J

l

introduce evidence asserting the motive of a third party or parties to have

committed the crime must produce evidence that such party or paxties had the

l

i

I

opportunity to comi'nit the crime arid tlxat there is some evidence which is nor

1

Tlie derendant has al(crnaicly claimcd that the Wisconsiri Supren'ie court Iias or has not adopted tlic
Deimy Iegitimate tendency test. Iii the defcndant's June 26, 2006 Defendant's Response to S(ate's
Motion to Proliibit Evidence of Tliird Party Liability (Denn)i Motion), deferise counsel recognized thai
"Denny has been adopted by the Wisconsin Supreme Court and Avery acknowledges its application in
t}iis case should Iie seek to iii(roduce evidence of third party Iiability For Teresa Halbacli's death. See,
Stale it. Kiiapp, 265 Wis. 2d 278, 351-52, 666 N.W. 2d 881 (2003), vacmed on olher grounds, 542 u.s.
952 (2004), reaffirnv'id on remand, 2005 Wl 127, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W. 2d 899." at p. 3. By January
8, 2007, i'iowever, tIle defendant had colne to lhe collclusioll that 'ille Wisconsin Supreme Courl llas
iievcr adopted Deimy." Defendant's Statement on Tliird-Party Responsibility a( p. 3. The coutt believcs
tl'ie defendan} had it right the first time. The Wisconsin Supreine Court ruled in Knapp as [o!lows:

"Tlie general role, adopted by this cotirt, concerning the issue is (liat evidence tcndiiig to
provc motivc and opportunity to commit a crimc rcgarding a party other tban the
defeiidaiit cai'i be excluded when there is no direct coniiectioii between the ll'iird party and
the alleged crime." (Citing Denny) 265 Wis. 2d at 351 .

Doc. 490
(')

App. 2

i 238-2
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remote in time, place or circutnstances to directly connect any third party to the

(%lme?

The defendant in this case initially acknowledged "that the Denny rule 1l1ust

be satisfied should he decide to offer third-party liability evidence, other t!ian

against Dassey." Defendant's Response to State's Motion to Prohibit Evidence of

Third-Party Liability (Denny motion) dated June 26, 2006 at p. 1 . The defcndant

now claims, however, that Denn)i is not applicable to this case and that the

defendant should be permitted to introduce evidence' of potential third party

liability on the part of a i'iumber of individuals evaluated solely on the basis of its

admissibility under %904.Ol, 904.02, and 904,O3.

Tlie defendant argues that Denny does not apply because while the defendarit

in Denny argued that third persons had a motive to commit the crime, "Aver5r does

not propose to suggest that anyone had a motive to kill Teresa Halbach."

Defendant's Statement on Tliird-Party Responsibility, p. 3. The defendant fintlicr

argues that since the prosecution is not required to prove motive as an element oF

ariy of the crimes with which he is charged, he sl'iould not be required to provc

t'iyotive as a prerequisite to submitting evidence of third party liability.

The defendant is correct that since he is not seeking to prove motive on the

part of any other third party, this case is not squarely on all fours with Denn)..

r:ienny was not req?iired to specifically address the issue of whether proof of

Doc. 490

(=)
App. 3

238-3
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xnotive is a prerequisite to offering third party liability evidence because the

defendant offered to show motive as part of his offer of proof. This court caru'iot

conclude, however, that the distinction on the issue of motive means ?hat Denny is

xiot controlling in this case. Dewy required a defendant offering third party

liability evidence to show proof of motive, opportunity and a direct connection to

the crime. It does not follow that if a defendant is unable to show motive, he is

somehow freed froi'n the requirements of the legitimate tendency test. In fact, the

most logical reading of Dewy is that all three facets of the legitimate tendency test

must be met for third paxty liability evidence to be admissible. Dewy specifically

held "our decision establishes a bright line standard requiring that three factors be

present, i?e?, motive, opportunity and direct connection." Deriny at 625. Thc

evidence offered by the defendarit in Deimy was ruled inadmissible because it

demonstrated motive, but not oppoxtunity or direct connection. There is nothing in

the decision to suggest that a defendant who demonstrates opportunity and direct

connection is somehow excused from demonstrating motive.

The; defendant asserts that Denny should not control because no one had a

motive to commit the charged crimes. The defense does not provide support for

this novel proposition. The court does not view the Amended Complaint a:;

alleging a motiveless series of crimes. Although tl'ie court has gleaned from

representations made by counsel in the course of these proceedings that evidence

Doc. 490
(-')

App. 4
238-4
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obtained bv the State subsequent to the filing of the Amended Complaint may

affect the precise version of what it intends to prove happened, the court docs not

accept the unsupported statement that no one had a motive to commit the crimes.

The defendant argues that a Wisconsin Supreme Court decision, State v.

Scheidell 227 Wis. 2d 285 (S. Ct. 1999) is more analogous to this case than Dcrm)i

arid should guide the court's analysis. The defendant in Scheidell was charged

witb attempted sexual assault for having allegedly broken into the residence of a

woman in his apartment building through an open window in the early morniiig

hours. The victim testified that her assaiJaiit straddled her body wl'iile she was ir'i

bed in her bedroom, struck l"ier in the face a number of times and tried to pull off

}ier undeipaiits. She testified sl'ie identified the defendant, who was wearing a ski

mask with holes for his eyes and mouth, as Sclieidell and asked turn by name wliai

he was doing a number of times. Each time she addressed him by name the

assailant hesitated briefly, then struck her again. Eventually, she was able to reacl'i

a pistol from her dresser and succeeded in getting the assailant to leave. The

assailant never said a word during tl'ie entire attack. At trial, the defendant sought

to admit evidence of a somewhat similar attack against a different vicliin

committed approximately five weeks later while the defendant was being held ii'i

jail. The Supreme Couit ruled tl'iat tl'ie Denny legitimate tendency test should yiot

apply the facts in ,Scheidell because where the identity of the third party is

Doc. 490

(==)
App. s

238-s
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unknown, "it worild be virtually impossible for the defendant to satisfy the motive

or opportunity prongs of the legitimate tendency test of Dewy." Id. at 296. The

courl concluded that Denny did not apply to other acts evidence committed by an

unknown third parl:y. Rather, the court reasoned that when a defendant offers other

acts evidence committed by an unknown third party, the court should apply the

Sul[ivan other acts evidence test, and balance the probative value of the evidence,

considering the similarities between the other act and the crime charged, against

the considerations found in §904.03. Id. at 310.

The court finds the defendant's argument that Scheidell is closer to the facts

in this case than Derxny to be unpersuasive. As pointed out by the State, this case

does not involve any unknown third parties. Tlie defendant does not offer any

evidence to suggest tl'iat son'ie unknown third party committed the crimes charged.

The defendant has identified a number of persons by name who he claims were on

or near the Aveiy property on October 31, 2005 and would have had an

opportunity to comn'iit the crime. Another distinction is that Avery is not seekiiig

to offer any other acts evidence. Rather, he wishes to offer direct evidence that oiic

or more identified third persons may have actually committed the crime. Tl'iis is

exactly what tbe defendant in Deimy attempted to do. Also significant is the fact

that while the defendant is Scheidell did not know the name of the third party, hc

did have evidence that tl'ie third par?y had motive, based on his alleged commissiori

l

(=')
Doc. 490

238-6
App 6
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of a similar crime. While the facts in Denny may not be precisely on point with

those of this case, they are far more applicable to this case than the facts tri

Scheide;ll.

The court concludes that the defendant's offer of third party liabi)ity

evidence s'nust be measured by the legitimate tendency test established in Denny.

The defendant knows the identity of third parties who may have had an opportunity

to commit the crimes. They are identified in his pleading. Unlike the defendant tri

Sclieide71, he is not precluded from determining whether any of them may have had

a motive to do liarrn to Teresa Halbach. He simply acknowledges that he has 110

evidence to offer that other persons with opportunity had the motive to commit the

crimes- Thus, if the Dezmy legitimate tendency test applies as it was originally

established in Denny, and the court concludes that it does, none of the offered

evidence is admissible because the defendant does not contend any of the other

persons present at the Avety property on October 31, 2005 had a motive to murder

Teresa Halbach os- commit the other crimes alleged to have been committed against

her.

The cohirt acknowJedges the remote possibility that an appeals court coukl

c}ioose to distinguish Denny and coxiclude that under some circumstances ,:i

defendant could tneet the legitimate tendency test by producing evidence of SLICII

probative value as it relates to opportunity and direct coi'inection to the crime l!'iat

l
l

Doc. 490
(7)

App 7
238-/
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Doc. 490

proof of motive is not required. Tlie court is not aware o[ any decision from any

jurisdiction which so holds, but an argument could be made that despite Deymy's

"bright line standard" that "three factors be present," strong evidence of

opportunity and direct connection to the crime might make up for the lack of

motive evidence. After all, Denny, while adopting the legitimate tendency factors

from People v. Greert, 609 P.2d 468, 480 (Cal. 1980), declined to adopt Green's

conclusion that the evidence submilted be "substantial," in recognition of

Wisconsin's more liberal policy 011 the admission of relevant evidence. Demi)i,

supra, at 622-623. Allowing for the possibility an appellate court might permit the

defendant to meet the legitimate tendency test requirements by offering other

evidence of sufficient opportunity and a direct connection to the crime in tl'ie

absence of a demonstration of motive, the court will individually examine the

persons identified by the defendant who could potentially be respoyisible for ]-eresa

Halbach's homicide and the evidence tl'ie defendant proposes to offer with respect

to each person, keeping in mind the adn'xonition of Dem'r)i that "evidence tha(

simply affords a possible ground of suspicion against another person should not bc

admissible." Denny, supra, at 623.

Tl'ie, opening sentence of the defendant's "Alternative Deimy Proffer"

suggests the weakness of his argument:

'!f the court does conclude instead that Denny applies here,
then Avery identifies each customer or family friend and each

(-)
App. 8

23El-8
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member of his extended family present on the Averyr salvage yard
property at any time during the afternoon and ear)y evening on
October 31, 2005, as possible third-party perpetraxors of one or more
of the charged crimes."

This offer appears to be an example of the dangers warned of by the court in

Denny:

"Otherwise, a defendant could conceivably produce evidence tending
to show that hundreds of other persons had some motive or animus
against the deceased - degenerating the proceedings into a trial of
collatera} issues." Derzny, szq:ira, at 623-624.

In this case, the defendant has not identified a large group of people with mo€ivc,

but rather a large group of people with opportunity. The danger of dege.ixeratiiig

the proceedings into a trial of collateral issues remains tbe same.

1. Scott Tadych. The facts offered by the det'endant in support of his

argument tl':iat Scott Tadych may have potential Iiability are found at pages 10 and

11 of the Defendant's Statement on Third-Party Responsibil.ity. The offer of proof

does not show a correlation between the timc Scott Tadych was present on the

property and the time Teresa Halbach was reported by others to have been on thc

property. Other parts of the defendant's offer of proof place Teresa Halbach oi'i the

property at about 3:30 p.m. Her business of pliotograpl'iirig Steveri Avery's veliicie

would have been completed well before 5:15 p.m. had the crimes against her not

taken place, yet the only proof offered is that Tadych didn't get on the scene tintil

5:15 p.m. Any claim by Tadycii that lie saw a fire behind the defendant's trailer

l
i

i
l

Doc. 490
(=;)

238-9

App 9 I
l
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would appear to be more consistent with the Statc's theory of the crime than ;iri>

liability on the part of Mr. Tadych. The defendant does not explain llie

relationship of the other facts recited to the crime. In the absence of motive,

certainly something more would be required than wl'iat is alleged to take thc

infonnation out of the category of speculation. Did Mr. Tadych know who Teresa

Halbach was? Did Mr. Tadych know that she would be on the premises on tlial

day? Is there any other evidence that would "directly connect" him to the crime?

These questions are not addressed in the defendant's offer of proof.

2. Andres M?ar?. The facts offered by the defendant in support of his

argument that Andres Maitinez may have potential liability are found at pages 11

thi'ough 14 of the Defendant's Staternent on Tl'iird-Pai'ty Responsibility. The offer

includes evidence that Mr. Maitinez can be a violent man, as reflected in the

reported November s, 2005 attack on lhis girlfi-rend with a hatchet. There are also

indications that he gave conflicting statements to the police department coiicciping

l'iis acquaiiitaiice with the defendant and what he knew or did not know about tlte

crin-ies. Conspicuously missing from the offer is airy indication that Mr. Maitinez:

had airy opportunity to do harm to Teresa Halbacl'i, let alone a motive to do so. lTe

denies being at the Avety salvage )iard ol'l October 31 and the court sees nothing iii

the offer of proof to indicate that any other person places him on the property oil

October 31 . In addition, there is no indication that he la-rows who Teresa Haltmcli

j Doc. 490

l

(-=)
238-10

App. 10
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was or that she would be present on the property on October 31. Again, the offer

falls clearly within the range of speculation arid far short of meeting the legitimate

tendency test, either as specificaily stated in Denny or as it n'iight be otherwise

conceivable applied.

3. James Kennedv. Mr. Kennedy was listed as a tbird paiaty I'iaviiig

potential liability in the defendant's statement, but at oral argument the court was

informed by defense counsel that Kennedy himself would not be a suspect, but

might be offered as a witness to provide testimony against others. Therefore, the

court does not address an offer of proof against James Kennedy as the court

understands an offer of proof is not being made.

4. Charles Avery. The evidence proffered against Charles Avery is

found at pages 15 and 16. Charles Aveiy, one of thc defendant's brothers,

allegedly was present on the salvage yard property on October 31, 2005. While lie

did not know Teresa Halbach by name, he allegedly knew "the photographer" was

expected to be visiting the property on October 31? The defendant indicates that

James Kennedy arrived at t}'ie Avety Salvage Yard property around 3:00 p.m. an6

no one was in the office, which was unus?ial. After about five minutes, Cliarlc:'

kvery appeared from the back of the building. The court is left to speculate hoi,x,i

this somehow "directly connects" Charles Aveiy to the crime. The defendant

attempts to derive significance from the fact Chai'les Avery's trailer home was the

l

l

l
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closest one to the location where Teresa Halbach's vehicle was found, but doesn't

say what the distance was. It's the court's recollection fiaorn the Preliininary

Examination that the trailer homes are not that far firom each other and that none of

them were very close to the site where the vehicle was found. In any event, the

court cannot draw any significance from the facts offered. This is also tme for flic

statement that Earl Avery told police that Charles Avery had spoken to a woman

associated with Auto Trader magazine at a timc not specified by the defendant.

The facts listed arguably show that Mr. Aveiy would have had an opportunity to

commit tl'ie crime, but there is no suggestion he had any motive to do so, nor is

there any evidence to directly connect him to the crime.

s. Robeit Fabian and E?ar:. What would be an offe.r of proof

against Robeit Fabian and Earl Avery is summarized at pages 16 and 17. As near

as the court can tel], the only evidence that might tie Robeit Fabian to the crime is

that he may have used a .22 caliber rifle while rabbit hunting that afternoon and a

bullet from a .22 caliber rifle is alleged to have stnick Teresa Halbach. There is i'io

evidence relating to motive, opportunity or any other type of d3rect connection to

the crime. The court is not sure that the defense actually intends to offer third-

paity evidence against Mr. Fabian, but if he does, his offer falls far short.

With respect to Earl Avery, there is no suggestion t)iat he knew who Teres;i

Halbacli was during her lifetime. The defendanl asserts that Earl Avery returned (o

Doc. 490
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the salvage yard driving a flatbed car hauler which could have been used to mosre

Ms. Halbach's Toyota to the place where it was found. There is no evidence

offered to suggest that Ms. Halbach's Toyota RAV 4 was not driven to the place

where it was found. The defendant does not offer any evidence to suggest it ?s'as

moved to the place where it was found by a flatbed car hauler. It is alleged that

Earl Avery's whereabouts in the salvage yard are unknown until Fabian arrived to

hunt rabbits with him late in the aftexnoon, but there is no suggestion why that

would be,unusual. The Avery salvage yard is a large parcel of property. Thc

defendant attributes significance lo the fact that a .22 caliber rifle would be

appropriate for hunting rabbits and it was a .22 caliber rifle bullet that the State

asserts was fired into Teresa Halbach's body. There is no suggestion, however, of

any evidence to dispute the State's claim that ballistic evidence matches the bullet

to a weapon possessed by Steven Avery. Viewing Ear{ Avex'y's possible use of it

.22 caliber rifle in light of Holmes v. South Caroljna, 126 S. Ct. 1727 (2006), thc.

fact that the State will be introducing evidence tl'iat the .22 caliber bullet came from

a weapon owned by Steven Avery does not alone prevent the defendant fi'oi'n

introducing evidence to the contrai'y. However, for any weapons owned by other

persons to be of any more than speculative significance, the court would expect at

least evidence that they were tested and could not be mled out as the weapon from

Doc. 490
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which the .22 caliber bullet found was fired. Otherwise, evidence concerning those

weapons would bring only confusion and add nothing to the search for truth.

The defendant also makes reference to a golf cart belonging to his mot)ier

which Earl Avety drove at about 3:30 in the afternoon on October 31 and the fact

that a cadaver dog later "aleited" on a golf cart. The defendant does not elaborate

on the significance of the dog "alerLing" on the golf cart, what role the defendant

asserts the cart may have had in the commission of the crimes, or whether the golf

cart used by Earl Avery is the one wliidi was alerted on. The defendant indicatcs

that Earl admitted driving past the location where Teresa Halbacli"s Toyota was

later discovered, but iii the absence of any indicatioxi as to what time her vel'iicle

was placed at the location where it was found, that fact does not appear to have any

special significance.

6. ?????Dassev :B.??rothers. A summary of the offered evidence against Blaine,

Bobby, and Bryan Dassey, all Bryan Dassey's brothers, is found at pages 18 and

19 of the Defendant's Statement on Third Party ResponsibiJity. The s?irm'iiary

suggests that Blaine, Bobby, and Bx'yaii Dassey may all have been present on the

Avery property at or about the time Teresa Halbach is alleged to bave been ki]led.

However, along with no allegation of any motive, tl'ie facts presented by the

defendant do not suggest any direct connection that any of the Dassey brothcr5

would have to the crime, other thari the fact they )iappened to be on tl'ie Avery

Doc. 490 App. 14
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property. In the absence of any allegation regarding motive, mere opportunity is

insufficiem to justify admission of the third party liability evidence.

In summary, with the exception of Scott Tadych and Andres Martinez, ihc

other persons identified by the defendant may have had an opportunity to commit

some or all of the crimes charged in the sense that they were near the alleged crime

scene at the time of the alleged crimes. The defense fails to offer any meaninBf'ul

evidence, however, to suggest that any of the persons named were dii'cctly

connected to the crimes in airy way. In the absence of motisie, it certainly may be

more difficult for the defendant to offer evidence which is relevant and materiai

connecting a third person to the crime. The courI simply finds nothing in the offer

made by the defendant that goes beyond the level of speculation.

ORDER

The defense is precluded from offering any direct evidence that a third party,

other than Brendan Dassey, participated in the commission of the crimes ctiargerl

iii the Ainended Information.

Dated this ??3?.r>?day of January, 2007.
l

BY THE COURT:

?'r M?

Patrick L. Willis,
Circuit Couit Judge
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I will ask the foreperson to present the verdicts to

the bailiff so that they may be brought forward.

At this time the Court will read the

verdicts. On Count 1, the verdict reads as

followsi We, the jury, find the defendant,

Steven A. Avery, guilty of first degree

intentional homicide as charged in the first

count of the Information.

On Count 2, the verdict reads: We, the

jury, find the defendant, Steven A. kver:y, not

guilty of mutilating a corpse as charged in the

second count of the Information.

On Count 3, the verdict reads: We, the

jury, find the defendant, Steven kvery, guilt.y of

possessiori of a firearm as charged in the third

count of the Info:mation.

The verdict on Count 1 is signed by the

foreperson of the jury, dated today. The other

verdicts are also signed by the foreperson of tbe

jury.

At this time the Court is going to poll

the jurors. I will ask the media folks to cut

the audio at this time.

Mr. Slaby, were the verdicts as read by

the Court, and are they still now, your verdicts

3
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1,

STATE OF WISCONS[N CIRCU{T COURT MANITOWOC COUNTY
BRANCH l

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff,

Case No. 05-CF-38l

l,".::l-:'.'..' u,.?. " V
a"'? Z7 ' :? '."i::':Sa?Z'

f= l i- E D

Jqt,i 2 9 200(I

..'iN(,UiT COUFIT

V.

STEVEN A. AVERY,

Defendant.

WIS. .STAT. § 809.30(2)(li) POSTCONVICTION MOTION

PART I: FILED UNDER SEAL

The defendant, Steven A. Avery, by his undersigned atLorneys, moves the

court pursiiant to Wis. Stat- e) 809.30(2)(h) for air order vacating his convictions

and granting a new trial. The following is shown in support of this motion:

1. Mr. Avery was convicted, following a jury trial, of first-degree

inten(ional }'iomicide contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.01(] )(a) and felon in possession

of a fireamn contrary to Wis. Stat. 8, 94].29(2)(a). The jury found Mr. Avery not

guilty of mutilation of a corpse. A fourtl'i count of false imprisonment was

dismissed by the court before the case went to the jury.

2. Ti'ie court imposed a life sentence on the homicide with no

oppottunity for release on supervision and a ten-year concurrent sentence on tbe

other count. Mr. Avery filed a timely notice of intent to seek postconviction relief

from the judgments of conviction entered on June 1, 2007.

3. Subsequently, the court of appeals extended tlic time for filing a

postconvictioii motion under Fffi 809.30(2)(a) until Ju]y 6, 2009.
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I. THE REMOVAL OF THE JUROR DURING DELJBERATIONS
AND SUBSTITUTION OF AN ALTERNATE JUROR INTO THE
JURY PANEL VIOLATED MR. AVERY'S CONSTITUTIONAL
AND STATUTOR  RIGHTS AND REQUIRES REVERSAL OF HIS
CONVICTIONS.

A. Relevant facts.

l

i Facts currently of record

4. The 3ury was sequestered for tbe first time during closing arguments

on March 14, 2007, and the jury began deliberations the next day. Of the
additional jurors selected during voir dire, one, N.S., remained at the end of triaL
When the case was submitted to the jurors, the court ordered the additional juror
retained and sequestered separate from the deliberating jurors. (Transcript of
March ] s, 2007, pp. 122-23).

s. During the evening after tbe first day of deliberations, the court
e.xcused a deliberatiiig juror, R.M. At a l'iearing held the next day, after the juror
had been discharged, the court briefly recapped on the record what had occurred
the night before:

Last evening, sometime around 9 p.m., tlic Court recr,ived a telephone call from
Sheriff Pagel indicating that one of the jixrors had presented a request to a - one
of the supervising deputies over a! the hotel, to be excused because of an
unforeseen family cme.rgcncy.

(Transcript of Marcl'i 16, 2007, p. 4). The court said that upon receipt of this
information it contacted Attorncy Kratz and both defense counsel by telephone
conference call, arid counsel aufhorized the court to "speak with the juror
individually and excuse the, 3uror if the infonnation provided to the Court was
ve,rified." (Id. at 4-5). The court reported that it "did vcrify that infonnatioii wi}h
lhe 3uror and excused the juror Iast evening." ('d. at 5).

-2-
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6. InasealedfilememodatedMarchl6,2007,thecourtelaboratedon

the infonnation it had placed on the record. The court noted that in its

coriversation with Sheriff Pagel the court learned that R.M.'s stepdaughter was

involved in a traffic accident the evening of March 15, in which }'ier vehicle was

totaled. The court received no information about any injuries. In addition, the

court was told that R.M.'s wife was unhappy about the amount of time l'ier

husband had been away because of the trial and was embarrassed by news reports

at the time of iioir dire that R.M. was living off bis wife's trust fiind. According to

the memo, when the corirt spoke with R.M. by telephone, he sounded depressed

and was speaking quietly and slowly. In the conversation, R.M. confinned the

information that Pagel had provided to the court. R.M, mentioned his wife's upset

over earlier media re.potts of the tmst fund arid the strain the trial placed on tl'ieir

marriage. According to the memo, the court's "reading, without pressing hixn with

questions too specific, was that he felt the future of his marriage was at stake if he

was not excused." The court told R.M. that was all it needed to know, and he was

excused and driven to his car.

7. At a meeting in chambers the next morning, the court and counsel

determined they had three options as follows: declare a mistrial; proceed witb 11

jurors; or substitute into the deliberating jury the one additional juror, wit}'i the

instx'uction that tl'ie jury begin deliberations anew. (Transcript of MarcJi 16, 2007,

pp. s-7). After discussiiig those options with his counsel that morning, bours after

R.M. had been discharged, Mr. Avery agrecd to proceed witl'i the third option.

(Id. at 7-8).

8. The court infonned the jury tl'iat because one of its metnbet's had

been excused due to "an unforeseen family emergency", N.S. would be

participating in the deliberations. (Id. at 9-10). The court instructed tlte jurois to

-3-
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begin the deliberations anew, including thc election of a foreperson, and each of

the 11 jurors answered "Yes" when asked if he or she would follow that

instmction. (Id.).

Facts to be established at postconvictioii hearing

9. The defendant expects to establish at a postconviction hearing that,

in fact, there was no family emergency when the court spoke with Juror R.M. on

the evening of March 15, 2007. R.M.'s wife had not cal]ed R.M- or a bailiff that

evening to report an accident or other emergency. Rather, the court had granted

jurors permission to make calls lioine to their families while sequestered. After

dining with the other members of the jury following the first day of deliberations,

R.M. exercised that privilege and caljed home and spoke with his wife.

10. rt is expected that Juror R.M. will testify that he felt discouraged that

evening, but his mood was attributable more to what was occurring on the jury

than at h0me- R.M. was frustrated because another juror, C.W., appeared close-

minded during deliberations. According to R.M., in the initial vote taken that first

day, c-w- was anxong a minority voting guilty, and R.M. was with those voting not

guilty. At dinner, when R.M. cornrnented that the process was stressful arid

weighing on lxim, c.w. told R.M. that if lie couldn't handle it, he should tell tlien'i

and get off. R.M. felt intimidated by C.W- and believed that c.w. wanted him off

the jury.

l 1. After dinner, when R.M. called his wife, she mentioned that her 17-

year-old daughter had been in an accident. She provided no details. [n fact, there

was no accident; his stepdaughter had merely had car trouble. R.M. knew his wife

was tired of the (rial and had earlier been upset by a press report that he rived off

her ti'ust fund. In their conversation that evening, his wife did not tell him to come

home. Mostly, R.M. was stressed by his exchange with Juror c.w.

4
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12. Following his call home, R.M. told a bailiff and then Sheriff Pagel

that he had a family emergency. R.M. provided few details. In the phone

conversation with the judge, which lasted less than five minutes, the judge did not

ask if the stepdaughter }iad been injured in the accident or whether she was

hospitalized.

B. Mr. Avery's constitutional and statutory rights were violated
when the cosirt discharged a deliberating juror without cause
and without following the mandated procedures.

13. ThecourtviolatedMr.Avery'sfederalandstateconstitutionalrights

when it discharged a deliberating juror without conducting an on-the-record

voir dire of the juror in the presence of the defendanj and counsel, and without a

record establishing cause for discharging the juror. Altliough the court has

discretion to discharge a juror for cause during deliberations, the court must make

"careful inquiiy" into a juror's request to be excused and "exert reasonable efforts

to avoid discharging tl'ie juror." State v. Lelunan, 108 Wis. 2d 291, 300, 321

N.W.2d 212 (1982). The inquiry should be made "in the presence of all counsel

and the defendant." Id.

Procedural errors

14. The court's conuiiunication with Juror R.M. outside the presence of

Mr. Avery and his attorneys violated both his right to be present at trial and his

right to counsel, as guaranteed by Article I, el7 of tl'ie Wisconsin Constitution and

the Sixth and Fourteentl'i Ainendments to tl'ie United States Constitution.

Tlie constitutional i'igl'it to be prescnt and assisted by counsel applies

when a court communicates with deliberating juroi's. State v. Andersoii, 2006 Wl

77, }$43 & 69, 291 Wis. 2d 673, 717 N.W.2d 74; State v. Burton, 112 Wis. 2d

560, 565, 334 N.W.2d 263 (1983); Slate v. Koller, 2001 Wl App 253, '[62, 248

Wis. 2d 259, 635 N.W.2d 838. The right to be present with counsel also applies to

-5-
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a court's individual voir dii'e of a juror. State v. Tulley, 2001 Wl App 236, ?6, 248
Wis. 2d 505, 635 N.W.2d 807; State v. David J.K., 190 Wis. 2d 726, 736, 528

N.W.2d 434 (Ct. App. 1994); see also Wis. Stat. F3 971 .04(l)(c) (defendant shall be

present at voir dire of jury).

Mr. Avery had a constitutional and statu?ory right to be present and

assisted by counsel when the court conducted a voir dire of a deliberating juror

who, according to information from the sheriff, was seeking to be excused. To
satisfy constitutional and statutory guarantees, the court's communication with

Juror R.M. should have occurred in the presence of Mr. Avery and his counsel, as
well as counsel for the state, and should have be.en on the record. Sec Wis. Stat,

§ 805. 13(l) (Once the jury is sworn, "all statements or corrunents by the judge to
the 3usy ... relating to lhe case shall be on the record,"). The court's

cormnunication with Juror R.M. outside the presence of Mr. Avery and his
attorneys violated Mr. Avery's constitutional and statutory rights.

15. Mr. Avery's right to be present and assisted by counsel during the
court's voir dire of Juror R.M. was not waived by counsel's agreement that tl'te

court speak with the juror.

Waiver of the i%]'it to counsel must be made personally on the record

by the defendant and must be knowing, voluntary and intelligent. State v. Ndina,

2009WI21,jl31, Wis.2d ,761N.W.2.d612;Statev.Klessig,21lWis.'ld

194, 206, 564 N.W.2d 116 (1997). Where, as here, the record contains no such

colloquy, the defendant did not waive his right to have the assistance of counsel

during thc court's communication with the juror. Andetson, 2006 Wl 77, "1173.

His attorneys' decision to authorize the court to sioir dire Juror R.M. in their

absence could not waive Mr, Ave.ry's right to have counsel present. Indeed,

Mr. Avei-y was not aware tl'iat counsel had agreed to the private voir dire until }he

-6-
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l
following day, after the juror was questioned and discharged by the court.

Mr. kvery did not personally and knowingly waive his right to have counsel

present during the voii' dire of Juror R-M.

Sitniiarly, the failure of a defendant or his counseI to object to a

court's communication with deliberating jurors in the defendant's absence does not

constitute miver of the defendant's right to be present. Anderson, 2006 WI 77,

'llj}63-64; see also Tulley, 2001 WI App 236, !6 (the right to be present during voir

dire "camxot be waived"); State v. Harris, 229 Wis. 2d 832, 839, 601 N.W.2d 682

(Ct. App. 1999). Here, counsels' agreement thaI the court communicate with the

juror was made without consultation with Mr. Avery. At no point did Mr. kvery

agree to waive his right to be present during the voir dire of Juror R.M.

The record does not establish cause for discharging the juror

16. The information the court obtained from Juror R.M., as set fort}i in

the court's memo, does not constitute cause for discharging the juror. Excusing

the deliberating juror witbout cause violated Mr. Avery's right to a fair and

impartial jury guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United

States Cons(itution and Article I, F3 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution, and

Mr. Avery's right to a unanimous verdict by a 12-person jury guaranteed by

Article I, 83 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution and Wis. Stat. § 756.06(2)(a). The

removal of Juror R.M. without legal justification, that is, without cause required to

discharge a deliberating 3uror, violated Mr. Avery's right to a jury trial as the

constitutions griarantee, specifically, his right to a unanimous verdict by tl'ie

12 impartial 3urors to whom the case was submitted.

The right to a fair and impartial jury entitles a defendant in a crimina]

case to have his trial completed by a particular tribunal, the one selected (o

deter-mine his guilt or in?nocence. Peek v. Kemp, 784 F.2d 1479, 1484 (l l'h Cir.

-7-
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l
1986). In some instances, that rigl'it must be subordinated to the public's ixXerest in

fair trials designed to end in 3ury verdicts. Id., citing Wade v, Hunter, 336 u.s.

684, 689 (1949). Accordingly, while the tssue must be approached with "extreme

caution", a court may discharge a deliberating 5uror for "cause". Lehiitan, 108

Wis. 2d at 300. However, "it would be prejudicial and constitutionalty deficient

for a trial judge to excuse a juror during deliberations 'for want of any factual

support, or for a legally irrelevant reason."' Peek, 784 F.2d at L484, quoting

Green v. Zant, 7]5 F,2d 551, 555 (l l'h Cir. 1983). While a court may dismiss an

ill or otherwise incapacitated juror, it has "no disci'etion whatever to dismiss such a

3uror who is wt in fact ill or otherwise incapacitated." Green, 715 F.2d at 556.

To do so infringes the defendant's right to have his guilt or innocence decided by a

unanimous vote of the 12 impartial jurors to whom the case was submitted.

Tlie court had no authority to discharge Juror R.M. because the

information provided to the court, as reproduced in the court's memo, does not

provide cause for discharging lxim one day into deliberations. While the court

believed that R?M.'s stepdaughter had been involved in an accident that totaled her

car, the coutt had no information that she had been injured. Contrast Uttited

States v. Chorney, 63 F.3d 78, 81 (l"' Cir. 1995) (cause established where 3uror's

son was killed in construction accident); United States v. Doherffl, 867 F.2d 41 71

(1 " Cir. 1989) (cause existed to excuse juror who was extremely upset because ex-

wife l-rad died leaving him with two small children).

Although R.M. apparently told the court that he had some marital

pro)ylems before trial and the trial put an extra strain on the relations]iip, he had

spent just one night away from his wife and family due to the trial, as the jury had

only been subjec't to seq?iestration begim'iing tl'ie day before. The juror referred to

}iis wife being upset by media repoi'ts about his wife's ti'ust fund, but those reports

I
I
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had occurred five weeks earlier, at the time of the original voir dire. His wife's
unhappiness with the news co'verage did nol constitute reason to excuse )'iiin from

jury service. While, according to the couit's memo, the juror sounded depressed

and spoke quietly and slowly, the court could not assess the 3uror's facia]
expressions or body language because the cornrnunication occurred by telephone.

The couit's "reading" was that R.M. felt that the future of his marriage was at
stake if he was not excused, but the court came to that conclusion "without

pressing him with questions too specific ...." (Memo, p. 2). Tlie court did not

satis[y its "affirmative duty" to make sufficient inquiry into the circumstances to
determine whether the j'uror, in fact, was unable to continue to serve. United
States v. Araujo, 62 F.3d 930, 934 (7" Cir. 1995).

A family member's auto accident, without any indication of a
rnedica't emergency, and strain on a marriage, without more, are not cause for

discl'iarging a juror during deliberations. See United States v. Patterson, 26 F.3d
1127, 1129 (D.C. Cir. 1994) (conviction reversed where judge excused 3uror who

was having chest pains and needed to see a doctor, where judge did not attempt to

learn "tt'ie precise circumstances or {ikely duration or the twelfth juror's absence");

United Staffls v. OErien, 898 F.2d 983, 985-86 (5'h Cir. 1990) (cause established
where juror's psycl'iiatrist confirmed that juror, who had previously been

hospitalized for depression, was in no condition to continue).

Discharge withoid cause is structural error

17. The coux't's ren'ioval of Juro'r R.M. during deliberations without an

on-the-record voii- dire estabiishing cause and without the presence of Mr. Avery

and his counsel is structural error requiriiig reversa! of Mr. Avery's convictions.

Denial of the right to an impartial jury is structural error that is not sub?)ect to a

harmless error analysis. Gra)i sr. Mississippi, 481 u.s. 648, 668 (1987); State v.

9?'/-
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Tody, 2009 Wl 31, j%44, Wis. 2d , 764 N.W.2d 737. Similarly, denial of a

defendant's state constitutional right to the unanimous verdict by a jury of 12

requires atitomatic reversal of the defendant's convictions. State v. Hansford, 219

Wis. 2d 226, 243, 580 N.W.2d 171 (1998); State v. Cooley, 105 Wis. 2d 642, 645-

46, 315 N.W.2d 369 (Cl. App. 1981) (reversal where defendant did not personally

agrce, to proceed with 11 jurors); State v. Loyitagro, 113 Wis. 2d 582, 590, 335
N,W.2d 583 (1983) (right to unanimous verdict).

Dismissal of Juror R.M. without cause and without complying with

thc mandated procedure resulted in Mr. Avery losing his right to a jury as
contemplated by the federal and state constitutions, fhat is, a unanimous verdict

from an impartial jury of 12 persons to whom the case was submitted. Once Juror
R.M. was discharged, only 11 deliberating jurors remained, and Mr. kvery's h'ial

would not be completed by the 12 who had been selected to determine his guilt or
innocence. Denial of Mr. Avery's right to a unanimous verdict from an impartial

jury of 12 is stmctural error requiring reversal without inquiry into harmless error.
Untted States v. Curfielo, 343 F.3d 273, 285 (4'h Cir. 2003) (removal of juror
without cause falls into a special category of errors that defy analysis by harrnless-

error standards); Araujo, 62 F.3d at 937 (convictions reversed where court lacked

cause for excusing deliberating juror); United States v. Ginyard, 444 F.3d 648,
655 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (same).

In the alternmive, failxnae to follow the mandated
procedure was pi"ejudicial

18. Even if discharge of the juror on the existing record were not

deetned a structural error, the court's failure to follow the proper procedure before

discharging Juror R.M. was prejudicial because, in [act, no cause existed to
remo've the juror.

-10-
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Mr. Avery expects to establish that, in fact, there was no family

emergency. Juror R.M. was not ill or otherwise incapacitated. His wife was not

ill, and his stepdaughter was neither ill sior injured. There had been no accident,

just car trouble. While the trial may have placed some slrain on R.M.'s marriage,

his wife was not demanding that he come home, and his marriage was not on the

brink of collapse. Juror R.M.'s stress and frustration stemmed much less from his

family situation than from what iiad occurred during deliberations and, in

particular, from his verbal exchange witl'i anotlxer 3uror.

Removal of a juror is improper if there is any reasonable possibility

tha( its impetus was a problem among jurors due to their differing views of the

merits of the case. United States v. Symtngton, 195 F.3d 1080, 1085-87 (9"' Cir.

1999); [Jnited States v. Saiiiet, 207 F. Supp. 2d 269, 281-82 (S.D. N.Y. 2002)

(juror could not be removed for cause where she became "unhinged" by the

proce.ss of deliberation, in paiticulari by }ier status as a holdout); Wi!!irtms v. Stme,

792 So. 2d 1207, 1210 (Fla. 2001) (spectre of jury taint particularly grave where

"the removed juror's incapacita(ion arises directly from participation in the

deliberative process"). Here, the true impetus for Juror R.M.'s discharge was his

distress over the attitude of another juror who held a view of the evidence contrary

to his. R.M. felt intimidated and discouraged by this other juror, stemming fron'i

the juror's conduct duririg deliberations and his coininent at dinner essentially

goading R.M. to get off the 3ury. The court had no authority to discharge R.M.

Rather, the juror should have been reminded, following an on-the-record sioir dire

wit)i the defendant and counsel present, that '!iolding to [liisl convictions is an

essential part of []iisl duty as a juror . .." Samet, 207 F. Supp. at 275 n.3.

Tlie ei'roneous rei'noval of the deliberating juror violated Mr. Avery's

fundamental rights and requires that his convictions be vacated.

-ll-
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i

The court had no authority to substitute an alternate juror once
deliberations had begun.

19. Even if Juror R.M. uias lawfully discharged, which Mr. A'very

disputes, his convictions still cannot stand because the option selected after the

juror was removed - substitution of the alternate - is not permitted by the

governing slatute. In Lehman, 108 Wis. 2d at 305-06, the supreme court

concluded that the relevant statute tri effect at that time, Wis. Stat. § 972.05 (1979-

80), was silent as to whetber the legislature approved of the substitution of an

alternate juror after deliberations had begun. In the face of an ambiguous statute,

the court held that a circuit court had three options if a regu)ar juror were

discharged after deliberations had begun, as follows: (l) obtain a stipulation by

the parties to proceed with fewer than 12 3urors; (2) obtain a stipulation by the

parties to substitute an alternate juror; or (3) declare a mistrial. Id. at 313. Here,

the paxties chose the second option. However, as shown below, the governing

statute is no longer silent - it prohibits substitution of an alternate once

deliberations have begun. Consequently, the court had no authority to substitute

the alternate when Juror R.M. was discharged, Mr. Avery's consent to that

procedure was legally invalid, and to proceed in tl'iat manner was reversible error.

20. The legislature responded to Lelunan by repealing § 972.05 and

creating language in provisions governing civil and criminal trials that required tire

discharge of any alternate, or "additional" jurors as they were then )alyeled, when a

case is submitted to the jury. 1983 Wis. Act 226 §§ 1, s & 6. Specifically, with

respect to criminal trials, the legislature created Wis. Stat. F3 972. 10(7) as follows:

972.10 (7) {f additional jurors have bccn impancled undcr s. 972.04 (l)
and }he number remains morc Ihari required art final s?ibmission of thc cause, (he
courl shall deleni'iine by lo( which jurors shali nok parlicipate in deliberaticins
and discharge (hem.

C.
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1983 Wis. Act 226 § 6.1 In 1996, the supreme court amended the civil trial

provision, Wis. Stat. § 805.08(2), to allow a circuit court to keep additional jurors

until the verdict is rendered, so as to allow for replacemenl of a 3uror wl'io becomes

unable to complete deliberations. SCO 96-08 $46. Significantly, while the

supreme court made a technical change in the parallel criminal provision,

§ 972. 10(7),2 it did not alter the language requiring the circuit court to discharge

any additional jurors at final submission of the cause. Id. at 'q59. Accordingly, the

govexning statute, now and at the time of Mr. Avery's trial, requires the court to

discharge any additional jurors when the case is submitted to the jury. The court

had no authorily to substitute Juror N.S. during delibei-ations, as she should have

been discharged once deliberations began. See, e.g., Uixited States v. Neeley, 189

F.3d 670, 681 (7'h Cir. 1999) (where federal role at the time required discharge of

alternates when deliberations began, court construed role as forbidding the practice

of recalling alternates);3 Cmnmonwealtli v. Saunders, 686 A.2d 25, 27 (Pa, 1996)

(state statute that required alternates discharged when jury retired to deliberate

barred substifution of alternate juror during deliberations); People v. Burnette, 175

P.2d 583, 586-87 (Colo. 1989) (same).

21. As a matter of law, Mr. Avery could not validly consent to

substitution of an additionaI juror durixig deliberations. It is well established that

the right to a jury trial as guaranteed by Atticle I, § 7 of tl'ie Wisconsin Constitution

cannot be waived without statutory authorization. In Jenniitgs v. State, 134 Wis.

' Tl'ie legislature rejected a proposed amendment tl'iat would have aHowed substitution or
an allema(e ir during delibcralions a ?juror died or was dischargcd. Assembly Amdt. 1 to 1983
SB :320.

2 Tlie svord "impaneled" was changed to "selected".

3 Fed. R. Crim. P. 24(c) was subscquen(ly amerided to allow alternales to be relained so
(licy could replace a discharged juror during deliberations.
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307, 309-10, 114 N.W. 492 (1908), the supreme court deemed invalid a

defendant's agreement to proceed with l l jurors when one failed to appear i'or
deliberations because no statute at that time allowed for waiver of a 12-person

jury. And the supreme court held that a defendant could not validly waive the right

to a jury trial altogether where no stalute authorized the waiver. State v, Stnitli,

184 Wis. 664, 672-73, 200 N.W. 638 (1924). Accordingly, a criminaf defendant

may not validly consent to a procedure that diminishes his constitutional right to a

jury trial unless a statute expressly autl'iorizes that procedure. State v, Ledger, 175

Wis. 2d 116, 127, 499 N.W.2d 198 (Ct. App. 1993) (defenda>it could agree to a 13-

member jury because it enlarged l'iis jury trial right).

Mr. Avery could not validly consent to substitution of an additional

juror during deliberations because that procedure is not authorized by statute and it

diminished, rather tban enlarged, his right to a jury trial as contemplated by the

Wisconsin Constihition. Specifically, he lost his right to a unanimous verdict by

the jury of 12 to svhom his case was submitted. Hai4ord, 219 Wis. 2d at 241

(jury of 12 guaranteed); Lomagro, 113 Wis. 2d at 590 (unanimous verdict

guaranteed). Indeed, in Lehman, tl'ie court discussed how those rights are

jeopardized by post-submission substitution, given that the "eleven regular jurors

will have formed views withoul the benefit of the views of the alternate 5uror, and

the alternate juror who is unfamiliar with the prior deliberations will participate

without the benefit of the prior group discussion." Lehyuan, 108 Wis. 2d at 308.
Even if upon substitution the jury is instructed to begin deliberations anew, the

contiiiuing jurors may still be influenced by the earlier deliberations and the ne.we.r

juror may be intimidated due to their status as a newcomer to the deliberations. Id.

at 312. Nor will the new 3uror have had the bencfit of the discharged 3uror's

views. Eurriette, 775 P.2d at 588; see also People v. Ryan, 224 N.E.2d 710, 713
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(N.Y. 1966) ("once the deliberative process has begun, it should not be disturbed

by the substitution of one or more jurors WI?O had not taken part in the previous

deliberations ...").

22. Even if as a matter of law a defendant could validly consent to post-

submission substitution of mi alternate, Mr. Avery's consent was invalid because it

was not knowing, voluntary and intelligent. A defendant's waiver of his

fiindamental rigl'it to a jury trial as guaranteed by the state and federal constitutions

must be made personally by the defendant, and the court must engage in an on-the-

record colloquy witb tbe defendant establishing that the waiver is made knowingly,

voluntarily and intelligently. State v. Andetason, 2002 WI 7, jl23, 249 Wis. 2d 586,

638 N.W.2d 301. These requirements apply not only to a complete waiver of tbe

right to a jury trial but also to a defendant's consent to a procedure that diminishes

his right to a jury trial as contemplated by the federal or state constitution. Coo(ey,

105 Wis. 2d at 645-46 (consent to proceed with 11 jurors).

In its colloquy with Mr. Avery on the morning after Juror R.M. had

been disciiarged, the court told Mr. Avery that he had "the right to require a 3ury of

12 and the right to request a n'iistrial if the juror is excused." (Transcript of

March 16, 2007, p. 8). But the court failed to advise Mr. Avcry that substitution of

the alternate was an option not permitted by law. And the court did not expressly

advise Mr. kvery that by agreeiiig to that option, I'ie was giving up his right to a

unanimous verdict by the 12 jurors to whom the case had been submitted. See

State p. Resio, 148 Wis. 2d 687, 696-97, 436 N.W.2d 603 (1989) (to validly waive

jury trial defendant must be advised of unanimity requirement). Accordingly, tbe

record fails to establish that Mr. Aveiy's consent to substilution was an

"intentional relinquishxnent ... of a known right or privilcge." Aitderson, 249 Wis.

2d 586, !23. Jn fact, when Mr. Avery agreed to substitution and to forego a

-15-
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i
rnistrial, he did not understand that substitution was an imperrnissible option or the
rights that he was giving up.

In additic:i, Mr. Avery's consent was not voluntary because it was

obtained after the deliberating juror was removed. By that point, he had already

lost what the constitution guarantees, that is, the right to a unanimous verdict by

the 12 impartial jurors who were selected to detennine his guilt or innocence.

23. In Lehrnatt, 108 Wis. 2d at 313, the supreme court held it is

reversible error for a circuit court to substitute an alternate juror for a regular juror

after deliberations have begun, absent express statutory authority or the

defendant's consent. Since Lehman, the legislature has expressly forbidden juror

substitution during deliberations in criminal cases and, accordingly, the defendam

cannot consent to substitution. Consequently, as argued above, Mr. kvery's

consent was invalid as a iriatter of law. In lhe alternative, as also argued above,

Mr. Avery's consent was invalid because it was not knowing, voluntary and

intelligent. Either way, Mr. Avery did not valid]y consent to substitution of the

additional juror, and, consequently, the supreme court's rule of automatic reversal
applies.

D. IfMr.Avery'sclaimschallengiiigtheremovalofthedeliberating
juror and substitution of the alternate were waived, wtticli ltc
disputes, the claims should be reached as plain error, in the
interest of justice or inerfecuve asststance of counsel.

24. For the reasons argued above, Mr. Ave.ry's claims we.re not waived

by counscl's agreement that tbe court speak privately with Juror R.M. and remove

him if the information provided by the sheriff was verified, or by counsel's

agreement to substitute an allernate juror once Juror R.M- was removed. However,

if this or a hig}ier court were to find waiver, the claims should nevertheless be

reached as plain error, in tl'ie interest of justice or ineffective assistance of counsel

-16-
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Plain error and interest ofjustice

25. Some errors, such as occurred l'iere, are so plain and funaamental

that the court should grant a new trial despite the defendant's failure to timely

' object to the error. State v. Davidsoii, 2000 Wl 91, 'l}88, 236 Wis. 2d 537, 613

N.W.2d 606. The removal of a deliberating juror without cause and substitution of

an alternate who should have been discharged are errors so fundamental and

disruptive of a defendant's constitutional rights that a new trial is warranted under

the plain error doctrine or by the court invoking its authority to grant a new trial in

the interest o[ justice under Wis. Stat. § 805.1 5(1 ).

26. UndertheplainerrordoctrineinWis?Stat.§90l.03(4),aconviction

may be vacated when an unobjected to error is fundamental, obvious and

substantial. Stale v- Jorgensen, 2008 WI60, $21, 310 Wis. 2d 138, 754 N.W.2d

17. "'['lV]here a basic constitutional right has not been extended to the accused,'

the plain error doctrine should be utilized." Id., quoting State v. Sonnenberg, 117

Wa2dl9 =is. 5,177,344N.W.2d95(1984).

In United States v. Essex, 734 F.2d 832, 843-45 (D.C. Cir. 1984),

the court held that the district court's removal of a deliberating juror without cause

was plain error requiring reversal of the defendant's conviction. "The obvious and

substantial right of appellant that was denied is her right to a unaninwus verdict by

tl'ie jury of 12 who heard her case and began their deliberations." Id. at 844

Some authority suggesls that F§ 901.03(4) 11, lm'iiled to unot)ected to evidemiary errors.
Waukesha Co. Dept. of Socia[ Services v. C.E. W,, 124 Wis. 2d 47, 55, 368 N.W.2d 47 (1985).
However, appellate courts have applied tlic plain error doctrine to more than evidentiary errors.
Jorgenson, 310 Wis. 2d 138, jijl29-32 (convic(ions reversed under F3 901.03(4) ror crrors lhat
include prosccutorial misconduct in closiiig argumenl); Statc v. Street, 202 Wis. 2d 533, 552,
551 N.W.2d 830 (Ct. App. 1996) (arguably improper closing argument analyzed undcr plain
error doclrine); see alw State v. Mayo, 2007 Wr 78, jl29, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115
(supreme court "has not articulated a bright-Iiiie rule for what constitutes plain error").

l
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(emphasis in original). Moreover, no further prejudice necd be shown than the fact

that the district court removed the deliberating juror without cause, thereby

denying the defendarit her constitutional right to a unanimous verdict by the

12 jurors to wliorn tbe case was submitted. Id. at 845. Mr. Avery's constitutional

right to a jury trial as contemplated by the state and federal constitutions was

violated by the removal of Juror R.M. without cause. The error was not only

fundamental, obvious and substantial, the resulting prejudice is inherent and

stnictural so that the state could not mect its burden of proving beyond a
reasonable doubt that the error was harmless.

Similarly, substitution of the alternate juror during deliberations was

plain error. In a case also involving the substitution of a juror during deliberations,

the New krsey Supreme Cou'rt applied plain enor to reve,rse the defendant's

convictions even though the defendant at trial specifically sought removal of the
juror and substitution of an alternate after the jury had returned with partial
verdicts. State v, Corsaro, 526 A.2d 1046, 1052 (N.J? 1987). Tl'ie court's
reasoning is equally applicable here.

In )ight of the centrality of jury delibcrations to our criminal justice
sys(em, eff0rs that could upset or altcr the sensitive process of jury deliberations,
such as improper juror subsli(ution, 'trench directly f.ipon the proper discharge of
the judiciaj function'; for lhis reason such errors arc 'co@iizable as plain error
notwitl'istandiiig their having been precipitated by a defendant at the trial level.'

Id. at 1051, quoting State sr. Harper, 128 N.J. Super, 270, 278 (App. Div. 1974).
As argued above, the court had no authority to substitute t]ie alternate jut-or once

deliberations had begun, and the supreme court's rule of aiitomatic reversal
applies. Particularly given the fundamental 5ury trial rights at stake, reversal of
Mr. Avery's convictions urider the doctrine of plain error is warranted.

27. In the alternative, the court should use its discretionaiy reversal

authority under § 805.1 5( l) because the errors prevented the real controversy from

-18-
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being fully and fairly tried. The court has broad discretion to order a new trial

where tbe controversy was not fully or fairly tried, "regardless of the type of error

involved" and without any showing as Ic tl-re likeli}iood of a different result on

retrial. State v. Harp, 161 Wis. 2d 773, 775, 469 N.W.2d 210 (Ct. App. 1991).

The real controversy was not fu)ly and fairly tried because the errors affected "the

very essential duty of having the jury deliberate upon the evidence and agree upon

a verdict respecting the defendant's guilt or innocence . . ." Jennings, 134 Wis. at

309. The errors deprived Mr. Avery of his right to a unanimous verdict from an

impartial jury of 12 persons to whom the case was submitted. The controversy

was not fully and fairly tried because of the disniption to perhaps the most critical

phase of the trial, the jury's deliberation.

l

Ineffective assistance of counsel

28. Mr. Avery was denied the right to effective assistance of counsel

guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Arnendments to the United States

Constitution and Article I, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution. Stricldand )!,

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); State v. Trawitzki, 2001 WI 77, ?39, 244

Wis. 2d 523, 628 N.W.2d 801.

29. Counsel per€ome.d deficiently in three respects: (l) by authorizing

the court to conduct a priva?e =r dire of a deliberating juror without counsel and

Mr. Avery present, despite case law clearly granting Mr. Avery the right to be

present and assisted by counsel (:see 'il 14); (2) by authorizing the court to discharge

luror R.M. if, in its private sioir dire, the court vcri'fred the information provided by

Sheriff Pagel, even though the case law shows that the information tbe court

obtained from the sheriff and coinrnunicated to counsel did not constitute cause for

removing a deliberating juror (see ? 16); and (3) by entering into a stipulation, and

advisiiig Mr. Avery to enter into a stipulation, allowing the court to sribstitute an
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alternate juror after Juror R.M. was removed, a procedure tha? is not permitted by
statute (see $"[ 19-20).

An attomey's performance IS deficient if it falls below an objcctive

standard of reasonableness. State v. Love, 2005 Wl l 16, '030, 284 Wis. 2d IH,

700 N.W.2d 62. Counsels' performance was objectively unreasonable because all

three decisions were contrary to the governing law. State v. Thiel, 2003 Wl l ] 1,

'il5 1, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305 (fai1ure to understand and apply relevant

statute was deficicnt as a matter of law). Nor could the decisions be deemed

reasonable strategic or tactical choices. To be reasonable, counsel's strategic

decision must be based upon knowledge of all facts and all law tl'iat may be
available. State v. Felton, 110 Wis. 2d 485, 502, 329 N.W.2d 161 (1983).

Each decision - to foreg,o an on-thc-record voii- dire, to agree to

Juror R.M.'s discharge, to substitute an alternate in lieu of a mistrial - was made

without full knowledge of the available facts. After all, the purpose of an on-the-
record voir dir"e would liaye been to obtain facts necessary to determine why

JurorR.M. was seekinB to be discharged and, in light of the facts gathered,

whether removal of that juror was in Mr. Ave.ry's interest. A properly conducted

voir dire viould likely }iave shown not only that removal of R.M. would be

improper because his discontent sternrne.d fron'i the deliberative process, but also
that removal would result in the defense losing a favorable 3uror. Tlie decision to

substilute the alternate was equally ill-infon'ned as counsel had lost the opportuni(y
to assess the relative value to the defense of Juror R.M. versus the alternate.

In addition, counsels' decision, and advice to Mr. Avery, to forego a

mistrial and, instead, substitule the alternate was made with the crroneous belief

that substitution was legal}y permissible. Mr. Avery expects counsel to testify that

had ttiey known that upon Juror R.M. 's discharge the options werc either a mistrial
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or to proceed with 11 :3urors, counsel would not }iave. recommended that Mr. hvery

proceed with 11 jurors and, instead, would have sought a mistrial.

30. In some instances, prejudice is presumed once deficient perfonnance

is established. State v. Smith, 207 Wis. 2d 258, 278, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997)

(prejudice presumed where attorney deficient in failing to object to prosecutor's

breach of the plea agreen'ient); see also State v. Ee]uxke, 155 Wis. 2d 796, 806-07,

456 N.W.2d 610 (1990) (prejudice presumed where counsel absent [rom reading

of verdict); State v. Johnsoit, 133 Wis. 2d 207, 223-24, 395 N.W.2d 176 (1986)

(prejudice presumed where counsel deficieritly failed to raise issue of client's

competency to stand trial). Part of the rationale behind presuming prejudice is the

difficulty measuring the harm caused by the error or ineffective assistance. Smitli,

207 Wis. 2d at 280.

Removal of a deliberating juror without cause is the sort of error that

has repercussions which are necessarily unquantifiable and indetenninate.

Cuihelo, 343 F.3d at 28] . That error, along with tl'ie erroneous substitution of an

alternate, laints the process by which guilt was detcrn'iined. The errors inherently

cast doubt on the reliability of the procecding. Accordingly, Mr. Avery is not

requii'ed to prove actual prejudice. Id? at 285; Essex, 734 F.2d at 845 ("In cases

involving secret jury deliberations it is virLually impossible for a defendant to

demonstrate actual prejudice."); see also O>vens v. United States, 483 F.3d 48, 66

(l" Cir. 2007) (prejudice presumed where counsel failed to object to closure of

jury selection because denial of right to a public trial is structural error).

31. In the alternative, if prejudice is not presumed, Mr. Avery is still

entitled to relief because the errors undennirie confidence in the reliability of t)ie

proceedings. Tlie prejudice test in an ineffec(ive assistance claim focuses not on

the outcome of tbe ti-ial but on tl'ie reliability of thc proceedings. Love, 284 Wis.
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2d 111, $30. Tlie reliability of the proceedings is undennined by the truncated
deliberations during which a juror wl!o by statute should havc been discharged was
sw:pped for a juror who was discharged without cause. The precise impact of the
improper tinkering with the jury during deliberations can never really be known.
What is known is that confidence in the reliabiltty of the proceedings is
undermined.

II. SHERIFF PAGEL'S PRmTE COMMUNICATION WITH R.M.
CONSTITUTED ERROR AND REQUIRES REVERSAL OF
MR. AVERY'S CONVICTIONS.

32. In addition to the above-described errors relating to the court's
removal of Juror R.M. without cause, the circumstances leading up to R.M.'s
removal also constitute error warranting rcvcrsal of Mr. Avery's convictions.
Specifically, R.M.'s removal was facilitated by Sheriff Pagel, an interested party to
t}'ie litigation who was not an officer charged with protecting the jury's
sequestration.

33. After dcliberations had begun, on the evening of March 15, 2007,
Juror R.M. contacted one of the supervising deputies at the hotel where the jurors
were sequestered, and asked to be excused because of a family emergency. The
deputy did not contact the court, however. Ratber, the deputy contacted Slieriff
Pagel who came to the hotel where the jurors were sequestered. Once there,
Sheriff Pagel spoke with R.M. and tl'ien phoned Judge Willis. Sheriff Pagel spoke
to the judge with R.M. sta?iding by, and related to the judge that R.M.'s daughter
had been in a car accident. Judge Willis contacted counsel and then spoke dii'ectly
svitli Juror R.M. Juror R.M. was then excused.

34. By this point in the trial, the jurors were sequestered. Under Wis.
Stat. § 972.12, this meant that the jurors were to be kept together and
communications prevented "between the jurors and others."

l
l
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35. Wisconsin Statute !§ 756.08(2) further explains the duty to protec(
jurors from cornrnunications with "outsiders" during its delibera(ions:

Wheii the issues have been s?ibmitted to the jury, a proper o€fice.r, subject to the
dircction of the court, shall swear or affimi-that the officer will keep all jurors
together in some private and convenient place until they have agreed on and
rendered their'verdici, are permi(ted 10 separate or are diascharged-by the court.
While the jurors arc under (he supervision of (he officer, he or she may not
permit them to communicate with any person regarding their deliberattons or (he
verdict (hat they have agreed upon, except as au(horizea by 0ie court.

36. Even though the jurors were sequestered, the officer with whom

R.M. spoke that night contacted Sheriff Pagel instead of contacting Judge Willis

directly. Sheriff PageJ's involvement in R.M.'s removal as a 3uror was error.

37. The United States Supreme Court has emphasized the importance of

protecting jurors from other persons during their deliberations. In 1892, the Court
wrote that:

Private communications, posgibly prcjudicial, between jurors and third pcrsons,
or wimesses, or the officer in charge, are absolutely forbidden, and invalidate the
verdicl, at least unless their bamnlcssness is made to appear.

Mattox v. Untted States, 146 U.S. 140, 150 (1892).

38. The Court reaf'firrned Mauox in Renutxer v. Uiiited States, 347 tJ.s.

227 (1954), plainly stating that if is improper for any person to cot'rununicate with

a juror if that communication is not made pursuant to order of the court. Furthei-,

any such communication is "presumptively prejudicial:"

Iis any criminal case, any private cornrnuntcaiion, contact, or tampering, directly
or indirectly, with a juror during a trial about the matler pending be€ore tl'ie jury
is, for obvious reasons, deemed presurnptivcly prcjudicial, if no{ made in
pursuance of known rules of the court and lhe instmclions arid directioi'is or the
cour( made during (he trial, wiLli full hiowleclge of (lie parties. 1"l'ie presump(ion
is no! conclusivc, b?it }hc btirdcn rcsts hcavily upon the Govenunent to establish,
after nonce IO and hearing or the defeiidanl, thai such conlac( wilh the juror was
liarn'iless lo (he defendan(.

Id. at 229.

39. Wisconsin courts have recognized t)ie importance of preserving the

jury's indcpendence from outside influences, particularly dui-ing its deliberations.
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For example, in State v. Yang, 196 Wis- 2d 359, 538 N.W.2d 817 (Ct. App. 1995),

tbe court disapproved of al]owing a law enforcement witness to act as an officer in

charge of the jurors. The court st=ted that a trial court "should not permit an

officer to serve as a bailiff who has investigated the underlying crime in a case."

Id. at fn. 1. Tlie court continued: "Once a bailiff is sworn, it is imperative that he

or she be the only officer having contact with the jurors until the jury has reached a

verdict or is discharged by the court." Id.

40. While recognizing the holdings in Mattox and Remmer, Wisconsin

courts have nevertheless departed from Supreme Court precedent in that

Wisconsin courts have required the defendant to show prejudice. That is, while

the Supreme Court presumes prejudice when there is contact from an outsider with

a juror, Wisconsin courts have required the defendant to show prejudice. Tlxus, in

State l!. Dix, 86 Wis. 2d 474, 273 N.W.2d 250 (1979), the court relied on the

Supreme CourC's Ianguage in Reymiier regarding the impropriety of private

comnuuucations with a juror, but stated that the defendant must SIIOW probable

prejudice before a new trial will be ordered. Id. at 490-494. In Dix, the trial judge

had spoken with a juror (whom the judge did not recognize to be a 3uror) aboul a

mutual acquaintance. Further, tbe bailiffs were said to l'iave made improper

comments to some jurors. Tl'ie court concluded that the contacts were improper,

but that tl'iere was no showing of probable prejudice to the defendant.

41. Mr.AverycontendsthatSlieriffPagel'sprivatecoiiununicationwith

R.M. constituted the type of in'iproper conununication condemned in Reminer and

Mattox. Slieriff Pagel was not a deputy sworn to keep the jury sequestered.

Indeed, it would have been improper for Sberiff Pagel to act as such an officer

because lie was an interested party in tl'iis case. He supervised officers who were

investigators in the case, and iris Depanment was supposed to bc the chief county-

l
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level investigative law en[orcement agency in tt'ie case. Members of his agency
were witnesses for the prosecution. As in Yang, Sheriff Pagel should have had no
contact with 5urors given his alignment with the prosecution.

42. Sheriff Pagel's communication with R.M. falls within the prohibited
contact standard articulated in Remmeis His contact with juror R.M. was private;
that is, his contact was outside the presence of the court, at least initially, and was
outside the presence of the parties or the defendant.

43. His contact was also "about the matter pending before the jury"
because it related to whether a juror would or could continue to deliberate. As
discussed above, R.M.'s request to be excused from the jury was as much about his
frustrations and concerns about the deliberations themselves as it was about any
personal problems he was having.

44. And, at least the initial communications between R.M. and Sheriff
Pagel was without the knowledge or instruction by the court. Instead, Sheriff
Pagel was brought into the proceedings by a deputy charged with keeping the jury
free from outside influences.

45. Mr. Avery does not concede that he must show prejudice as
seemingly required in Dix and Shelton v. State, 50 Wis. 2d 43, 183 N.W.2d 87
(1971), because these cases are irreconcilable with Reiiuiier and Mattox. Under
Reintrier and Mattox, prejudice must be presumed when there is cormnunication
be(ween a person and a juror during deliberations. Nevcrthelcss, as shown above,
the cornrnunications between R.M. and Sl'ieriff Pagel were prejudicial to
Mr. Asrery because they led to a change in the make-up of the 5ury. This is not a
case where a deputy contacts tlte jui'y about ordcring a tneal, for example, without
the express authority of the trial judge. Ratlier, what occurred here was a private
communication between a juror and a third person that led to the removal of thaI

-25-

l

Doc. 634

429-25
App. 41

Case 2005CF000381 Document 1113 Filed 01-24-2023 Page 46 of 145



Z'-w9 ?UOb" I-'- J l ii.aUma3'x{'U- il -{ -- - ' ,'%,..2 ',': l;'..,J Ola 'l '-'l".')

I

juror. Even if Sheriff Pagel did not explicitly encourage R.M.'s removal, his

participation in the private coii'ununications is inseparable from the jurols ultimate

removal. Wben Sheriff Pagel talked to R.M. and }'ieard his story, he responded by

calling the court. Then R.M. heard Slieriff Pagel repeat his concerns to the judge.

By that time, R.M. was locked into his story. In a short time span, R.M. went from

talking to a deputy to the Sheriff to the judge in charge of the trial, each time

reinforcing his story of his "family emergency," The result of these

communications was a change in the make-up of the jury which, as argued above,

was prejudicial to Mr. Avery.

46. Sheriff Pagel's private corn?rnunication witl'i Juror R.M, constituted

error that warrants reversal of Mr. Ave.ry's convictions. Sheriff Pagel's private

contact with R.M. which resulted in his discharge from the jury constitutes plain

error. A "plaiii ei'ror" is an "error so fundamental that a new trial or other relief

nmst be granted even though the action was not objected to at the time."

Jorgenseit, 2008 Wl60 at jl 21. An error is plain when it involves a basic

constitutional right tlxat has not been extended to the accused. Id. A plain error

affects the substantial rights of the defendant and pennits a trial to proceed in
violation of a fundamental condition necessary for a fair trial. Virgil v. State, 84
Wis. 2d 166, 193, 267 N.W.2d 852 (1978).

47. Here, the error was plain because it involved Mr. Avery's basic

constitutional right to an impartial jury of the 12 jurors who con'unenced

deliberations. After private communication between the Slieriff and a juror, that

juror was discharged without cause. T{sat is plain error.

48. Sheriff Pagel's private contact with 3uror R.M. also permitted the

trial to proceed in violation of a [undamental condition necessary for a fair trial.

As noted above, the United States Supreme Court presumes that wl'ien a juror has

ll
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private contact with someone outside the jury during deliberations, that contact

constitutes prejudicial error. See Reimiier. That the jury's deliberations are a

critical part of the defendant's right to a fair trial is beyond dispute. Where, as

here, there is contact that results in removal of the juror involved, the defendant's

cons(itutional right to a 3ury trial of 12 impartial jurors is implicated.

49. Additionally, as with Mr. Aveiy's lack of knowing and voluntary

consent to excuse R.M. as argued above, by the morning after R.M. was excused,

Mr. Avery had already lost what the constitution guarantees, that is, the right to a

unanimous verdict by the 12 impartial 3urors who were selected to detennine his

guilt or innocence.

50. Although counsel did not object to Sheriff Pagel's role in excusing

Juror R.M., the court should nevertheless reve.rse Mr. Avery's convictions based

upon the Shetiff's private communication wit!'i J'uror R.M. because counsel did not

bave an opportunity to object when it really mattered. That is, Sheriff Pagel spoke

to R.M. before the court or any of the attorneys were awarc of the contact.

Therefore, there was no opportunity for anyonc to block the private

coimnunication between Sheriff Pagel and R.M- before it happened. Requiring an

objection at trial allows the trial judge to avoid or correct an error. Volliner v.

Ltte0i, 156 Wis. 2d 1, 10, 456 N.W.2d 19'7 (1990). Here, however, tltere was no

opportunity to avoid or correct an error l?iecause once Sheiiff Pagel spoke with

Juror R.M. without the court's knowledge, R.M. 's removal was set in motion.

51. Asarguedabove,reinovalofadeliberatingjurorwithoutcauseistlie

sort of error that has repe'rcussions which are necessarily unquantifiable and

indeterminate. Tlie juror's ren'ioval in this case was set in motion by a deputy who

then contacted Sheriff Pagel, even though Sheriff Pagel was aligned with the

prosecutiori and had not been sworn to assist the courl: in sequesteriiig tire 3ury.
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Sheriff Pagel should never have had private contact with luror R.M., and his
contact ultimately resulted in R.M.'s discharge from the 3ury. SherifF Pagel's role
ir Juror R.M.'s removal svas error that warrants reversal of Mr. Avery's
convictions.

i

l

i
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PART II: NOT FILED UNDER SF,kL CLEFIK OF (,111(,H17 COURT
III. THE COURT'S "DENNY" RULING DEPRIVED MR. AVERY OF A

FAJR TRIAL.

Introduction

52. Prior to trial the defense sought to introduce evidence that otl'?er

persons may have been responsib]e for Teresa Halbach's murder. The parties

briefed whether such evidence was admissible under State v. Deimy, 120 Wis. 2d

6 }4, 357 N.W.2d 12 (Ct. App. 1984), and the court ruled that the defense would be

barred from presenting evidence tl'iat a person other than Brendan Dassey was

responsible for the crimes.

53. Mr. Avery renews his claim here that he was entitled to introduce

evidence and to argue that other persons may have been responsible for

Ms. Halbach's death. He argues below that Demty is inappiicable, and that even if

it is applicable, the court erred in barring Mr. Avery from prescnting third party

liability e'vidence.

Procedural history

54. On July 10, 2006, the court entered a pre-trial order entitled "Order

Regarding State's Motion Prohibiting Evidence of Tliird-Party Liability ("Denny"

Motion)". The order specified that if the defendant intended "to suggest that a

third parry other than Brendan Dassey is responsible for any of the crimes charged,

the defendan( must notify the Court and the State" of such intention at least 30

days prior to the. start of the trial. Tbc court further ordered that the defendant

would bc subject to the standards relatiiig to the admissibility of any third party

liability evidence pursuant to State v. Denn)i, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 357 N,W 2d 12

(Ct- App. 1984).
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55. Tn light of the court's order, on January 10, 2007, Avery filed the
"Defendant's Statement on Third-Party Responsibility." Mr. Ave,ry there stated
t;iat l+e did iict kill Teresa Halbach, and that there was "at least a reasonable
possibility that one or more unknown other's, present at or near the Avery Salvage
Yard on the afternoon of October 3j, 2005, kil)ed her." Mr. Avery identified
severaL persons as potential alternative perpetrators: Scott Tadych;
Andres Martinez; Robert Fabian; Charles and Earl Avery; and the Dassey brothers.
Mr. Avery argued that Denny did not apply to the circumstances in his case, and
that as a result, he should not be bound by the tbree-part test set forth in Demty.
He r'urther argued that even if Denny did apply to his case, he should be permitted
to introduce evidence at his trial of several alternative perpetrators in this case.

56. On January 30, 2007, the court entered its "Decision and Order on
Admissibility of Third Paity Liability Evidence." The court held tixat Denn)Is
"legitimate tendency" test applies to any evidence the defendant wished to present
regarding potential third parties who might have been responsible for
Ms. Ha}bach's murder. (Court's orde.r of 1/3/07 at 7).

57. Despite this ruling, the court analyzed Mr. Avery's offer of proof
regarding third party responsibility to determine whether it might meet an
alternative "legitimate tendency" test. That is, the court Iooked at the defendanl's
proffer to see whether it stated evidence of such probative value of opportunity and
direct connection to the crime that proof of motive is not required. (ld. at 7-8).

58. The court ruled that under either the Denny test or its modified
alternative legitimate tendency test, Mr. Avery was barred from presenting
evidence of the possible culpability of any third party other than Brendan Dassey.
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A, The Dewy decision.

59. The defendant ixi Deym)i was charged with l'iomicide. He sought to
introduce evidence that he had no motive to kill the victim, but that "any one of a
number of third parties had motive and opporhinity" to kill the victim in his case.
Deiiny, 120 Wis. 2d at 617. Tlxe court prohibited Denny from presenting any
evidence that others might have had a motive to kill the victim, ruling it irrelevant.
Id. at 621. The court of appeals affirmed, and articulated a test for the
admissibility of this type of third-party responsibility evidence, which it tenned the
"legitimate tendency" test. The test, the court said, is a bright-line test which
involves three factors which the de[endant must show: motive; opportunity; and a
direct conncction between the third person and the crime charged. Id. at 625.

60. The trial court erred w)ien it concluded that Deimy applies to

Mr. Avcry's case. Deiuzy is inapplicable to Mr. Avery's case for four reasons.
First, Dentty applies only to those situations where the defendant seeks to
introduce evidence of other possible perpetrators' motives to cormnit the crime,
and where ttie defendant has no such motive? Second, Deityty should not be
applied in this case because it is a state evidentiary rule which conflicts with
Mr. Ave.ry's constitutional rights. Tl'ffrd, Deiin)i cannot act as a bar to Mr. Avery's
production of evidence because the state opened the door to such evidence. And
fourth, Dermy should not apply because il was wrongly decided.

B. Denny does not apply to the facts in tbis case.

61. Asnotedabove,thedefendantinl)eiitxysoughttopresentevidence
that others had a motive to kill the victim, but tl'iat lie had 110 such motive. He

argucd that if he could sbow a motive by others to kill the victim, be could
"establish the hypothesis of innocencc." Id. at 622. Thc trial coutt barred this
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evidcnce, and the courl of appeals affirmed. Tlie court of appeals warned t)'iat if it

approved of Denny's attempt to show these other individuals' motives to haxm the

victim, "a defendant could conceivably produce evidence tending to show that

hundreds of other persons had some motive or animus against the deceased-

degenerating the proceedings into a trial of collateral issues." [d. at 623-24.

62. The Denn)i court's concern that a defendant could turn a trial into a

parade of witnesses who had animus towards the deceased, even when they had no

other connection to the victim, is unfounded here because no person had a specific

motive to l'iaim Ms. Halbach as there was in Denny. Unlike Demiy, Mr. Avery did

not seek to prove that others had animus towards Ms. Halbach. Deiiny must be

limited to its facts. It is appropriately applied where the defendant seeks to
introduce evidence of otliers' motives to kill the victim, but it is a poor fit where
motive is not at issue. The court's concern that a defendant would turn a trial into

a parade of witnesses who had a motive to harm the victun is simply inapplicable

iiere. As trial counsel argued, Deimy should not control the presentation of

evidence Ixere because Denny was a "motive" or animus case, and Mr, Avery's
case is not.

63. In addition, Deimy is not a good fit to Mr. Avery's case because

here, unlike Denny, there was a finite universe of actors identified by the defense

who could have been respoiisilile for Ms. Halbacli's death. Denny argued that he
should be abJe to present evidence that the victim had angered various people

bccause of his dmg dealing ventures, and thus had a number of enemies. Such a
claim opened up the possibility of a wide range of third parties, some of whom the
defendant did not name Not so here where the defense co?ild identify individuals

witl'i the opportunity to kill Halbacl'i, and where there was at least circumstantial
cvideiice to link them to her.

l
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64. Mr. Avcry's argument that Denny is inapplicable to the facts of this
case is not unique. Our appellate courts have declined lo apply Denn)y in a number
of cases where the defendant points to a third parry as the one responsible for the
crime. For example, in State v. Oberlander, 149 Wis. 2d 132, 438 N.W.2d 580
(1989), where the defendant wanted to present other acts evidence of a third party
who might haye committed the crime with which the defendant was accused, the
court simply applied a relevancy test, In State v, Richardson, 210 Wis. 2d 694,
563 N.W.2d 899 (1997), where the defendant claimed he was being framed for a
crime that never happened, the supreme court held that Demt)i does not apply.
Instead, the court applied the balancing test of Wis. Stat. el 904.03. The court
stated that existing rules of evidence would ensure that the jury is not confused, or
its attention diverted to collateral issues. "As there is neither a le.gal basis nor a
cotnpelling reason to apply the legiti'rnate tendency test under the circumstances of
this case, we. hold that thc legitimate tendency test is not applicable to tl'ie
introduction of frame-up evidence." Id. at 'ill9. And, the court specifically
declined to consider whether the legitimate tendency tes( is "an appropriate
standard for the introduction of third-party defense evidence." [d. at 705, fn. 6. In
State v. Scheidel[, 227 Wis. 2d 285, 595 N.W.2d 661 (1999), where the defendant
tried to show that anotber unknowi'i person coimnitted the crime iii light of a
unique modus operandi, the supreme court held that the other acts standard of
Wis- Stat. § 904.04 applies ixistead of the Demx)i standard. Id. at 296-97. And in
State v. Falk, 2000 Wl App 161, 238 Wis. 2d 93, 617 N.W.2d 676, the court ruled
that Denity did not apply to the defense attempt to introduce evidence of a known
alternative perpetrator. In Falk, the defendant was acc?ised of child abuse, and he
wanted to introduce evidence that the true perpetrator was his wife. Tlie trial court
excluded the evidence, btit tl'ic co?iit of appeals concluded the trial coiut was
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wrong in applying Deimy. The court of appeals agreed with the defendant that
"Scheidell countenances an examination of the legitimate tendency test to
determine whether it fits in fact situations that differ from those in Denny..."

Id. at jp4. The court concluded that the facts before it did not fit the Deniiy

framework because of the limited number o'[ people who could l'iave committed the

offense. Where the number of people who had tl'ie opportunity to coininit tlxe
crime v=ias small, the court said that Deimy does not apply.

][n this case-and in most if not all cases wherc child abuse is the charged
oFfcnse-t)iere are only a few persons WI?O could possibly have comtnitted -ihe
crime be,sides lhe accused, because only a fcw pcrsons have the necessary
opportunity: the parent or parents, (lie babysilter or caregiver, and a limi}ed
number of other relatives or friends. Therefore, the iteed fo prevent evidence
sltobsiing lhat large miiiibers of others Iiad a ntotive to conunit the crime is not
a cortcern as it was in Danny. In addition, direct evidence connecting one of
thosc few persons to the particular abuse charged, such as witncsses other than
the child victim or physical evidence, will likely be lacking. In lhis case, for
example, only four persons had the opportunity to injure Laura given the
parameters established by the medical testimony. We there.fore conclude that the
Deiuiy legitimate lendency test is not applicable in this case, and Lo (he exlent
tlic tria) court rclied on it in excluding the proffered evidence, it erred.

Id. at }34 (emphasis added).

As in Falk, Mr. Avery identified a fairly limited number of possible

alten'iative perpetrators. Tlierefore, the Denny framework does not apply to this

l
l

i
i

case.

In sun'i, the courts have declined to apply Denny to a number of third-party

liability cases. Likewise, Denny should not apply to Mr. Avery's case.

C. Denny does riot apply here because it is a state evidentiary rule
ivhich conflicts with Mr. Asiery's constitutional rights.

65. Second, Denn)i s}iould not be applied because it is a state evidentiary

rule which conflicts with Mr. kvery's constitutional right to present a defense.

66. The state has broad latitude to establish roles excluding evidence

from criminal trials. Ilolmes v. Soutit Carolina, 547 u.s. 319, 324 (2006). Tliis
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latitude has limits, however, because a defendant is also guaranlecd the

constitutional right to present a complete defense. Id.; State v. Pulir,r.ano, 155

Wis. 2d 633, 645, 456 N.W.2d 325 (1990). Botli tl'ic United States Constitution

and the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee a criminal defendant a "meaningful

opportunity to present a complete defense." Holyites, 547 U.S. at 324; State v.

St. George, 2002 WI 50, j'(14, 252 Wis. 2d 499, 512, 643 N.W.2d 7'l7. Tbe

constitutional right to present a defense includes the right to the effective cross-

examination of witnesses against the defendant, and the right to introduce

favorable testimony. Pulizzazto, 155 Wis. 2d at 645-646; St. George, 2002 WI 50
at714.

67. Assuming arguendo that Denny applies in this case, the trial court's

mling deprived Mr. Avery of his constitutional right to present a defense. He was

prevented from ,advancing a key claim in defending himself against the state's

cl'iarges: that anotl'ier individual or individuals were responsible for Ms. Halbach's

death. Had Mr. Avery been able to iiitroduce evidence that others may have been

responsible for Ms. Halbach's death, counsel would have tried the case different)y.

They would have called other witnesses, cross-examined witnesses differently, and

made a different opening statement and closing arguments to the jury.

68. Mr. Avei'y's defense at trial was that an unknown person had killed

Teresa Halbach, and that fhe police }iad framed Mr, kvcry for the crime by

planting his blood in Ms. Halbach's car and by planting her car key in Mr. Ave.ry's

residence. The court's Denny niliiig forced Mr. Avery to limit his frame-up claim

to the police. It is anticipated tt'iat at a postconviction hearing, trial counse) will

testify that had the court ruled that Mr, Aveiy could present evidence of other

potenlial perpetra(ors, he would not have been so limited in his defensc.

Mr. Avery could have presented evidence tl'iat others had the motive and ?he means
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to frame him for Ms. Halbach's death, and that specific other individuals may have
killed Ms. Halbach.

69. For cxample, otl'ier individuals, such as Charles and Earl Avery,

could have planted the evidence which proved so damning to Mr. Avery' defense.

As was shown at trial, Steven had cut hjs fingei', it was bleeding, and Chailes and

Earl could have planted his blood in the car. Once the court excluded Mr. Avery's

third-party liability evidence, it meant that his frame-up defense was limited to law

enforcement, who the jury would }iave been less inclined to suspect than

Mr. Avery's brothers. Had Mr. Avery been able to argue his brothers killed

Ms. Halbach and then framed him for it, counsel could have argued that police had

not framed Mr. Avery, but rather, that they willingly followed their tunnel vision,

encouraged by the tme killers, to conclude that Mr. Avery was the guilty party.

70. The trial court's Denny ruling also made it easier for the state to

suggest to the jury that if Mr- Avery was claiii'iing the police framed him, the

police must also have k?illed Ms. Halbach. A difficulty witl'i Mr. Avery's defense

was that it relied upon a theory tl'iat Ms. Halbach's killer or killers were not the

san'ie people as those who framed him. As Iong as the defense maintained that the

police did not kill Ms. Halbach, but that they framed Mr. Avery, the defense

needed to try to explain how the police would have known she was dead when tltey
framed Mr. Avety. As it was, the defense was vulnerable to the state's claim that

if the police were framing Mr. Avei'y, the defense must be insinuating tl'iat the

police killed Ms. Halbach. That difficulty would have been obviated )iad the

defense been able to argue that Charles and/or Earl kvery killed Ms. Halbach and

framed Mr. Avery for thc crime. Even if the jury was iiiclined to believe that the

police framed Mr. Avers) for a crime he did not coin?rnit, the jury was not going to

believe that the police had act'ually killed Ms. I-lalbacli. Indeed, although
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Mr. Avery consistently maintained at trial that the police did not kill Ms. Halbach,

without being able to present evidence of other possible perpetrators, the 3ury was
really left viith orily tvto possible killers: the police or Steven Avcry.

71. In addition to unfairly limiting Mr. Avety's theory of defense, the

court's Denny mliiig impennissibly infiiiiged upon his right to cross-examine tbe

witnesses against l'iim. Cross-examination is implicit in the constitutional right of

confroxitatioii, and is essential to the accuracy of the "truth deterrniniiig process."

Chainbers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 295 (1973), quottng Dutton v. Evans, 400
U.S. 74, 89 (1970), et al. The denial of the xight of cross-examination means the

defendant has lost the ability to subject the witness' "dainning repudiation and
alibi to cross-examination." Chambers, 410 u.s. at 295. The defendant is unable

to "test the witness' recollection, to probe into the details of his alibi, or to 'sift'

his conscience so that the jury might judge for itself whether [the witness'l
testimony was worth of belief." [d.

72. }n Demty, it appears the defendant.sought to produce motive
witnesses. By contrast, in tl'iis case, the state called as witnesses t)'u'ee of the

individuals Mr. Avery identified in his proffer: Scott Tadych; Bobby Dassey; and

Robert Fabian. The trial court's Deymy mling prevented Mr. Avery from

exercising his constitutional right to confront these witnesses.

73. The court's Deisny mling mcant that Mr. Avery was barred from

exploring one of the biggest motives for these witnesses to lie on the stand: that

one or more of these individuals was guilty of the crime. If one or more of t}iese

witnesses were guilty of Ms. I-lalbach's homicide, oi- had participated iii framiiig

Mr. Avery for tl'ie crime, tl'iey would nave had evei'y incen(ive to point the finger at

Mr. Avety. Tl'iey would have had strong motive to convict Mr. Avery in order to

save themselves. As the Minnesota Supren'ie Court stated in State sr. Hawkiris,
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260 N.W.2d ] 50, 158 (?vfim'i. 1977): "where the third person is a state's witness
with a possible motive to convict the defendant to save himself, the rule admitting

othe.rwise competent evidence of a third person's guilt is especially applicable."
74. Mr. Avery was also unable to test the witness's recollection if tl'ie

questions strayed into prohibited Denny territory. For example, Mr. Avery could
not impeach Scott Tadych with inconsistencies in his recollection of his
wl'iereabouts on October 31, 2005. Had Mr. Asre>-y been able to point the finger at
Tadych, he could have shown that Tadych had a motive to lie about when he saw a
bonfire, how big the bonfire was, and when and whether he had actually seen
"Prison Break" that night. Althougli Mr- Ave.ry could point out the inconsistencies
in Tadycl'i's testimony, he was barred from connecting up the iiiconsistencies with
the possibility that Tadych had killed Ms. Halbach.

75. Counsel's cross-examination of Bobby Dassey was also curtailed by
the trial court's Denn)i niling. But for the court's mling, counsel would have
cross-cxamiiied Bobby Dassey much more aggressively. For exairiple, counsel
would have handled Dassey's testimony about Ms-. Avery's "joke" regarding
disposing of a body much differently. But for the court's Demxy mling, defense
counsel could have directly confronted Bobby about the "joke" and suggested that
Bobby invented this conversation to point the finger at Mr. Avery to divert
suspicion from himself. Additionally, counsel could have cross-examiiied
Bobby Dassey regarding his mutual alibi witl'i Scott Tadych.

76. Tl'ie court's pre-trial ruling prevented counsel from questioning
Fabian about the cadaver dog "hittiiig" on tl'ie golf cart that he and Earl Avery
drove around the Ave.iy Salvage Yard, shooting rabbits.
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77. Finally, the court's pre-trial n?iling prevented defense counsel from

directly questioning these witnesses about whcther they were responsible for

Ms. I-Iaibach's death.

78. The trial court's Denny ruling also infringed upon Mr. Avery's right

to present favorable evidence. For example, the courl's order prevented Mr. Avery

from introducing evidence that Bobby Dassey had his own .22 Marlin gun, the

same model believed to have been the murder weapon in this case. The nilirig

prevented Mr. Avery from calling Earl and Charles Avery as witnesses to question

their whereabouts on October 31, 2005, and whether they knew Teresa Halbach

was coming that day. Earl Astery was said to know every single car on the Avery

Salvage Yard property. Defense counsel could have called him to question why he

did not notice Ms. Halbacli's badly concealed vel'iicle on the property, even though

it was alleged to have been there for days before it was found by the Sturms.

Counsel could have introduced evidence of Tadych's cl'iaracter for violence and

lack of truthfulness, or of Charles Avery's prior aggressive conduct with women

who had visited the Avery Salvage Yard in the past.

79. The court's ruling also affected counsels' opening statement and

closing argun'ients. As argued above, had counsel not been limited by the Denity

ruling, it would not }>ave needed to rely exclusivel)i on its police frame-up defense.

Rather, the defense counsel could have argued that the police indeed had

investigative tun?nel vision, but that t}iey were simply fooled into thinking tha(

Mr. Avery was thc perpetrator, rather than that they actively framed him.

80. The court's ruling also affected the defense closiiig argumerit

During his argument, Attorney Butit'ig suggested Bobby Dassey had killed

Teresa Halbach. The state vigorously ob3cc1ed, asked for an admonishment, and

dcfense counsel had to backtrack from that argument. (Transcript of Marcli i4,
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pp. 214-222). Clearly, the defense was unable to argue that other specific
iiidividuals may have been responsible for Ms. Halbach's death. While the

defense was able to elicit small bits of testimony to try to impeach the state's
witnesses, counsel could not tie those pieces of evidence into a theory for the jury
to consider that an alternative perpetrator, such as Bobby Dassey, was guilty of
Ms. Halbach's murder.

81. In sum, the court's Denny mling irnperrnissibly infringed upon

Mr? Avery's right to cross-examination, compulsory process, and the right to

present a compJete defense. Even if nemiy is an appropriate lin'iiting evidentiaiy

rule, here its application deptived Mr. Avery of his constitutional right to present a
defense.

Mr. Avery should have been permitted to present evidence of
alternative perpetrators becausc the state opened the door to this
evidence.

82. Third, Denny should not have barred Mr. Avery from introducing

evidence of possible other perpetrators because the state opened the door to such
evidence.

83. Sherry Culhane, the Technical Unit Leader in the DNA Unit at the

Wisconsin State Crime Laboratory (Crime Lab), testified on the state's behalf.

She testified that buccal swabs from Barb Janda, Bobby, Brendan and

Brian Dassey, and Earl, Chuck, Delores arid Allen Ave,ry were all submitted to the

crime lab, and tbat she had prepared DNA profiles based upon these standards.

(Transcript of February 23, 2007, pp. 228-132).

84. Culharie further testified, upon the state's questioxiing, thaI she tested

various pieces o[" evidence, obtained DNA profiles from those pieces of evide.nce,

axitl then compared those profiles against not only Steven Ave.ry's profile, but

against the other profiles s)ie developed as well. For example, she compared (Iie

D.
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DNA on the key against the profiles of Allen Avery, Brian Dassey, Brendan

Dassey, Barb Janda, Bobby Dassey, Earl Avery, Chuck Avery and Delores Avery.

(Id., at 183-184).

85. Culhane testified that s)ie compared the DNA profile obtained from a

blood stain in Ms. Halbach's car against all of the standards she received at the

crime lab, and (hat the profile was not consistent with any standard she received

except for Steven Avery's. (Id. at 186-187).

86. The state moved into evidence various crime lab reports, such as

Exhibit 315, whicl'i contains tlxe profiles developed for Barb Janda, Bobby Dassey,

Earl Avery, Charles Avery, Delores Avery, and eliminates them as possible

sources from evidence obtained in this case. (Id. at 201).

87. Thus, the state elicited evidence in its case-in-chief that other

individuals on tbe Avery property had been eliminated by DNA evidence as

perpetrators. As soon as the state introduced evidence that other individuals had

been excluded as the DNA source for inc'rin-iiiiating pieces of evidence, the state

opened the door for the defense to counter with evidence that those individuals and

others could have been the true perpetrators of the crimes in this case. Having

obtained a ruling that the defense could not introduce evidence of other potential

perpetrators, the state co?ild not introduce evidence that ofhers were excluded

without opening the door to tl'ie previously bax'red Denny evidence. See

McConnick, Evidence, Vol. ] at §57 (Sixth Ed.), on "curative admissibility";

United States v. Eolin, 514 F.2d 554, 558 (7'h Cir. 1975).

l
l

i

I
I

I

E. Deimy should not apply because it was wrongly decided.

88. Trial counsel argued that, while Deimy is good law, it is inapplicable

under the [acts of this case. ?n spite of this concessiori, Mr. Avery now maintains

that Deitny was wrongly decided and should be overruled. He recognizes,
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however, that this court lacks tbe authoxity to ovenule Denny. Nevertheless, he
raises the issue lo prescrste, it for appellate review.

89. Although the Wisconsin Supreme Court flcetingly seemed to

approve of the Denny decision in State v. Knapp, 2003 WT 121, 265 Wis. 2d 278,
666 N.W.2d 881, in its previous decisions on third-party )iability the court
specifically stated it would not reach tl'ie issue of whether Denny applies to third
party liability cases where motive is not at issue. (See State v. Richardsotx, and
State v. Scheidell, discussed above).

90. And, People v. Green, the Califomia case upon which the Wisconsin
Couit of Appeals rested its decision, txas been modified. The Califoxnia Supreme
Court in State v. Hall, 718 P.2d 99 (1986), said that third-party culpability
evidence should be treated like any other evidence: "if relevant it is admissible
unless its probative value is substantially outweighed by the risk of undue delay,
prejudice or confusion." Whetber the third-party culpability evidence is believable
is not a question for the judBe.; it is a question for the jury. Id.

91. In additioxi to Hall, other courts apply the principles of our
evidentiary roles of Wis. Stat. EIF3 904.01 and 904.03 rather than a sort of super-
relevancy test as embodied in Denny. In Beay v. Kentucky, 125 S.W.2d 196
(20031 tbe court held it was error to exclude third-party liability evidence because
the defense tl'ieory was not so unsupported that it would confuse or mislead the
jury. Tlie couil reminded t)'iat it is up to tl'ie :)ury to decide if the alleged altex'native
perpetrator defense is credible. And in Winfteld v. Uiiited States, 676 A.2d l
(D.C. Ct. App. 1996), the couxt criticized the tria] judge's anaJysis uihic)'i it said
seemed to reflect "the lingering notion iii our decisions that relevance means

something different as regards evidence that a tbird party com?rnitted a crime than it

i

I

? Doc.636

-42-

('rti')
App 58

427-14
l

Case 2005CF000381 Document 1113 Filed 01-24-2023 Page 63 of 145



'i ":': '.1)O"i(?i?tiG o i ..- i ia?i7'- oli+" -i -o Faagg .E5 )7 1 ' l'

does in other contexts." The court said: "We now make clear that it does not."

Id, at 8-9.

92. Further, Denny imposes an unreasonably high burden on a defendan}

to present relevant evidence in his or l'ier defense. Instead of the legitimate

tendency test declared by the court of appeals, the defendant should be bound only

by the relevancy standard in Wis. Stat. §§ 904.01 and 904.03. Otherwise, the right

to present a defense, to compulsory process, and to confrontation are uni-easonably

burdened. A defendant is denied due process when lie is required to shoulder a

burden the state is not required to shoulder.

93. Because Denn)i was wrongly decided, and should be overturned, it

sl'iould not have been applied in this case.

i
l

l
i

F. T}ie court also erred when it applied an alternative ('legitimate
tendency" test.

94. As noted above, the court barred Mr. Avery from presenting

evidence of alternative perpetrators pursuant to Deytny. Nevertheless, the co?iit

went on to apply a different type of legitimate tendency test in the event a

reviewing court would hold that the three-part Denny test is inapplicable. The

court applied a legitimate tendency test supposing that a defendant could produce

such compelling opportunity and direct connection evidence that proof of motive

would not be required- (See trial court's decision filed January 30, 2007).

95. Just as Mr. Avery argues that the three-apart Deimy rule should not

apply and that Denny was wrongly decided, the tt-ial cout't's alternative two-part

legitimate tendency test is inapplicable as well. An examination of the roots of

Denny shows why.

96. Denn)i 's legitimate tendency test was based on an early United States

Supreme Couit case, Alexrtnder v. United States, 138 u.s. 353 (1891). Although
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the Court in Alexander used the phrase "legitimate tendency," it did not adopt a
two or three factor test coinbiniiig motive, opportunity and a direct comiection to

the critne, or some combination thereof. Instead, the Court looked at whether the

third party's acts and statements in that particular case wcre so remote or
insignificant as to have no legitimate tendency to show that he could have

committed the crime. In other words, we.re. the third party's acts and statements

too rcmote and insignificant to have any probative value. This test is essentially

the same as the well-recognized balancing test in Wis. Stat. e) 904,03. The

Alexaytder holding is significantly different from the Denny three-part test.

Despite its stated intention to follow Alexander, the court in Denny failed to do so.

Instead of adopting a fluid test that would review eacl'i case under its own facts,

and to then determine whether there is any legitimate tendency to show that the

third party could }iave cormnitted the crime in keeping with Alexander, the courl

erroneously adopted a bright-line three-part test.

97. Similarly, the court here erred in applying a two-factor test,

combining opportunity with direct connection to the crime. Following Alexander,

the court should have applied the relevancy roles in Wis. Stat. §§ 904.01 and

904.03. The court should have examined whether the totality of the facts wou]d

tend to show that one or more others named by Mr. Avery could have committed

the crimes in this case. No rule of super-relevancy should have been applied.

G. llie evidentiaiy test to be applied here should have been the
relevancy tests of Wis. Stat. §F3 904.01 and 904.03, rather than
Demt)i,

98. Wisconsin Statute F3 904.01 defines relevant evidence, and Wis. Stat.

§ 904.03 provides for the exclusion of evidence, even when relevant, on grounds

of "prejudice, confusion, or waste of time." That is, relevant evidence may be

excluded "if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair

l
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prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of

undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence."

These two evidentiary roles should have controlled to what extent Mr. kvery was

permitted to present third-parly responsibility evidence.

99. Had tl'xe court applied Wis. Stat. §§ 904.01 and 904.03, evidence of

third-party responsibility of Scott Tadych, Bobby Dassey, and Charles and

Earl Avery wou]d have been admissible.

100. Any evidence which tended to prove that Mr. Avery was not

responsible for Teresa Halbach's death would be: relevant under Wis. Stat.

e) 904.01. Relevance is defined broadly, and there is a strong presumption that

proffered evidence is relevant. Ricliardson, 210 Wis. 2d at 707. Relevant

evidence is evidence which has "any tendency to make the existence of any fact

that is of consequence to the detennination of tl'ie action more probab}e or less

probable than it would be svithout the evidence." Given (hat the state had the

burden of proving Mr. Avery committed the homicide in this case, it follows that

any evidence lie could present wl'iich tended Lo make it less probable that lie

committed the homicide is relevant. And any evidence Mr. Avery could present

which would lead Uhe trier of fact to conclude that another individual committed

the crimes in this case uiould be relevant. As the court said in Stafe v. Hawkins,

260 N.W.2d 150, 158 (Minn. 1977), "where the issue is whether in fact the

defendant kil]cd the deceased, evidence tending to prove that another committed

the homicide is admissible."

101. Eviderice which showed that a third party was responsible for

Teresa [4albach's death would also have been admissible under the balancing tes(

in Wis. Stat. (§ 904.03. Such evidence was probative in that it tended to show that

Steven kve.ry was not guilty of the crimes charged. The probativc va)ue is not
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outweighed by prejudice because different interests ai'e invo}ved when it is the
state wlto seeks to introduce evidence as opposed to the defendant. The prejudice,
if there is any, would bc to those persons identified by the defense as possible
perpetrators. But they were not parties to the action; they tvere not represented by
the state. Thus, the prejudicial effect of introducing evidence against them was
nonexistent. And, this evidence would not have confused tbe jury or diverted it to
collateral issues. It was clear that this case was about whether Steven Avery killed

Teresa Halbach. In orde.r to defend himself, he needed to be able to show that

others had just as much opportunity to kill her as he did. Some of the relevant
witnesses were called by the state. Additional witnesses called by Mr. Avery
would not have unduly prolonged the trial. The 3urors would not l'iave been
confiised or diverted to collateral issues. Ratlxer, they would have had a more
complete picture of the facts in their task.

l
I

I{. If Denisy applies, Mr. kvery's o{rer of proof met the Dei'tiiy
three-part test as to Scott Tadych, Charles and Earl Avery, and
Bobby Dassey.

102. If the court still concludes that Dettny applies to Mr. Avery's

proposed third-party liability evidence, the court erre.d in ruling the evidence
barred under the Denriy standard. The court's application of Demty was
um'easonably strict. Witl'i respect to motive, the court um'casonably focused only
on one type of motive, and that was WIIO would have a motive to Iiann

Teresa Halbach. The courL fai)ed to Iook at an equally important motive, whicb is
tl'ie motive to frame Steven Avery for a crime lie did not commit. The courl also

was unreasonably strict in examining other individuals' connection to the crime. A
connection to the crime does not require the level of proof to convict, brit only
such cvidence as would casl doubt on Mr. Aveiy's culpability. Where, as l'iere,
others have some type of motive, opportunity, arid some connection to tl'ie crime,

Doc. 636

-46-

(ts") ,A.pp. 62

!

427-18

Case 2005CF000381 Document 1113 Filed 01-24-2023 Page 67 of 145



rrD?w'l ' -="')')'l )')6L!rna" i.'3 I U r5"O"a"<.

Mr. Ave.ry s)iould have been permitted to introduce evidence of others' potential
culpability. As the court said in Beay v. Kentuck)i, the trial court xnay infringe
upon the defendant's right to iritroduce evidence that another person may be
culpable only when the defense theory is "unsupported," "speculative," and so
"far-fetched" that it could confiisc or mislead the jury. Eea;1, 125 S.W. 3d at 207.

l

i

Scott Tadych

103. Scott Tadych l'iad sufficient motive, opportunity and a direct
connection to the crime such tbat Mr. Avery should have been allowed to
introduce third-party responsibility evidence relaling to him.

104. Tadych's motive to kill Ms. Halbach is his violent and volatile

personality- According to Tadych's co-workers, Tadych is a short-tempered and
angry person capable of murder (Calumet County Slieriff's Department interview,
3/30/06; pp.719-722). Tadych was described as a chronic liar who blows up at
people, "screams a Iot" and is a "psycho." Another co-worker described Tadych as
"not being hooked up right" and someone who would "fly off the handle at
everyone at work." (Calumet County Sheriff's Department interview 3/31/06,
p. 726).

105. Tadych'spreviousexperienceswifhthecourtsystemshowhimtobe

a violent and impulsive person, particularly towards women. In 1994, J'ie was
charged in Manitowoc County with criminal trespass and battery. The criminal
complaint (Case No. 94-CM-583) alleged that Tadych wenl to the )iome of
Constance Welnetz at about 3:00 a.m. and knocked on her bedroom window.

Welnetz was asleep with Martin LeClair. Welnetz tl'ien heard a loud knock on the
back door. As she was calling the police, Tadych walked into her home and stated
to her: "You will die for this, b'itcli." In the i'neantime, LeClair had gone outside

to confront Tadych, and Tadych had hit him, knocking him briefly unconscious.
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106. [n 1997, the state charged Tadych with recklessly causing bodily

harm to Welnetz's son, Ryan, as well as disorderly conduct and damage (o

property. TNe complaint alleged that Tadych had accused Welnetz of seeirig

another man. When she told Tadych to leave, l'ie swung at her and missed, then

"went out of control," (see complaint in Case No. 97-CF-237). He pushed and

punched Welnetz repeatedly, tried to push her down the basement stairs, pulled her

hair, and also punched Ryan Welnetz, then 11 years old. Tadych went outside and

ripped the CB out of Welnetz's truck. He damaged other property as well.

107. In 1998, the state cl'iarged Tadych with trespass and disorderly

conduct for entering tbe home of Patricia Tadych-his mother-without

permission. (Case No. 98-CM-20). When Tadych found that his mother had

moved some of his fishing equipment, and that some equipment was missing, he

began to yell at her, calling her a "fucker," a "bitcli" and a "cunt." Tadych shoved

her, nearly causing her to fall.

108. In 2001, Constance Welnetz filed a petition for a temporary

restraining order from Tadych (Case No. O l-CV-3). In her petition, Welnetz stated

that Tadycli had called her repeatedly at,work within short periods of time,

threatened to "Uck her ass," to "turn her over to social services" and to make her

Iife "miserable." He called her a "fuckixig cunt bitcli." He went to her home and

pushed his way into her home. He Ieft the home on one occasion only after she

picked up the phone to call tlxe police, b?it then he spit on her car and tried all the

car doors to get in. When Welnetz left in l'ier car, Tadycli followed her. At one

poin(, Tadycli phoned Welnetz and told her that if she would not talk to ltim and

give him "another chance" lie would ruin }ier life and hurt her because slic was a

"wortbless piece of sliit."
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109. And in 2002, Tadych again assaulted Welnetz (Case No. 02-CM-

449). After Welnetz ltad tried to "kick Tadych out of her residence" for yelling at

her son, Tadych shoved Welnetz against the wall, took her phone and threw it on

the floor so she could not call the police. Tadych also twice punched Welnetz in

the shoulder with a closed fist.

110. Tadych would aiso have had a motive to frame Steven Avery. At the

time of Ms. Halbach's murder, Tadych was dating Barb Janda, who lived next

door to Steven Asiery, and who is tl'ie mother of Bobby, Blaine, Brendan and Bryan

Dassey. If Tadych killed Ms. Halbach, or if one of the Dassey boys had killed her,

Tadych wo?ild have had a motive to frame someone else for ?he crime, and Steven

Ave.ry would have been a convenient choice for a frame-up,

?IL Tadych also had opportunity to kill Ms. Halbach. Janda and Tadych

are now married. As her then-boyfriend, Tadych would have been on the property

numerous times, and would have had easy access to the property.

112. TadychtestifiedthathewasattheJandahometwiceonOctober3],

2005. It was Janda's van that Teresa Halbach had come to photograph, and so

Barb, and likely Tadych, knew Ms. Halbacli wou}d be coming to the yard (o

photograph the van. Because of the close proximity of the Janda and Steven Avery

residences, anyone at tl"ie Janda }iome could see the van and Teresa Halbach

coming to photograph the van. Indeed, Bobby Dassey testified that he saw her

takjng pictures of his mother's car.

113. Tadycli also had a direct connection to the crime. Tadycl'i's alibi for

the time at which it is believed that Ms. Halbach was killed is Bobby Dassey, Wh0

is now Tadych's step-son. Bobby Dassey and Scott Tadycl'i are mutual alibis in

this casc. Each states that he saw the other while driving, on their way to hunt.

(Of course, that they saw eacl'i other wl'iile driving does not mean that one of' them

i
l

i

l
l
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could not have had a restrained Teresa Halbach in his car at that time). No one

clsc can vouch for their whereabouts during that afternoon.

l ]4. Anotl'ier co-worker of Tadych reporled that Tadych had approached

him to sell him a .22 rifle that belonged to one of the Dassey boys. (Calumet

County Sheriff's Department report of 3/30/06, p. 725-726). A .22 rifle was

believed to be the murder weapon in this case.

115. Additionally, a co-worker stated tlxat Tadych had left work on the

day that Steven Avery was arrested, and that he was a "nervous wreck" when he

left. Further a co-worker stated that Tadych had commented that one of the

Dassey boys had blood on his clothes, and that the clothes had "gotten mixed up

with his laundry." (Calumet County Sheriff's Department report of 3/2/06,
p. 687).

116. Applyingthesefactstothethree-factortestinnertn)i,thecourterred

in concluding it was insufficient to nneet the standard for ainissibility. Evidence

relating to Tadych was relevant because it tended to prove that Mr. Aveiy was not

the guilty party. It would not have confused the jury or unduly prolonged the trial.

Likewise, there was no risk tl'iat the jury would be misled or confused had

Mr. Avery been able to introduce evidence of Scott Tadycli's culpability. It was

up to the jury, not the court, to decide whether to believe Tadycli might have been

responsible for the crime.

(.harles kvery

117. CharlesAveryalsopotentiallyhadthen'iotivetokillTeresaHalbadi.

Charles A.very had assaulted l'iis fonner wife and had an aggressive history with

women who came to the Avcry Salvage Yard. in 1999, the state charged Charles

with scxual assault by usc of force of l'iis tl'ien wife Donna. The complaixit alleged

(Case No. 99-CF-155) tl'iat Cliarles had held Donna down and had se.xual
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intercourse with her against her will. The complaint also stated that Donna

reported that Cl'iarles had tried to strangle her with a phone cord, and told her that

"if she did not shut up he would end it all."

118. In another criminal complaint filed the same day (Case No. 99-CM-

361), Domia Ave.ry stated that Charles had contacted her everi though there was a

domestic abuse injunction in place. According to the complaint, Charles entered

Donna's residence without her permission, that lie followed her when she left, and

that he again entered her residence without Jier permission later that night, ripping

the phone from her hands when she tried to call the police. Cliarles also blocked
the door when Donna attempted to leave.

119. CharlesAvery'saggressionextendedtowomenwhowerecustomers

of the kvery Salvage Yard. For example, Investigator Jotu'i Dedering of the

Calumet County Sheriff"s Department interviewed Zina Lavora who had had ber

car towed by the Ave.ry Salvage business. After the tow, Charles Avery began

sending her flowers and repeatedly asking her to go out on dates, which she found

to be disturbing. He sent candy to her home, and on one occasion, he rang her

doorbell and left her a long gift-wrapped box with a $100 bill. He continued to

call her ove.r the next three weeks, and she reported to her co-workers that she was

afraid of him. (Calumet County Sheriff"s Department report of 11/8/05, p. 159).

120- Another 'woman who had been a customer had a similar experience

with C}'iarles Ave.ry. Tlie same Sheriff's Department report contains a statement

by Judith Knutsen that she bought a part for her cai- through the Avcry Salvage

Yard. A few mont)is later, in October of 2005, the Avery business towed her car.

On October 30, 2005, Knutsen's supervisor gave he.r a note that s)ie should go (o

the property the next day to pick up the belongings from her car. She did not go.

On November 2, 2005, she phoned the business and spoke with Cliarles Avery,

l
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Charles told her he had been to her house the previous day to drop off her

belongings, and then proceeded to ask Ki'iutsen out for dinner. Sl'ie refused. Then

on November 4, 2005, Charles went to Knutsen's home with her personal

belongings which he said he had sorted from her car.

121. Other stories of Charles' aggressive history with women exist. Gary

and Daniel Lisowski spoke with law enforcement about Charles. Daniel Lisowski

was then dating a young woman whose mother was a single mother. Lisowski

reported that Charles had driven by this woman's house repeatedly, would call her

to ask her out, and would tell her on the phone that he had seen her in her bathing
suit as he had driven by- (DCI Report, Bate stamp 0231).

122. Cliarles Aveay also had a motive to frame Steven Avery for

Ms. Halbach's murder, namely jeedousy for Steven over money, a share of the

family business, and over Jodi Stachowski. When Steven Avery returned to the

Salvage Yard after his exoneration, it meant that the kvery Salvage Yard business

would no longer be run by just Charles and Earl Avery as Allen Avery was

involved less and less in tkxc business. It meant that Steven kve.ry would also be

part of the business. Thus, what looked like a half share in the family business was

likely to be a tlurd share witl'i Steven's arrival. Carla Ave.ry, Charles' daughter,

told police that Cliarles "puts up" with Steven worJcing at the yard, but that he does

not really want him to work there. (DCI Report, Bate stamp 065 7).

123. Steven Avei-y also looked to be in line to receive a large sum of

money as a result of his exoneration. That money may have caused jealousy to

Cliarles that would cause him to want to see Steven off the Avery Salvage Yard.

He may even have believed that if Steven were again sent to prison, his lawsuit

proceeds might go to him and the other Avery family n'iembers.
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124. Charles Avery had also frightened Jodi Stachowski, Steven Avcry's

girlfriend at the time of Ms. Halbach's murder. While she was in jail, Stachowski

had told another woman that she was afi'aid of Cliarles, and that shortly after

Stachowski and Steven began dating, Charles had come over to Steven's home

with a shotgun because he was angry that they were dating. (DCI Report at Bate

stamp 0685). Stachowski told this woman that she "was freaked out by Chuckie,"
and that she had once awoken to find Chuckie in her residence that she shared with

Steven. (Id?:) .

125 Charles also had opportimity to kill Ms. Halbacli. As one of tltc

Avery brothers, he was on the property daily, and would have been aware of

anyone coming from kuto Trader to photograph cars on the lot. Robert Fabian

told police that C]harles had asked Steven if "the photographer" had come yet to

(he yard on October 31, 2005. (Calumet County Sheriff's Department report of

11/10/05, p. 208). On November 6, 2005, Charles told law enforcement that he

recalled Steven may have Ieft work to "go and meet with a girl to take some

pictures." (DCI Report at Bate stamp 0371).

126. Charles also had a means to fi'ame Steven. For example, a'fler Steven

cut his finger, Cliarles could have smeared Steven's blood from a rag in

Ms. Halbach's car. He could have planted the key in Steven's room. Getting rid

of Steven would only improvc Charles ' situation at the kve.ry Salvage Yard.

127. The location of Cliarles' residence on the property is suspicious as

well. His trailer is located next to the office and (lie main entrance to the busincss,

so he would be most likely to see people coi'ning to do business at the yard. His

trailer is also the closcst of any of the residences to tl'ie location where

Ms. Halbacli's car was found. Also, unless Ms. i-{albaclx's car was driyen into the
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pit from the rear Radant quarry area, anyone driving her car down to where it was
ultimately found would have driven past Charles' traiLer.

128. Char}es Avery told law enforcement that he spends a "considerable
amount of time working in the pit area" and yet he did not notjce Ms. Halbach's
car. (DCJ Report at Bate stamp 0370). He lives alone, and stated he saw no one
on the night of October 31, 2005, so he does not have an alibi for that night. (DCI
Report at Bate stamp 0371). Charles has access to firearms as he is a hunter and
uses the pit when he wants to sight in l'iis guns. (DQ Report at Bate stamp 03 74).

129. More information connecting Charlcs ksre.ry to Ms- Halbach's
disappearance and murder may have been obtained had the police not had such
tunnel vision in its investigation and had they not been so free with information
with Charles about Uhe investigation. The police repo'rts show that law
enforcement repeatedly told Charles Avery that Steven was the perpetrator of tbese
crimes, and tl'iey to]d Charles Avery about important aspects of the investigation.
For example, an of'ficer with the Marinette County Sheriff's Depattment told
Charles that they had found t}ie key to Ms. Halbach's Toyota in Steven's bedroom,
and tl'iat they believed fliat Steven kept the key so he could later move the car frotn
the salvage yard to the shop wl'iere l'ie could strip it to ready it for crushing. (DCI
Report at Bate stamp 0308). The officer also told Charles that they had found
bones and teeth in the burn pit behind Steven's house. (DCI Report at Bate stamp
0309). In a later interview, police told Cliarles tl'iat they believed Steven had
opened the road fron'i the Radant Gravel Pit into the Avery Salvage Yar'd so he
could drive, Ms. Halbach's car to the back row of tl'ie yard. (DCI Report at Bate

stamp 0355). The officer told Cliarles that lie "understood how unsettling this
must be for Chuck, but lie needs to face the fact that his brother killed Halbacli."
(DCI Repoit? at Bate staxnp 0354).
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130. This focus on Steven to the exclusion of other susp'ects like Charles

illustrates the failing of the Deiuty rule. Here, the police developed only tltat

evidence to support its conclusion tbat Steven was the perpetrator, and failed to

develop evidence to link others, such as Cliarles, to the crimes. Because the state

is in charge of an investigation that will ultimately support its case, it will not be

inclined to develop evidence which might assist the defense in suggesting tl'iat

another individual is the guilty party. Thus Denny poses a nearly insunnountable

hurdle to a defendant attempting to shovv a third party is responsible for a crime.

Earl Avery

131. MuchofthesameevidencerelevanttoCl'iarlesAverywouldapplyto

Earl Avery as well. Steven's ret'um meant that Earl's share of the famiLy business

may have gone from one-half to one-tl-iird. Earl stated to the police his willingness

to give information incriminating to Steven, sayiiig that "even if my brother did

something, I would te)l." (Calumet Counjty Sheriff's Department report at p. 75).

Earl's wife was said to have greatiy disliked Steven. Earl was on the yard as well,
and so would have had access to both Ms. Halbach and to a bloody towel with

wl'iicli to plant Steven's blood in her car?

132. Earl Avery had also been previously charged with sexual assault. In

1995, the state charged Earl Avcry with sexually assaulting his two daughters.
(Case No. 95-CF-240).

133. Earl Avcry also had thc ineaxis to kill Teresa Halbach. He and

Robert Fabian shot rabbits on the Salvage Yard grounds, riding around the

property on a golf cart. They were hunting rabbits wiith guns on the day that
Ms. Halbach disappeared.

134. Earl admitted driviiig tlic golf cart past where Ms. Halbach's car was

found, and altJiough Earl's fricnd Robert Fabian would say that Earl knew evei'y
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car on the lot, Earl claimed he did not see Ms. Halbach's car. (Calumet County
Sheriff's Department Report at p.74-75) (DCI Report at Bate stamp 0330).
Although }ie and Steven were sighting in tl'ieir guns in the pit on November 4,
2005, he claimed he did not see Ms. Halbach's car. (Calumet County Sheriff's
Department report of l l/5/05 at p. 80). Further, a cadaver dog alerted on a golf
cart parked in a small garage behind tire main residence on the salvage yard
property. (Great Lakes Search and Rescue Canine, }IIC., Repoit, Narrative at 2).

135. Earl also la'iew that Ms. Halbach was coming to the yard on
October 31, 2005. He was familiar with the Auto Trader magazine, and Steven
had corrunent6d to him on October 31s' that he had to go ]iome because someone
was meeting him from the magazine. (DCI Report at Bate stamp 1278-79).

136. Further, Earl hid from the police when they came to take a DNA
sample on November 9, 2005. Wben tl-re investigators went to his l'iome, he hid in
a'n upstairs bedroon'i under some clothes. (Calumet County Sheriff's Department
report at 194).

137. Both Earl and Charles Avery would have known more about the
Avery Salvage Yard than anyone else. They had taken over the day-to-day running
of the business as their father, Allcn Avery, spent more and morc time at tbeir
properLy up nortl'i. They had the means and the opportunity to kill Ms. Halbach, to
move her car, to plant evidence to incriininate Steven, and tl'ien to leave the car so
that it would be discovered in a search. Tliis is sufficient connection to the offense

to warrant allowing the jury to decide wbetlier it was credible or not to suspect
Cl'iarles and Earl Avery.

l

Bobli)i Dassey

138. Fiiially, Mr. Avery should have been able to iiitroduce evidence that
Bobby Dassey was a possible alternative perpetrator. [f Bobby's brother Brendan
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or his soon-to-be stepfather Scott Tadych were involved in t)'ie crimes, Bobby
would have had a motive to firame Mr. Avery for the crimes.

139- Fuither, there is some evidence that Bobby did not like Steven
Avery. Bobby stated that Steven would lie in order to "stab ya in tl'ie back," and
that Steven had done this to him in the past. (Calumet County Sheriff's
Departrnent report at 92).

140. Bobby also had opportunity as he was at home at the time that
Ms. Halbach was on the property. Given fhat Ms. Halbach was coming to
photograph his mother's car, Bobby would have known that Ms. Halbach was
coming to the property. Bobby admitted lie saw Ms. Halbach and her car as he
iooked out of the window of his residence. Bobby also had the means to shoot
Ms. I-Ialbacli; he is a hunter and tlms would have access to weapons.

141. Bobby's explanation of his movements on October 31, 2005, is also
suspicious. He claimed to have gone hunting after having seen Ms. Halbach on the
property, axid said that Scott Tadych would say that he and Scott passed each other
on the highway on the way to hunting. Strangely, Bobby told the police that
aI"adycli "would be able to verify precisely what time he had seen Bobby."
(Calumet County St'ieriff's Department report at 9]). He did not explain why that
time would be so important that Tadych would be able to tell the police precisely
what time they had seen each other. In addition, Bobby stated that }xc had taken a

shower before he went lmnting, and then Barb Janda said he had taken a shower
after relurning from hunting. (DCI Report at Bate stamp 0213).

142. A pl'iysical examination of Bobby showed t)iat he had scratches on

}iis back. (Id.). He told law enforcement that the scratches were from a puppy

(jd.). Tlie examining physician stated that the scratches looked recent, and that it
was unlikely they were over a week old. ([d. ).
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143. Thus, tbere is circumstantial evidence tying Bobby Dassey to
Ms. Ha!bach's murder. He admjtted to seeing her on the day she disappeared; he
had a motive to frame Steven for the crimes; lie had the means to kill Ms. F{albach;

his leaving and return from his residence is only corroborated by Scott Tadych who
saw him driviBg down tkse road; he had scratches on his back which he slated we.'te
from a puppy; and as Ms. Halbach had been to the property before, Bobby would
have been familiar witb her. He had sufficient motive, opportunity and connection
to the crimes that the court erred in precluding the defense ft'om producing
evjdence and arguing Bobby was true perpetrator.

144. In sun'i, the court should have allowed Mr. Ave.ry to introduce

evidence and argue from that evidence that othe.r persons could have been

responsible for the murder of Ms. Halbacli, namely Scott Tadych, Charles or
Earl Avery, or Bobby Dassey.
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons argued abovc, Stcven Avery, by his atlorneys, respectfully

requests that the court schedule a hearing to hear evidence and argument, and that

the court enter an order vacating the judgments of conviction and granting a new

trial.

Dated this 26'h day of June, 2009.

Respectfully submitted,

l

""w..???,,???? l- ,?,.,.?? "'?

-SUZAN]a L. HAGOPIAN 'Z')

Assistant State Public Defender

State Bar No. 1000179

(608) 267-51 77
li a q o p ia n s ? o v

;t< < (?;=
MARTHA K. ASKINS

Assistant State Public Defender

State BarNo. 1008032

(608) 267-2879
askinsm(a.ond.wi.gov

l
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Office of the State Public Defender

Post Office Box 7862

Madison, WI 53707-7862
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STATE OF WISCONSIN CIRCUIT COURT MA?NITOWOC COUNTY

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff,

tr{AN%TCI'-';OC (IiC?lJN'?
j'l';;j'E-oFYllscolssilN

FILED

VS, JAN 2 s 2010 Case No. 05 CF 381

STEVEN A. AVERY, CLERK OF C?RCUIT COURT

Defendant.

DECISION AND ORDER ON DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR
POSTCONVICTION RELIEF

Tlie defendant, Steven A. Ayery, was convicted following a jury trial on

charges of party to the crime of first degree intentional homicide and felon ii'i

possession of a fireann on March 18, 2007. On June 29, 2009 the defendant filed a

motion for postconviction relief seeking a new trial on grounds that (1) the court

improperly excused a juror during the course of the jury's deliberations, and (2) the

court improperly excluded evidence of third party liability. The defendant's

argument includes a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. An evidcntiary

hearing ori the defendant's postconviction motion was heId on September 28, 2009.

Following that hearing the court received written briefs from both parties.

FINDINGS OF FACT

From evidence introduced at the postconviction motion hearing and the

court record in this case, the court makes the following factual findings:

Doc. 660

;j3'70
l

453-1
App 76

Case 2005CF000381 Document 1113 Filed 01-24-2023 Page 81 of 145



.it>: wO"i=O'i:i2 !;U,"in3it+ 19"i3 l-l'-r -i -=- P' aaa g iaa..; ' t' :,li o.') i ? 4 FEi

two prongs of the legitimate tendency test. Without any admissible evidence of

motive, however, the defendant's attempt to meet the Denny requirements fails.

pobbv Dassev. The only evidence offered by the defendant to show motive

on the part of Bobby Dassey consisted of evidence allegedly supporting a motive

to frame Steven Avery. No evidence is offered to suggest Bobby Dassey had a

motive to murder Teresa Halbach. Aveiy suggests that if Brendan Dassey,

Bobby's brother, or Scott Tadycli were involved in tl'ie crimes, Bobby would have

had a motive to help them frame Steven Avery for the crimes, presumably based

on his relationship with his brother and Scott Tadych. The defendant also offers

that Bobby did not like Steven Avex'y and stated that Steven "would lie in order to

'stab ya in the back."' Defendant's postconviction motion at p. 57. The

speculation that if Brendan Dassey or Scott Tadych had committed the crimes,

Bobby Dassey would have had a motive to frame Steven Avery, unsuppoited by

any evidence whatsoever, is too speculative to meet the motive requirement.

Likewise, even if Bobby Dassey thought his Uncle Steven was a liar, that is not

enough to constitute motive to commit murder. The connection is simply too

tenuous. Avery's proffered evidence is not sufficient to show that Bobby Dassey

had motive to murder Teresa Halbach.

The evidence offered against Bobby Dassey probably did meet the

opportunity and direct connection to the crime requirements of the legitimate

l
l
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tendency test because of his presence on the property at t}ie time Teresa Halbach
svas there. However, without any showing of motive, third party evidence against
Bobby Dassey is precluded under Denny.

In conclusion, the court stands by its original determination that the
defendant was not entitled to introduce Denny evidence against any third party
because he acknowledged at the time that he could not demonstrate any party had a
motive to kill Teresa Halbach. The additional arguments and offers of proof Avery
now raises in his postconviction motion were waived by not being presented to the
court in a timely manner. Even if those arguments and offers of proof have not
been waived, they are still not sufficient to justify the admission of direct third-
party liability evidence under Dermy against Scott Tadych, Charles Avery, Barl
Avery or Bobby Dassey.

G. .[f Denny does not apply, what rules determine the admissibility (!{
Avery's proffered third-patTy evideyzce?

For reasons already stated the court concludes that, despite Avery's claimed
inability to demonstrate a motive on the part of anyone else to murder Teresa
Halbach, his offer of third-party liability evidence is subject to the legitimate
tendency test established by the court in Denny. Like the defendant in Denny,

Doc. 660 96
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OFFICE OF THE CLERK

ffliqvpmp @mxrt af Qixscmsxn

110 EAST ]S'Lun STREET, SUITE 215
P.0. Box 1688

MADISON, WI53701-1688

TELET!4ff,(608))/i6-1880
yacsmmit.'c(Aoajz<z-ouo

Web Siie: vtww-vleeuna4riv

MANITOWOC CCNJNTY
STATF: OF WISCONSIN

F l L. E D

DEC 15 2011

CLERK OF CIRCU?T COURT

December 14, 2011
To:

Hon. Patrick L. Willis

Manitowoc County Circuit Court Judge
1010 S. 8th Street

Manitowoc, WI54220-5380

T ,ynn 7,i prnimf

Manitowoc County Clerk of Circuit Court
1010 S. 8th Street

Manitowoc, WI54220-5380

Martha K. Asktns
Asst- State Public Defender
p.o. Box 7862
Madison, WI 53707-786'2

Jerilyn Dietz
District Attorney
206 Court Street

Chilton, Wl 53014

Thomas J. Fallon
Assistmit Attomey General
p.o. Box 7857

Madison, WI 53707-7857

*Additional Pmties listed on Page Two

You are hereby notified that the Court has entered the following order:

No. 20lOAP41 l-CR

m

State v. A'very L.C.#2005CF381

A petition for reviesrv pursuant to Wis. Stat. !§ 808.10 having been filed on behalf: of
defendant-appellant-petitioner, Steven A. Avery, and considered by this court;

IT IS ORDERED that the petition for review is denied, without costs.
I?

A. John Voelker

Ac!ing Clerk of Suprerne Court

d

I
i
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STATE OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff,

MAN{TOWOC t-Ot:N xS'C?RCUIT COURT

MANLTOWOC CCMMT{
STATE OF W!SC.ON'3iN

FILED

FEB 14 2013

STEVEN AVERY, CLERK OF CIRCUIT COuFlT
CaseNo.: ' ?'

Defendant-Appellant. EVIDENTIARY HEARING REQUESTED

V.

*..l

MOTION FOR RELIEF PURSUANT TO WIS. STAT § 974.06

i

Doc. 702

PLEASE TAKE NOTJCE that the defendant-appellant, Steven Avery (Iierctiiafteoi
",!%,ver)"), pro se, tespectfully n'ioves this Court pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 974.06, for the entry of
an order vacating the judgment of conviction and sentence and ordering a new trial and grantinB
him such relief as the Court may deem appropriate.

Avery requests axi evidentiary hearing on tttis motion, and that he be allowed to
appear in person or by telephone for this hearing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASF. AND FACTS

On October 31", 2005 Avery met with Teresa Halbacli (hereinafter "Halbacl'i") at or ntar
his home to t'iave a vehicle his sister wanted to sell photographed for Auto Trader magazine.

On Noven'iber 3'd, 2005 Karen Halbach (Halbach's mother) con(acted the Caluict
County Sheriff's Department. Karen Halbach stated tl'iat Halbach had not been seen or I'ieiitd
from since October 31". Karen Halbach said it was umisual for her daughter 110( to }iaiie li,id
personal or telephone c6nlact with her family or friends for tlxis length of time. Karen Halkcli
stated that her daughter was driving a 1999 Toyota Ra'v 4, dark blue in color.

On November 41", 2005 Maiiitowoc Coiu'ity Sheriff's Department interviewed Avery art
his home. Avery candidiy answered questions and a1]owed the investigator to search his
residence.

Oii November 5"', 2005 t]ie Manitowoc County S}ieriff's Department requesled Caliiinet
County Sheriff's Dcpartment lead tlic investigation on behalf of the Manitowoc County Sheriffa.i
Department under the doctrine of mut?ial aid. Tliis was because Avery had a $36,000,000 l.'isa.o
suit against Manitowoc County for having pre'viously put kvery in prison illegally

Oii November 5"', 2005 officers received inrorrriatioii from volunteer searc)iers t)ial thcy
had located a vehicle matcl'iiiig t}ie description of the vehicle owned by Halbach at Avery rlii(o

,3cit>
l

/'4)I) 80
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Salvage. The volunteers svere. able to gain access to the propcrty through an emplo y ec of A',rry
Auto Salvage. Tlie volunteers provided a panial description of the vehicle's V}N#. Taking this
as confirmation that Halbach's vehicle was on the property Calumet County investigators e.mcrt:cl
Avery Auto Salvage, without a warrant, and began to investigate. Avery's curiilage is !ucai,:6
adjacent to the Avery Auto Salvage property.

Soon after, on that same datc, a scarch wartant was sought and obtained. Tliis was the
first of many search warrants in this case. Eveiy one of the warrants were issued from judry,es,
b?it the warrant applications were not presented to these judges. Insiead, the actual prosecutor in
the case, Kenneth Kratz, signed off on the affidavits. There is no indication in the record that
any of the issuing judges ever saw or read these affidavits.

Among these warrants was a warrant issued on November 5'h, 2005 that authorized thc
search of Avery's residence, which was a single-family trailer, Barb Janda's trailer, and the rer.t
of the 40-acre saivage yard. (101:225; 125; 21-2; 337-133). The warrant authorized police tri
search ror Halbach, her vehicle, clothing and camera equipment, forensic evidence and W(aptlll!;
or instrumenls capable for takiiig hun'ian lifc. (337:134). A vehic}e identified as Halbach's
RAV-4 was subsequently obtained. From the pictures taken by the Stale, there is no indicatiuri
that this vehicle was sealed prior to being sent to tlxe state crime lab in Madison (liercinafier
"lab").

On that same day a warrant was issued to obtain Ave.ry's vehicle and a low lruck
belonging to Avery Auto Salvage.

Tl'ie State charged A'very witt'i first degree iiitentional l'iomicide, mutilation of a corpse
ai'id felon in possession of a fireann. (26). The charges related to the October 31, 2005, death of
Halbach.

While being housed in the Cal?imet County jail ("jail"), Avery met with his attorneys riiid
his priva(e investigator. Tl'ie jail engaged in active monitoriiig of his conversations with liih
attorneys and his investigator. See Exl'iibits 1, 2, arid 3. His attorneys never challenged the
information provided them tri Exliibit 1 . However, Avcry only formd out about the moni!oriiig
by roi.ir jail workers (hrough an open records reqtiest a[tcr his conviction was final.

Atter nearly five weeks of trial tes(imony, the case was submitted to the jury. (328:172-
23). At that point, the jurors had L+een seq?iestered just one day. (327:226). The court rciaiiicd
t}ie remaining alternate juror and ordered her sequestered separate fron'i the deliberating jurors.

l
l

I

i
l

l
i
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(Jd.:i. Juror M. was one of the 12 ji.irors to whom the case was submitted. (362:12:). in a
prelin'iit'iary vote taken during t)ie first day of deliberations, Juror M. voted not guilty. (362:18).

During the evening after the first day of deliberations, the court received a call !I'0!n
Calumet County Sheriff Gerald Pagel indicating that Juror M. had asked to be excused. (329'4).
The next day, after Jiiror M. was discharged, the court prepared a memorandum describing the
information he received from Pagel, which is included in a traffic accident, totaling her vehicle,
although there was no infom'iation about any ixijuries. Further, the juror's wife was upset about
the accident and the amount of time lie had been away from the family beca?ise of the trial.
There was a "suggeslion" that they had some marilal difficulties before the trial. (Id. )

Afler speaking with Pagel, the court called the district attorney and both defense counsel,
who autJiorjzed the court to speak with the juror and cxcused him "if the iiiformation proiiided to
the court was verified." (329:4-5).

Tlie court spoke with Juror M. by telep}ione. None of the court's conversations thai
evening - witii Pagel, {he atton'ieys and the juror - was on the record. Tlie court described i(s
conversation with Juror M. in the memo. (359:2).

I

i
l

l
I

j

l

i

When Juror M. arrived ixome, he learried there was no accident, but rather, Iiis

stepdaughter had car trouble. (326:29). At the postconviction hearing, Juror M. testified he !iad
called his wife after dinner following the firsl day of deliberations to "check in" with her, riot
because }ie had any ixiforn'iatioii about a family exriergency. (362:20-21). When he spoke wiili
the judge he svas uncertain about what was liappeniiig at I'iome, but he was also frustrated wi{li
the deliberations. (362:59, 68-69). He was disturbed by one juror's comment n'iade at the outset
of deliberations that Avcry was "fucking guilty." (ld. at ] 8, 36). He was also ?ipset that, ii'licn
he expressed to another 3uror at diimer that hc was frustrated with the deliberations, the juror
who had pronounced Avcry "fucking guil(y" responded in a sarcastic tone: "lf you can't hamEle
it, why doii't you tcll them and just leave." (Id. at 16, 34).

On thc morning after Juror M.'s removal, Judge Willis arid counsel met in cliainbe:s
(329). Avery was not present. Relyiiig on Strtte v. Lehiiiaii, 108 Wis. 2d 291 (1982), the co(iil
and counsel agreed there were three options: proceed with 11 j?irors; substitute in the aitciii;.ie

Doc. 702
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with directions that the j?iry begin deliberations anew', or declare a mistrial. (329:5; 362:96-!:7,
209; 370:4; App. 150).

In a subsequent 20-minuet meeting with his attorneys Avery learned Juror M. had h-=i
let go. (362:99-100, 211). Counsel explained the three options and advised Avery to snais!iiti:e
in the alternate juror and turn down a n'iistrial. (362:100-01, 211-12). Avery took their iu{vice
De.fense counsel testified that, had they recommended a mistrial, Avery would have chosen F!
mistrial. (362;191).

When Avcry was brought to court, Judge Willis engaged in a colloquy with him about rhe
stipuJation to substitute the alteri'iate. (329:7-8). Tlie court then informed the remaining iiiiorr.
that one had been excused and that air alternate would take his place. (329:9-10). The court
ixistructcd the jurors to begin deliberations anew. (362:ll). The newly-constituted jury tciunicd
with verdicts after three more days of deliberations. (331:3-5). The court subsequenil7
sentcnccd Avery to life imprisonment. (288, 289).

Avery filed a postconviction motion seekinB a new trial- (350; 351). He argued he had
been deprived of a fair trial based on the handling of tl'ie jury once deliberations had begun, as
wel) as the trial court's denial of the opporturiity to present third-party liability evidence. ((d).
Following an evidentiary hearing, Judge Willis filed a written decision and order den)'ing
Avery's claims. (370; App. 147-252).

l

l

Avery appealed, raising the same issues as t)'iose in postcomiiction motion. In addi(ioii,
l'ie argued t}se trial court had erred wlicn it denied his pre-tiral motion to suppress as evidence iiie
key found in Ave.ry's bedroom. The court of appeals affinned Avery's convictions in a dccision
recommended for publication. (App. 10 l-44). T)ie Supreme Court of Wisconsin denied reviiiw.

AS GROUNDS Tl-IEREFORE, Avery states as fol?ows:
ARGUMENT

I. AVERY WAS DENIED HIS RIGHTS UNDER
ARTICLE ONE, § 7 oF THE WISCONSIN
CONSTTTUTION AND THE SIXTH AMENDMENT
TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION TO
COUNSEL

l
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LEGAL STANDARD

A- Tbe Rigbt to Confer in Private

The Article 1, §7 and Sixth Amendment right to cotinsel protects the integrity of titc

adversarial sys(em of criminal justice by ensuring that all persons accused of crimes have :,?cccqs

to effective assistance of counsel for their defense. Thc rig)it is grounded in "the presurni'd

iiiability of a defendant to make inforiried choices about the preparation and conduct of lyis

defense." Umted Slates v, Levy, 577 F.2d 200, 209 (CA3 1978). Although the right to coiiiisel

under these constitutional provisions is distinguishable from the attorney-client privilege, the i*a.an

concepts overlap in many mys.

Tlie Sixth Amendment is meant to assurc fairness in the adversary criminal process.

rhiited Smtes v. Croiiic, 466 U.S. 648, 656 (1984). "The very premise of our adversary q:ilca:

of crii'ninal justice is that partisan advocacy on both sides of a case will best promote the uliiiiiatc

objective that the guilty be convicted and the innocent go free." Id. at 655 (quoting Hcrritxg v.

New York, 422 u.s. 853, 862 (1975)). Because this "very premise" is the foundation of tht

rights secured by t)ie Sixth Amendinent, where the Sixth Amendment is violated, "a serioi.is ri:;k

of injuslice infects the trial itself." Id. at 656 (quoting Cu)iler v. Sullivait, 446 U.S. 335, 343

(1980)).

The right to counsel exists in order to secure the fundamental righl to a fait trial

guaranteed by (he Due Process Clause of the Fourteentli Airiendment. Strickltmd v.

Washington, 466 u.s. 668, 684-85 (1984); see also Estelle v, WNliayns, 425 U.S. 501, 503

(1976). It follows that the "benchmark" of a Sixtli Amendment claim is "(he fairness of {isc

adversary proceeding." See Nix l!. Wliileside, 475 U.S. 157, 175 (1986) (citing Sfricklttnd, -lii(:

U.S. at 695). The Supreme Co?irt has therefore declared tl'iat "[albsent some effect of c[iallciiBet!

conduct on the reliability of the trial process, the Sixtli Amendn'ient guarantce is generally ncii

implicated." Croitic, 466 u.s. at 658. At the same tin'ie, however, "[iln certain Si:st}i

Amendment contexts, prejudice is presumed." Slrickland, 466 U.S. at 692. This is paiticulad>

true wiCli regard to "various kiiids of state iiiterference with counsel's assistaiice." Id.; see ,4!5.

Perty sr. Leeke, 488 u.s. 272, 279-80 (1989) (stating that the Supreine Court has "exprcssly

noted that direct governmental interference with (he right to counsel is a differerit matter" o=;,tl,

regard to whelhcr prejudice must be shown, arid collecting representative cases where prejuJice

l

l

l
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Doc. 702

need not be proVed:): (jaolllc, 466 u.s. at 658 & n. 24 (cltlng cases In which the Court i'Lls
discussed circun'istances justifying a presumption of prejudice).

Tbe right to counsel would be meariingless without (lie protection of free and opcn
communicalion betweei'i client and counsel. See Id. Tl'ic United Slates Supreme Court has (lnycN
that "conferences between counsel and accused ... sometimes parlake of the inviolable ctiatacier
of the confessionaL" Powell v. Alabaina, 287 U.S. 45, 61 (] 932). See also State v. Penrod, 8!)2
P.2d 729, 731 (Oregon 1995) ("We believe that confidentiality is inherent iii the right to consult
with counsel; to hold otherwise would effeclively render the right meaningless. Accord Sfate I!
Cory, 62 Wasb.2d 371, 382 P.2d 1019 (1963) ("it is universally accepted that effec(ivc
representation cannot be had without such priiiacy"); see also cases coliected in s ALR3d 1360
(1963)).

The right to counsel includes "(lie right to private consultation with the attome)i." hl thr
Matter of Fusco v, Moses, 304 N.Y. 424, 433 (1952). Iiideed, the very essence of 1}ie Sixlh
Amendmem right to effective assistance of counsel is privacy of communication wit)i counscl.
Glasser v. [hiited States, 315 U.S. 60 (1942); Weatlierford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545 (1977);
United Stntes v. Rosner, 485 F.2d 1213 (CA2 1973); State v. MiflEgan, 40 0hio S(. 3d .lill
(] 988). It is clear "that an accused does not enjoy the effectiye aid of counsel if he is denied thc
right of private consultation with him." Coplort p. Uiiited States, 191 F.2d 749, 757 (CADC
]95 1). See Geders v- Uniled States, 425 U.S. 80 (1976); Hoffa sr. United Stmes, 385 U.S. 293
(1 966); Mtrssinh v. Uniied Stntes, 377 lJ.s. 2.o'l (l 964:); United States v. Rosner, 485 F.2d !213
(CA2 1973), cert. denied, 417 u.s. 950 (1974); United S(ates v. Brosvn, 484 F.2d 418 (CA5
1973), cert. aenied, 415 U.S. 960 ( 1974); Caldsve!I v. Uitited Stmes, 205 F.2d 879 (CADC 1953).
"As was said by Judge DESMOND in People v. McLaugldtn, (291 N.Y. 480, 482-283): 'Tu
gisie it [the right to counsell 'life and effect *** it imist be held to confer ?ipoii (he rela(or cvety
privi!ege which will make ilie presence of counsel upon tl'ie trial a valuable right, and this must
include a private interview with his counsel prior to the tiral."' Fusco, 304 N.Y., at 433. Sce
a)so Strite sr. Sztgar, 84 N-J. 1, 12-13 (Ncw Jersey 1980); Stttte v. Holland, 147 Ariz. 453
(Arizona 1985); McNull v. Siiperior Court, 133 Ariz. -/ (Arizona 1982).

in Ellis v. Stnte, 2003 ND 72, "09, tlic Court statcd,

An esscntial element or air :accusedas Sixtli Amendment rig)i( (o assis!ance or
counsel 15 tIle privacy O(' coirinmnica(ions vvi(h courisel. Statc !'. Cl(lrk, 1997
ND 199, '[4 (quo(ing Uiiited Slmes it. Brugmair, 655 F.2d 540, 546 (CA4 1981 ).
Tlicre is a Iegi(ima(e public interest in protecting coiifidemial commutiications

6
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between an attoniey and a client, see Ckrrk, art 'd 14 (quo(ing State +i. Red Patiit,
31 I N.W. 2d 182, 185 (N.D. 1981)), and the attorney-client relalionship extends
to communications between the client and the attorney or the attorney's
represen(ative. See N.D.R.EV. 502. See also State p. Copeltind, 448 N.W-.2d
611, 614-16 (N.D. 1989); Red Paint, at 184-85.

i
l

i
I

i

Tlie Sixth Amendment imposes an affirmative obligation on the State to respect :iii<l

preserve an accused's choice (o seek assistance of counsel, and "at the very least, the prosecii!or

and police have an affirmative obligation not to act in a manner that circumvents and therehy

dilutes the protection afforded by the right to counsel." Maiiie v. Moidton, 474 U.S. 159, 171

(1985). See also Arizoiia v. Warirer, 150 Ariz. 123, 127-28 (1986); Wilsoii v. Superior Coitr(,

70 Cal. App.3d 751 (l 977); Barber v. Municipal Coiirt, 24 Cal.3d 742 (1979).

The guarantees of the Sixth Amendment right to assistance of counsel recognize Il'ic

obvious but important truth that "the average defendant does not have the professional legal skill

to protect himself when brougt'it before a tribunal with power to take his life or liberty ..."

Joltnsoit v. Zerbst, 304 u.s. 458, 462-63 (i938). Without tl'ie guiding hand of counse], an

innocent defendant: smy lose his freedom because he does not know how to establish l'iis

im'iocence. Powell v. Alabarna, 287 U.S. 45, 69 (1932); see Argersiiiger v. Hatidin, 407 u.s.

25, 31 (1972). Because the assistance of counsel is essential to insuring fairness and due proccss

in criminal prosecutioi'is, a convicted defendant may not be imprisoned unless counsel was

available to him at e.ver "critical" point following "tlie initiation of adversary judicial ciimin:il

proceedings;' Kirb)i v. Illinois, 406 U.S. 682, 689 (1972). See e.g., Scott v. If[inots, 440 u.s.

367 (1979); Moore p. Illinois, 434 {J.S. 220 ( 1977); Argersinger, supra; United States v. IVade,

388 u.s. 218 (1967); Massiah, 377 U.S. 201; Dottglrts v. Califoriiia, 372 u.s. 353 (1962);

Gideon 11. Wainieiright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963).

Because the Constimtion requires the assistance of counsel and not merely his )iliysxs:i)

presence, counsel n'itist be effective as well as available. Cuyler v. Sullisittn, 446 u.s. 335, 344

345 (1980); Tollett v. Hendersoii, 41l u.s. 258, 266-67 (1973); McMaim v. Richardson, 397

u.s. 759, 771 n. 14 0970). Tlie right to counsel would be an empty assurance if a formiil

appearance by an attorney were sufficiem to satisfy il. Avery sr. Alabama, 308 U.S. 444, 4d6

(1940); see Cuyler, stipra, at 344-45. The circumstances under which a lawyer provides counscl

nmst iio( "preclude tire giving of effective aid in the preparation and tiral of the case." Powt-{l

sulira, at 71- "A defense attorney's representation rraist be a?iritrammcled and ?inimpaircd' . "

Stale v. Eellucci, 8 ] NJ. 53], 538 (New Jersey 1980)', see Glasser, 3]5 U.S at, 70 (i942). lj

l
i

l

Doc. 702
7

App. 86
496-7 l

l
I

Case 2005CF000381 Document 1113 Filed 01-24-2023 Page 91 of 145



C a.s e 2 0 0 'J ( J 'r".5<:j 0 'a '."?; 'i ':; !)l.-.: 1.i i'?'.' ;3 l'l )'. ' l :li7 -3 :'aa' il3 i':a f.; '.3 - ' i '6 - :2 r .i?'.'! 2 l:y;'ar:l:":-:'! H.:.'all, l.g.(i: ,

i.

l

l

counsel is not "reasonably competent," Cuyler, 446 U.S. at 344; See McMann, 397 U.S. at 77(]-
71, or if counsel's ability to be a vigorous par?isan has been curtailed, Bellucci, 81 N.J. al 5z!0-
41, then the assistance provided is not constitutionally adequate. Attorney-client csiiiversa:{ciis
are coxistitutionally protected and cannot be invaded ty the State, Iii re Bull, 123 F. Supp. 389
(D. Nev. 1954); Cor)i, supra, 62 Wash.2d 371. "A defendant and his attorney must be tfioidcJ
the opportunity to discuss freely and con[identially." Stuart v. State, 801 P.2d 1283 (ldaanh
1990)-

The United States Supreme Court in Hoffa v. United States, 385 u.s. 293 (1966), thougii
not finding it warranted in that case, recognized: "it is possible to imagine a case in which tbe
prosecution so pervasisiely insinuated itself into tl'ie councils of the defense as to make a new }nal
on the same charges impemiissible under the Sixth Amendment." Id. at 416. The factual
circumstances in at least six cases havc been held to require dismissal of charges because of the
surreptitious interception of altomey-client communications by government agents. See C'or,io.
62 Wash.2d 371, Graddick v. State, 408 So-2d 533 (Alabama )981), United Smtes v. Oriumt.
417 F. Supp. 1126 (D.C. Colo. 1976), Earber, 24 Cal.3d 742, United States v. Peters, 468 F.
Supp. 364 (S.D. Florida 1979), and Levy, 577 F.2d 200.

B. Balancing Tests Where the Right to Privatc Consultatton is Infringed Upon
There are no Wisconsin cases that Avery can find that he can point to (O inform the Co-xt

on this particular point, 1herefore this appears to be a case of first impression for the Wisconsiri
courts. Other jurisdictions liaiie addressed this point at lerigth. A clear split exists between itx
various jurisdictions I'iowever, so Ayery has compiled the following authorities-

It has been noted in an amiotatioii, Scope arid Extenl, and Remedy or Sanclions fnr
Infrtngeinent o?fAccused's Rig!t to Coinmunicate with this Auorney, s A.L.R.3'd 1360, 1365:

One class of' cases in which thc courts haiiac Iiad little difficulty in tryirig to strike
a balance between Iibcriy and aui}ioriiy involves "eavesdropping" on counsel-
clieiit conversa(ions, citlier by electronic devices installed in conference rooms
or by means or paid informers who gaiii access (o the privilegcd
conmiunications or the derciise. In sucl'i instances, courts havc riot hesitated to
rule its tinconstitu(ional and iii violaiiori of the attorney-client privilege such
underhanded methods of ttie prosecution.

I
l

i

Doc. 702

As the Courl in United Sttites v. Rosner, 485 F.2d 1213, 1227 (CA2 1973):

In all sLlcl'l cases ilie Governmenl has been trcatcd as ruthless beyond
justit'ication. It has stooped to conduct i,sicll below the lirie of acceptability.
These strictures, ivhile legal principles in constitutional icrrns, nre also moral
judgn'iei'iis. Tliey assess tl'ie guilt not or the det'endant biit of tha Govcrnmcm.
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l

When (lic Govcmmcn( is foiirid guilty of such a chiirge, (}ic dcreliction is morc
than the bungling or thc conslablc, in Jtidge Cardozo's plirasc. (Per>ple v.
Dejore, 242 N.Y. 13, 150 N.E. 585 (1926).) l{ is a corrup(ing prac(ice ivhich
may justify freeing one guilty person (O vindicate the rule of law ror all others.
See Mr. Jus[ice Hoimes dissenting in Olmslecd it. Unitrzd Sltites, 277 u.s. 438,
469 (192!!).

I

The maiority of the United States Supreme Court cases have rejected the contention tl;ai
electronic surveUlance of attorney-client communications was per se prejudicial under Elack v.
Uiiited Strrtes, 385 u-s. 26 (1966), O"Brien v. United States, 386 u.s. 345 (1967), arid
Weafherford, 429 U.S. 545, and will not automatically require a new trial. The Supreme Coiiit
ruled that "wlien conversations with counsel have been overheard, the constitutionaiity of :i:c
conviction depends on whetber the overheard conversations have produced, directly or
ixidirectly, any of the evidence offered at lrial." The trial couil must make a "ludicial
determination"' (rnost likely a"taint hearing" as described in Alderntan v. United Stales, 394
u.s. 165 (1969), of the effect of the overheard conversations on the conversations on the.
conviction, and if there uias "'use of evidence that might otherwise be inadmissible"' the
convictioxi should be reversed for a new tiral. Id. at 552.

Upon a showing of probable interception of atton'iey-client communications by Sthtc
agents, the Co?irt should req?iire the prosecutor to take affirn'iative ste.ps to determtne tiic
existence of such surveillance and certify his actions and findings to the Court. See, e.g., Unitr-d
Stales v. Aller, 492 F.2d 1016 (CA9 1973). If there has been surreptitious interception of ilic
defendant's attorney-client communications, the trial court should grant broad discovery of !iie

logs, summaries, reports, recordings arid transcripts of the intercepted communications. Uniterl
Smtes v- Paimon, 435 F.2d 364 (CA7 1970). If Llie goveriimeiital agency or agent refuses to
disclose that iiifori'i'iation, the pending cl'iarges rruist be dismissed. Aldertwut, supra; Uiiitcd
Sttites sr. Seale, 461 F.2d 345 (CA7 1972).

In lig)it of Wetit/ierford, it appears that the peti(ioner musl show (1) a surreplitious
electronic interception (2) by govemn'ieiit agents (3) of atlorney-client con'imui'iications (4>
involving defense plans and strategy or facts concerning the offense chargcd or under
iiivestigation. Proof of these facts is suffictent to raise a presumptIon of pre)udice becarise lne
violation of the accused's constitutional rigm to private con'imunications with his attorney "is t 1 ')
fundamental and absolute to allow courts to iiidulge iii nice calculations as to the amoimt 01
prejudice arising rrom its dcnial." Glasser, supra.
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The burden of persuasion should then shift to the State' to prove that s?ich intercepyi?iri
was not prejudicial, for "beYore a federal constitutional error can be held harmless, the court nnist

be able to declare a belief that it is liarrnless beyond a reasonable doubt." Chapma>i v.
California, 386 u.s. 18 (1967). However, "loJver time, the rule that began to emerge ivo:!cl
have required either a showing of deliberate prosecutorial misconduct or prejudice, but nor bo:h.
See State of Soiitli Dakotn -v. Long, 465 F.2d 65 (1972) ('!t is certainly true that where there is
gross misconduct on the part of the Govemment, no prejudice need be shown.") (citing Black.
358 u.s. 26, O'Erien, 386 u.s. 345, Caldwell, 205 F.2d 879, Coplon, 191 F.2d 149; Fajeriak v.
State, 520 P.2d 759 (Alaska 1974) ("Following Coplon, courts l'iave agreed that proof ol

eavesdropping upon attorney-client communications automatically invalidates a
The United States Supreme Court illlplicitl)' adopted this rule in Black V. Ullilcd

States.":)." State v. Qttattlebaum, 338 s,c. 44 1, 447 (2000).
The Quattlebaum court went on to state:

H'eatlierford is inapplicable to (he case sub judice, where a member of thei
proseciitioii team imentionally eavcsdropped on a confidential defense
convcrsation. We conc{iide, consistem iivitli existing fcdcra) preecdent, that a
defendarit rnus( show ei(her deliberate prosecutorial misconduct or prejudice (0
make out a violation ot' llic Sixtl'i Amendment, bur not both. Deliberate
prosecutorial misconduct raises an irrebutlablc presumption of prejudice. T}ie
contem oFthe protected communication is not relevant. The rcicus mus} be on the
miscondtict. In cases involving unimentional in(rusions in(o (he attorney-client
relationship, the defendant must makc a prima f'acie showing or prejudice }o shift
the burde.n lo the prosecution to prove the derendani was not prejudiced.

deliberate

conviction.

I

I

at 448A9. See also United Strrtes v. Davis, 646 F.2d 1298, 1303 n.8 (CA8 1981) (stating no
prejudice need be shown where there is gross misconduct by government).

Further, California has notcd that Weathetford n'iay not be appropriate to guide a stare in
its balancing test. The California Supren'ie Court stated iii Barber, 24 Ca!.3d 74:2:

Id.

il is irrelevant }o (Iie reasons underlying thc guararitee or privacy of
coirimunication batwccn clicn( and attorney thai (he slale is intruding ror one
purpose rarher than (or anoihei'. "[T]lic purpose and ncccssilies or the relation
bciiveen a client and his al(orney rcquire, in many cases, on the parl of the client.
the fiillest and freest disclosure to ilie attarney or ilie clieii('s objects, motives,
atid aciions." (lii re Jorduii, [7 Cal.3d 9301 at 940.) Tlie chilliiig affect or full

I

See also Stale v. Penrod, 892 P.2d 729, 732 (1995) (s(a(iiig "wlieii a defendant conlends !lial 1115 or licr
righ( lo a con}iden(ial conversation wi(li counsel has been unreasonably restricted, it is incumbent upon the slalc to
show tlia( the restric(ion was justified by (hc need to collect evidence. .."); Smte it. Wdligaii, 40 0liio Sl. 3d 341, 3d5
(Oliio 1988) ("thc burden is upon the 51a(e, ancr a prima facic showing of prcjtidicc by t}ie defendant, to dciiioiiiti:te
thai the iiiformation gained was riot pre3udicial 10 (lie derendan(- Sec Coininninvenrtii }'. tnaiiiriiig, 373 Mais. 4ai3i
442-443 (Mass. 1977)").
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and rvee disclosure by 'a client would be ilie same, svlsatever tire siate's asserfed
purpose for in(ruding. The intruding s(ate agent by his presence will be privy (o
confidential cornmunica!ions. Aware or t}iis possibility, a clien( wiii be
constrained in discussing Iiis case freely wiili his attorney.

l

i
l
l

l
l
l

l

Id. at 753. The Court went on to state:

No( only is Weatherford inapposite, it canno( be used as authority to justify the
police action here. since the 'right to priiiacy of communication between an
accused and his al+orney has consistently been grounded on Califoniia Iaw.

i

ld. at 755.

fashion, the lO'h Federal Circuil Court of Appeals stated in Shil(tnger,
Hawmth, 70 F.3d 1132 (CAIO 1996):

Given the Supreme Court's consideration or (he requiremenls of "effective Iaw
enforcement" rind the absence or p?irposertil miscondiic! under t)ie circumstance
in Weatlier?ford, commentators and 'couris have suggesied d'iat iii cases where
the prosecution acxs imemtona!ly arid without legitimate purpose, such
imrusions rniglit not wholly governed by the -Weatltedord decision.
Specifically, WerzUierford may riot dictate a rule that would require a showing
oF prejudice in cases where inten(ional prosecutorial intrusions Iack a Iegitimate
put'posc. See nriggs v. (modwjii, 698 F.2d 468, 493 n. 22 (D.C. CirJ. (iioling
that "[al dcliberate attempt by (lie government to obtain deferise slrategy
irirormatton or to othcrwise interrere with the atiiirney-deferidam relationship
througl'i the use of an undercover agent may constitute -a per se violation or the
Sixth Amendment."), reh'g granted, opinion vacated, and on reh'g, 712 F.2d
l444 (D.C. Cir. 1983), cert. denied, 4-64 u.s. 1040, (1984); United Slates v.
Alortdes, 635 F.2d l 77, l 79 (CA2 1980) ("[B]ecause (lie ... evidence -.. does
not disclose an intentional, governmenially instigated iiitrusion upon
confiden(ia} discussions between appellams and their a(tomeys, lhe evidence
does no} support appellan(s' claim of a pei' se viola!ion of their right to
counsel."); 2 Wayne R. LaFave & Jero)d H. 'lsreal, Crinyinal Procedure § 11.8,
at 75 (1984) ("Weathedord's conclusion that a state invasion of the lawyer-
cliem relationship does nor violale the Sixili Ainendmen( unless there is art least
a realis!ic likeli}iood of a governi'nei'ital advantage arguably was limited to case
in which there was a significant jusiificaiioii ror the invasion.").

In like
$7.

The Shil(inger Court went on to state:

i

I

I

Because we believe t)iat a prosecutor's imemional imrusion imo lhe attoniey-
clien( relaiionsliip constitules a direc( interference wi(li tlic Sixth Ainendmenl
rigms or a defcndani, and because a rair advarsary proceeding is a fundamental
righ} secured by the Sixlli and Fourleeii(Ii Amendments, sve believe (!igt absent a
couiitcrvailing state imeres(, such an iiiirusion must cons(i(ulc a per se violation
oi' the Sixtli Amendmem. In other ivords, sve Iiold that when the sla(e becomes
pt'vy lo confidential comniunica}ions because of i(s purposeful intrusion in}o Ilie
attorney-clieril relationship and lacks a legitimate jus(ification for doing so, a
prejudicial errect ori the reliability of i}ie tiral process must be presumedl. In
adopting this rule, we conclude thai no ot)ier standard can adequatcly deter this
sorl or miscoiiduc(. We also note (lial "[plrejudice iii these circumstances is so
Iikely }liat case-by-case inquiry inlo prejudicc is no( worth (he cosl.= Slrjckland,
466 u.s. a( 692.

l
l

Id. at 1142.
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The Third Circuit has adopted the rule fhat intentional intrusions by the prosecuti?in

constitute per se violation of tbe Sixth Amendment. See United States v. Costam,o, 740 F 2d

25 ], 254 (CA3 1984), cert. denied, 472 u.s. 1017 (1985); Lev)-, 577 F.2d at 210. The Sccond

and District of Columbia Circuits, on the other hand, have recognized that prejudice may not 't:e

required when an intrusion is intentional, but I'iave not specifically decided. See Briggs, 6Q8

F.2d at 493 n. 22; Morales, supra, 653 F.2d at 179. Tlie First, Sixth, and Nin(h Circuits )iave

held tltat something beyond the intentional intrusion itself is reqiiired to rise to the ]evel of a

Sixth An'icndment violation. See Uuited Smtes v. Mastroianni, 749 F.2d 900, 907 (CAI 1984)

(holding that even in the context of an intentional intnision lacking any justification, "[al Sixt)i

Amendment vio!ation cannot bc established without a showing that there is a 'realistic possibility

of injury' to defendants or abenefit to the State' as a result of the government's intrusion," but

placing a "high burden" on the state to rebut the defendaiit's prima facie showing of prejudice)

(quoting Wealhedord, 429 u.s. at 558); United States v. Sleele, 727 F.2d 580, 586 (CA6 19g"l)

("Even where there is an intentional intrusion by the goveri'iment into the attorney-cliciit

relationship, pre3udice to the dcfendant must be sl'iown before any remedy is granted.") (cilii:z

Morrison, 449 U.S. at 365-66); Uiiited States v. G[ovei', 596 F.2d 857, 863-64 (CA9) (l'ioldi::g

that even in the context of an intentional inlrusion into tl'ie attorney-client relationship, ilial

"distinction [does iiotl oversl'iadow [] an important principle to be read from lWeatlierfordJ: ?liat

the existence or nonexistence of prejudicia! evidence derived from an alleged interference iv.}}i

the attorney-client relationship is relevant in determining if the defendant had been denied iiie

right to counsel") cert. denied, 444 u.s. 857, and cer(. denied, 444 u.s. 860 (1979).

Under 9'h Federal Circuit Court of Appeals precedents, "improper interference by tiic
government with t)ie confidential relationship between a crii'ninal defendant and Iiis couiiscl

violated the Sixtlt Amcndmcnt only if such iiiterference 'substantially prejudices' the defendant "

United States v. Dctnielsois, 325 F.3d 1054, 1069 (CA9 2002) (citing Williams v- Woodford, 306

F.3d 665, 683 (CA9 2002). "'Substaiitial prejudice results from the introduction of evideyx:

gaiiied tliro?igli the interference agaixist the defendant at trial, from the prosecution's use uF

confidential information pertaining to defense plans arid s(ratcgy, and from other aclions

designed to give the prosecution air unfair advantage at trial."' rd. (citing Williams, 306 F3d art

682).
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"ln cases where wrongful intrusion results in the prosecution obtaining the dclaendanis
trial strategy, the question of prejudice is more subtle. In such cases, it will often be unclear
whether, and how, the prosecution's improperly obtained iiifon'nation about the defendant's )i '.il
strategy may have been used, and whether there was prejudice. More imporlant, in such cases
the government and the defendant will have unequal access to knowledge. The persecution ttaaiiy
knows what it did and why. The defendant can only guess." Dniiielsoii, 325 F.3d at 1070.

Daziielsoii set forth that once a defendant cm'i show that there has been prejudice "uie
government ... must show that all the evidence it introduced at trial was derived fmn'i

independent sources, and that all of its pre-trial and trial strategy was based on indcpcn6:qt
sources. Strategy in this context is a broad term that includes, but is not limited to, such tbings as

decisions about the scope and nature o[ the investiBation, about what witnesses to call (and in
what order), about what questions to ask (and in what order), about what lines of defense i@
anticipate in presentiiig the case in chief, and about what to save for possible rebuttal." Id. art
1074.

C. Fashioning a Remedy.

It is fortunate in this instance that Wisconsin case law contains a reference to one of the

most cited cases that gives guidance on the issue of ren'iedy. In the concurrence to State v. Ho,vt,
2] Wis. 2d 310 (1963) Justice Gordon restates the guiding words of Cory, 382 Pac. 2d 1019,
1022 (Wash 1963):

Tliere is no ssray to isola!e tl'ie prejudice resul(ing from air eavesdropping
activity, such as this. If (he prosecution gained information which aided it in the
preparalion oriis case, jhat Friforrnation would be as available in thc sccond trial
as iii llie (irs(. lr the dereridant's riBht to pri'vate consuitalion has been interrered
with once, that interfcreiice is as app!icable to a second trial as to the first. And
if' the investigatllig officers and the prosecution know (hal the lnosl severe
corisequencc which can fol)ow from tli'eir viola(ion o€ one of the mos( valuable
rights 'of a defendant, is (hal they ivill i'iave to try lie case twice, it can hardly be
supposed that they will be seriously deterred from indulging in this very simple
aiij coiivenienl method or oblaining evidence arid knowledge or the derendanl's
(iral stra(egy.

In Lev)i, 577 F.2d 200, (he Court slated:

Where there is n knowing invasion of the atiomey-client rela!ionsliip and where
confideritial iiirormaiion is disclosed to the govemmeni, we thirik that il'iere are
ovcri.vlielmiiiB coiisidcralions militatiiiz aga!nsi a standard which tesls {lic sixili
antendmem violaiioii by nacigliiiig how prcjudicial to ihc defense the disclosure
15.

... it is unlikely that a court can, iii siich a hearirig, arrive art a certain concl?isiori
as lo l'ioi,v (lie govcrnment's kiiowlcdgc or any par( of tlic defcnse s}rategy tnigh(

13
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benent the government tri its runlicr invcstigatioii of (he case, in (he subtle
process or prelrial discussion wi(h po(ential witncsses, in the selection or jurors,
or in the dynamics ofiria! itself.

At that point a trial coLlrt applying an acti.ial prejudice test would fact the
virtually impossible task or reexamining the emtre proceeding to determine
whether the disclosed information influenced the governme.nt's investigation or
presentation of its case or harmed }he defense in any other way.

l

l

l
l

l

Id. at 208.

... }lie interes}s a( s!ake in }lie at(orney-client rela(ionship are unlike the
expectations of privacy (hat underlie the fourth amendment exclusioriary rule.
The fundamental justification for the sixth amcndmcn! right to counsel is the
presumed inability of a defendant to make informed choices about the
preparatiori and conduct of his deferise. Free tow-way communication between
client and atton'iey is essential ir the professional assistance guaranteed by the
sixth amendment is to be meaningful. The purpose of the attorney-client
privilege is inexiricably )inked to the very integrity and accuracy of the f'at
finding process itself'. Even guilty individuals are entitled to be advised of
strategies for their defense. In order ror the adversary system to function
properly, any advice received as a result or a defendant's disclosure to counsel
must be insulated from (he government. No sevcr definition of prejudice, such
as the fruit-of-the-poisonous-tree evidentiary test in the fourth amendment area,
could accommodate the broader sixth amendment policies. We thing that the
inquiry into prejudice must stop at the poin} where atiomey-client conFidences
are actually disclosed to the govemn'ient enforcement agencies responsible ror
investiga(ing and prosecuting the case. Any o(her rule would disturb the balance
implicit in t-he ar3versary system and thus would jeopardize the very process by
which guilt arid irinocence are detemiined in our socie(y.

Id. at 209. As in Cory, Lev)i came to a similar coiisideratioii as to why a case that invo;veJ
actual disclosure of defense strategy cannot be retried:

Tlie disclosed information is now in the public domain? Any effork (o cure (he
violation by some claborate scheme, such as by bringing iii new case agems and
attorneys ffom distant places, iivould involve the court in the same sort of
spectila(ive enterprises wl'iicli we have already rejected. Even if nesv case agents
a'iid attonieys we're substitutcd, we would siili ha-ve to speculale about i}ie errecis
of llie old case agents' discussions with key government wimesses. More
in'iporiani, public coiifidcnce in the. integrity or the aitomey-client relationship
would be ill-served by devices to isolate nesv government agents from
inrorrnatioii whic)i is nosv in (he public domain. At leas in this case, svtiere the
trial liaii taken place, we conciude thai dismissal or the indic(meiil is the only
appropriate remcdy.

Id.

However, the Couit iii ,State v. Milligan, 40 0liio St. 3d 341 (1988), stated, "It is c:.n
automatic disn'iissa! is appropriate in every casc

irrespectivc of the circui'nstances." The only cases resulting in dismissal of the prosecution ll:i.'(

view that neither mere suppression nor

ii'ivolved (lie disclos?ire cif trial s}rategy, Lev)i, 577 F.'2-d 200; Peters, 468 F- Sup. 364; Oriiuui,

14
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417 F. Supp. l 126; Barber, 24 Cal.3d 742; Cor)i, 62 Wasl'i.2d at 377 (1963), or interference with

the ability of a defendant Lo place (rust and confidence in his attorney, United States it.

Morrison, 602 F.2d 529, 533 (CA3 1979), Barber, 24 Cal.3d at 750-51, 756. Thus, there

appears to be agreement that dismissal of a prosecution is the appropriate remedy for official

intrusion upon attorney-client relaLionships only where it destroys t}iat relationship or tevea!s

defendant's trial strategy.

Ii'i California, the state Supreme Court stated, "The exclusionary remedy is also

inadequate since there could be no iiicentive for state agents to refrain rrom such violations.

Even when the illegality is discovered, the state would merely prove its case by t)ie use of other,

unlainted evidence. The prosecution would proceed as if the unlawful conduct had not

occ?irred." Barber, 24 Cal. 3d at 759. See also, Cory, 382 Pac. 2d at 1022, State v, Irolfnnd,

147 Ariz. 453, 456 (Arizona ]985); Commonwealth v. Maiuzing, 373 Mass. 438, 442-jl45

(1977).

In Uuited States v. Morrisoii, 449 u.s. 361 (1980), the Supreme Court cotisidei'ed

whether dismissal of tl'ie defendant's indictment with prejudice was an appropriate remedy for

the intentional intrusion upon l'ier Sixi)i Amendmem rights by federal law enforcement agcnts.

Recognizing "the necessity for preserving society's intcrest in the administration of criminal

justice," the Court enunciated the following standard: "Cases involving Sixth Amendmeiit

deprivations are subject to the general role that remedies should be tailored to the injuty suffered

from the constitutional vo}ition and should not uiinecessari!y infringe on competing inte.rests "

Id. at 364. The Court went on (o describe how similar constitutional violations have generaliy

bcen rei'i'icdied:

[W]}ien beFore trial but after the instimiion of adversary proceedings, the
prosecution Iiad improperly obtaiiied incrimina(iiig in(ormatioii from rhe
defendant in the absence or )iis counsel, the remedy characteristically imposed is
not (0 dismiss ilie iimiciment L?ut to suppi'ess the evidence or (O order a new trial
if' thc evidencc has bccn wrongrully admiltcd and }he dcfendant convic(cd...

Our approach has ilms been to identiry and }lien neutralize tl'ie taint by tailorin(4
relief appropria!e in the circumslances to assure Ille defendan! the effective
assistance or counsei and a fair trial.

Id. at 365 (citing Gilbert v. Cafiforiiia, 388 U.S. 263 (1967); Uiiited States v. Wade, 388 U.S.

218 (1967); Massiali, 377 U.S. 201).
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Morrison makes clear that evidence obtained through an intei'itional and improp::r
intrusion into a defendaiit's relationship with l'iis attorney, as well as any "fmits of :tiic
prosecution'sl transgression," see id. at 366, n'iust be suppressed iii proceedings against him.

At the same time, such air intrusion could so pervasively taint the entire proceeding iliai a
court might [ind it necessary to take greater steps to purge the taint. The court may, for insian:c,
require retrial by a new proseculor, see, e.g. United Slmes v, Horn, 8]1 F. Supp. 739, 752 (D. N.
H. 1992) (removing the lead prosecutor form tbe case axid ordering her "no( to discuss Ihc
documents with any prosecutor or witness in this case and not to participate furtl'ier in any way,
directly or indirectly, in the trial preparation or trial of this case"), rev'd in part, 29 F.3d 754
(CAI 1994). Additionally, dismissal of the indictment co?ild, iii extreme circumstances, be
appropriate- Cf. Cttlifornia v. Troinbetta, 467 u.s. 479, 486-87 (1984) (noting that dismissal or
the indictment n'iight be appropriate uihen the governmenL pem'ianently loses poleiitially
exculpatory evidence); United States v. Bold, 25 F.3d 904, 914 (CAIO 1994) (dismissing the
indictment because of the government's destruction of potentially exculpatory evidence).
ARGUMENT

Avery's defense team included attorneys Strang and Bueting and investigator Baetz. Any
discussions with ?l'iese persons were protected by the oldest lega) privilege known to Atneric:iii
law, the attorney-client privilege. However, [ar more importantly, the Sixth Amendment pro{ecls
any discussions concerning strategy. The Sixth Amendment right to counsel includes the right to
private consultation. Moreover, the denial of that right is a denial of the right to coxirisel, a
structural defect that is not subject to harmless error ana)ysis.

A. THE JAIL MONITORED THE CONVERSATIONS BETWEEN AVERY AND 1115
DEFENSE TEAM CREATING A CHILLING EFFECT ON COMMUNICATIONS ON
JULY 20"', 2006.

l

i
i

l

In ehe present case, Avery and Baetz had been warned by a jail worker on July 20"', 2006
that they were being recoi'ded. Tliis act alone had a chilling effect oxi Avery's Sixth Ameiidmisnt
rights. Asrery was unable to offer full and frank information and could not be probed by }iis
investiga}or for pertiiient iiiforinatioii that would or could have aided Avery's iirvesli7;i(iiai-
efforts. Exbibit l is a Memoraiiduiri that existed in Avery's attomcy's control. Therefcirc,
failure to raise t)iis issiie pretrial was ineffectiiie assislaiice of counsel. Stricklaiyd, 466 U.S. a(

:
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686. Indeed, the failure to seek out evidence of other recordii'igs or (o obtaiii the recording of !Iiib
conyersation was improper on the part of kvery's defense.
B. THE STATF, WAS CONanNUALLY MONITOR?NG AVERY'S PRO'l'ECTFD
CONVERSATIONS WITH HIS DEFENSE TEAM

There is evidence that the statement made on July 20'h, 2006 was not mere threaL or
bluster on the part of this jail worker. After l'iis conviction Avery was able to obtain through art
open records request two documents that may have been discoverable but it is certain that the
State didnl furnish them to Avery based on his discovery request and that would seem to end
any requirement to investigate their existence on the part of Avery or l'iis legal team. Indeed, the
recording of privileged attorney-client conversations violates the privilege under both federal arid
Wisconsin law but, as noted above, where the Sixtl'i Amendtnent is involved the State has an
affirmative obligation to protect Asrery's rights. It would be unreasonable to think t!iat Iiis
protected conversations svere: being observed, much less that the contcnt in any way was bcirig
relayed to the prosecution.

Wbat Exliibits 2 and 3 shout is that four officcrs did just that. On March 17'h, 2007 ihcy
proyed that the warning given Baetz was far from a passing remark, innocuous or ot)ierwisc
Further, these two incidents showi a pattern of monitoring of which many of Calumet Couii5's
jail workers ware aware.

C. MONITORING OF AVERY'S ATTORNEY-Cl,IENT C(lNl7ERS,?TIONS IN THE
JAIL

The issue of whether it is improper to monitor thc private conversations between a
pre(rial detairiec and his defcnse team has been well settled. In cases that go back to 1963, thcrc
l'ias been extensivc commentary on lhe evils of this practice.

In Cory, 62 Wash.2d 371, the Washington State Supreme Court took up thc issue of
eavesdropping on the confidentiai conversations between counsel and client in a jaii The Courr
quoted Caldsvell, 92 u.s. App. D-C. 355, 205 F.2d 879, rioting, "high motives and zea) for lawi
enforcei'i'ient cannot justify spying upon and intrusion into the relationship between a pcrsori
accused of crime and his counsel." Id. at 374-75. Tlie Court condemned the actions of the
slieriff's o[fice stating, "Not only was the conduct of llie slierit'f's office iii violation of !lie
constitutional provision assuring the right to counsel, but also of the statutory law." Id. a( 378.
Tlie Court wen( on (o quote People v. Cnhai3 44 Cal. (2d) 434 (1955), where that Coltrt s(ated,
"[t is morally incongruous for the state to flout constitulional rights and at the same time den'.ciiid

j
l

i

l

l
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tl'iat its citizens observe the law..." Cory, 62 Wasli.2d at 378. The Cory Court finally compleiad
its condemnation of the sheriff departn'ient's action by labeling it "the odious practice of
eavesdropping on privileged communication between attorney and client" id., and that it 111:15
"shockiiig and unpardoi'iab!e coxiduct ..."

In Black, 385 u.s. 26, the United States Supreme Coutt reversed a conviction hccause
federal agents placed a bug iii a hotel suite and recoded conversations between Black and his
attorney. [d. at 27-28. These were reduced 1o notes and used b)i the prosecution in trial
preparation. Id. The High Court concluded, "In view of these facts it appears that justicc
requires that a new trial be held so as to afford the petitioner an opportunity to protect himself
from the use of evidence that iniglit be otherwise inadmissible." ld. at 28-29.

tn State v. Sugar, 84 Nj. l (1980), the New Jersey Supreme Court took up the issue of
the recording of a criminal defendant's conversation with his attorney by way of a concealed
microphone in tl'ie interview room they used. Id. at s. The Court summed up the issue stating,
"Tl'ie question presented is w'het)ier tl'ie flagranfly illegal conduct of the officers irre)iarably
impaired defendant's rights to the effective assis(ance of counsel and to a trial uncorrupted by
public prejudice." Tlie Court characterized the State's actions by stating, "Our present concern is
the outrageous character of the illegal eavesdropping." Id. at 7. The Court went to
understandable lengths to voice its disgust stating, "We are outraged. We are compelled !o say
exactly tl'iat." hl. at 12. "Tlie fact that tlic individuals responsible for invading defendam's
priiiacy are law enforcement officials heightens our concern and sparks our sense of outrage It
is a 'fuiidamental precept that courts snay riot aLiide illegality committed by the guardians of the
law.' Stme 1). Molnar, 81 Nj. 4'l5, 484 (1980)." Id. at 14. T!ie Court decided that the single
incident, though likely criminal, Id, was no threat to the case. Id. at 15.

In State v. Qum(Iebaum, 338 s.c. 44] (2000), the South Carolii'ia Supreme Courl wits
coiifi'onted with a single incident of surreptitio?is monitoring of confidential attorney-clieirt
consultation. That instance was strikii'igly similar the evenls of March l 71", 2007 iii the present
case. "While appellant and his ai(orney conferred, several sheriffs' officers and a deputy
solicitor were present in the detectives office where the privileged conversation l)cirvecn
appellant and his attorney was monitored and recorded." Id. at 444. The Quamebautn Coiirt
addressed the issue of tl'ie State's inteiitiot'ial interferei'ice wiitl'i the Sixtli Ainendn'ient guaralllee
of private consultation stating, "-rhe in(egrity of t)ie cntirc judicial system is called into ques(irin

l
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by conduct such as that engaged in by he dep?it)i solicitor and investigating officers of this casc."
Id. at 449. The Court reverscd the conviction. Id. at 454. Tl'iougli it has not yet been estabiishnl
how liigli up information was passed in the present case, the involvement of the lead
inves(igator's agents is established in the exhibits.

As noted, in the presem case the State definitely had been monitoring the pixitctted
conversations between Avery and l'iis defense tean"i on at least two occasions. Further, a jail
worker clearly stated that a[l conversations in the particular roon'i were being recorded. l'liere
can be 110 doubt tl'iat what the monitoring officers at least saw was passed on to Sheriff Pagcl.
Even if it we.re true that there were 110 recordings o'f the a?idio portion of any given conversalion,
the fact that the room was watched is important. Attorneys write things down. Notes litcparcd
in the course of prepariiig for trial or for the purposes of investigation are protected under the
work product doctrine. More impoitantly, the notes contain strategy. The surreptitious obtainirig .
of defense strategy by the state is grounds for mistrial.
D. REQUEST FOR A HEARING

In United States v. DiDornenico, 78 F.3d 294 (1996), the defendants and their a{loiiicy
n'iet iii a federal holding facility in a bugged room. Tlie question of whether the prosecution's
lack of involvetnent was discussed, the Court stated, "even if the prosecution team was i'iot
complicit in tl'ic bugging, the defendants' rig)'it to counsel may have been infringed. It is one
federal govcmment after all. If the director of the MCC ordered the bugging, there would be a
serious issue of the infrlllgemcnt of that rIght even If tIle fruIts of tIle buffing were not tuFTled
over (o the prosecutots." Id. at 301.

Avery asserts that he has presented prima facie evidence that his Sixth Amendment rigSt
to private consultation with counsel has been violated. [-Ie further asserts that that violaficiii
appears Far more widespread than the exhibits he has presented, as evidenced by the statt:ment
made to Baetz. See Exhibit 1. Ttierefore, Avery respectfully requests that this Court allow
Avery to engage iii posl-conviction discovery arid that a hearing be held to supplement the
rccord.

Il. AVERY WAS DENIED HIS RIGHTS UNDER F{FTH
AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUT{ON
WHEN THE STATE COMMENTED ON HIS SILENCE IN
CLOSING ARGUMENTS
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LEGAL STANDARD

Direct cotriment on a defendantas failure to testify is forbidden by the Fitth Amendment

Griffiyi v. Calgornia., 380 u.s. 609 (1965). A prosecutor's indirect commentary tha( the

govemment's evidence on an issue is "uncotradicted," undenied," "unrebutted;' "undisputed,"

etc., will be a violation of the defendant's Fifth Amendment rights if the only person who could

have contradicted, denied, rebutted or disputed the government's evidence was the defendant

himself. Freeman v- Laire, 962 F.2d 1252, 1261 (CA7 1992); UnitedStates ex rel. Biirke v.

Greer, 756 F.2d 1295, 1302 (CA7 1985); United States v. Buege, 578 F.2d 187 (CA7), cert.

denied, 439 U.S. 871 (1978); United States v. Feariis, 501 F.2d 486, 490 (CA7 l974); Uniled

States v. Handiiiari, 447 F.2d 853, 855 (CA7 1971).

ARGUMIINT

On the 23m day of the trial Attorney Kratz made reference in his closiiig arguments ICI

facts presented "coiitested." Tr. 4-14-2007, P.55. Attorney Strang objected to tl'iis and asked 10

be heard on t)ie issue later. The judge then reminded the jury that closixig arguments are mtrc!y

argument and not facts.

Specifically, attorney Kratz stated:

The racts iii iliis case, as presented, ai'id as i will present to you, are vers,r muc!i
so uiicoii(es(ed, uncontroversial, at Ieas( nlosL of the racts iii dirts case are
uiicoi'i(roverled.

Tr. 4-14-2007, P.33, Lines 18-21. Attorney Strang's commentary outside thc presence of the

)urywas:

I inilially interrup}ed Mr. Kralz's arguinerit, reluc(anlly, and trying (o be polite
and soineivliat circumspecT about my comment that it was unwise and improper
to describc racts as uncoiitested. l waited umil ssrc got to tlic PoiverPoint slide
(hat said ract number four, and by my recollection, {lia} xvas the fourth (ime (hat
0ie - - counsel rcir the S(a(e returned (o (he (heme or an uncontes!ed fact.

As I say, I svas (rying 10 bc circumspect, but thc concern, or course, was that this
comcs too close to coinmeiitiiig on lhc dccisioii or thc defcndant nor to take ihc
siarid. Or, ror thai malleri nol to olTer witnesses iiiat he did nol. Mr. Kratz, in
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resporiding to my objection [ think made the problem subsiamially worse. l
don't have committed to memory, we could (4o back to ilie court reporter's notes
if sve need to, bur the reioinder from counsei ror the Siaie svas thai,' you knosv, if
yo?i remember a witness being caHed, or ir you remember someone saying lhis
didn't )iappen, something to that effcc5 well, then ttmt's fine, but of course, the
sug@estion iivas not called and no one did speak rip to contest the facr.

Doesn 't warrant a mislrial, but comes svay (oo close to commencing on the Fifth
Amendment privilege root to testi§ and l think warrants sorz curative gtep,
either by counsel himselr, or by the Court, or both.

Tr. 4-14-2007, P.70-71.

Mr. Avery knosvs vvt'iere Teresa's pliane is, but Mr. A,very is also - - has the
ability to think ahead, )ias ilie ability Fo know that these pone records tnay, in
(act, be gleaned, or may, in fact, be reyiewed at some point in the future. And
so, although he doesn't block, because lhere is no reason to block the 4:35 call,
he still calls Teresa Halbach. And you cnn see, or you can ask for those records
ir you need to.

Tr. 4-14-2007, P.94, Lines s-14.

The State clearly argues that Avery had technical knowledge of investigation via

voicemail systems and that he l'iad created a plan to use the investigalive process the State ivould

employ as an alibi. Tliougli attorney Kratz docsn't actually stat this is "uncontested" his

phrasing is clear. Without having any foundation in the record to support his speculation tl'iat

Avery kncw how investigators "ask for those records" attorney Kratz made )iis assertion.
Defense counse! didn't object.

Asresy comends tltat tl'iis was a disjointed arid disguised contimiation of the Stat's cfrons

to implicate l'iis silence. Avery didn't have to prove his iiinocence. And he's not required :o

contest an)itliing. The State doesn't get to forma a conclusory argument around his silcncc.

More in'iportantly, the State cannot argue facts not in tl'ie record. 'A/liether Avery knew about a

S}ate iiivestigator's abi)ity to retrieve voiceinail wasn't established Tliis fact would be necessary

for Avery to form the alleged plan to create this "alibi." Only Avery could actually testify to his

knowledge. He l'iadn't take the stand arid attorney Kratz's argument was a clear implication of

I
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Avery's silence. A reasonable ')uror could llave found ?ha? AVer'J had premeditated the mtitdcr

I down to the last detail. The detail of an alibi.

l III. AVERY WAS DENIED HIS DUE PROCESS RIGHTS
UNDER THE UNITED STATES AND WISCONSIN
CONSTJTUTIONS TO A TRIAL BY AN UNBIASED
JUDGE

l

LEGAL STANDARD

Tbe Due Process Clause guarantees litigants an impartial judge, reflecting the principle
tkiat "no man is permitted to try cases where he has an interest in the outcome." In re
Murcliison, 349 U.S. 133, 1'36 (1955). Where the judge has a direct, personal substantial, or
pecuniary ixiterest, due process is violated. Erac)i v. Gramle)i, 520 u.s. 899 (1997); Aetyta Life
Ins. CO. v. Lttvoie, 475 U.S. 813, 825 (1986); Ward v. Moiiroeville, 409 U.S. 57, 60 (1972);
Tume)i v. Oliio, 273 U.S. 510, 523 (1927); Johnson v. Mississippi, 403 U.S. 212, 215-16 (1971);
In re Murcliison, 349 U.S. at 137-39.

It is presumed that j?idges are honest, upright individuals and that they rise above binsiiig
influences. Tuine2y, 273 u.s. at 532; Withrow v. Larkiii, 421 U.S 35, 47 (1975); Ta)ilor sr.
Hriyes, 418 U.S. 488, 501 (1974); Tezrtk p. United States, 256 F.3d 702, 718 (CA7 2001); Del
Vecdtio v. Illinois Dep't of Corr., 31 F.3d 1363, l375 (CA7 1994) (en banc). This picsimiptioi'i
however is rebuttable. Sometimes, "tl'ie influence is so strong that we may presume actual bias."
Del Veccliio, 31 F.3d at l 375; see also Withrow, 421 U.S. at 41. In rare cases, there may eyen
be evidence of actual bias. See Brnc)i, 520 U.S. at 905; Brac)i v. Sclioiiiig, 286 F.3d 406, 41 l
(CA7 2002) (en banc).

To prove disqualifying bias, a petitioner must offer either direct evidence of "a possit'ile
temptation so sever that we might presume air actual, substantial incen(iyie to be biased." Dcl
Vecchio, 3] F.3d at 1380. Absent a "'smokiiig g,un," a petitioner may rely on circun'is(aiiiial
evidence to prone the necessary bias. Brac)i, 286 F.3d at 41 l-12., 422 (Posne5 .i., concurring in
part. dissenting in park), and at 431 (Rovner, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part).

The absence of any objection warrants that the revicwing court follow "tbe nonl-i;11
procedure iii crimiiial cases," wliic)i "is to address mivcr wit)iin the rubric of tl'ie iiieffecti.ie
assistance o[ counsel." State sr. Ericksou, 227 Wis.2d 753 760 (1999) (citing Kimme!inaii v.

l
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Morrison, 477 u.s. 365, 314 (1986); Lockhart v. FretweJi, 506 u.s. 364, 380 n.6 (l')!-li
(Stevens, J. dissentiiig); State v. Siiiitli, 207 Wis. 2d 258, 237 ( 1997); State v. Vinson, 183 Wis.
2d 297, 306-07 (Ct. App. 1994)).

The right to counsel includes the right to effective assistance of counsel. , 466 U.S. 668
686 (citing McManix v- Richardwit, 397 u.s. 759, 771 n.l4). In order to find that cuunsel
rendered ineffective assistance, the defendant must show that counsel's representation iiaZ
deficient? Stricklaiid, 446 U.S. at 687. The deferidaiit must also show that he was prejudiced i>>
the deficient perfonnance. Id.

Counsel's conduct is constitutionally deficient if it &lls below an objective standard o1'
reasonableness. Id., at 688. The defendant nmst show that "there is a reasonable probability
that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have bccy;
different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in i}ic
outcome." Id., at 694.

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel can only be resolved with an evidauiary
hearing. State v. Macltner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804 (1979); Massaro v. Uiiited States, 538 U.S. 51)(l
(2003).

Wl'iere tbere is a structural error, such as judicial bias, harmless error analysis is
irrelevant. See Edwrtrds l!. Balisok, 520 u.s. 641, 647 (1997); Erac)2 286 Fjd a( 414;
Cartnlino v. Washington, 122 F.3d 8, 9-10 (CA7 1997).
.=tRGUMENT

The I-ionorable Judge Willis presided over kvery's trial process starting at his initial
appcarance and preliminary hearing arid ending with his sentcncing.l He also issued scverai
warrants in the case. At the preliminary hearing on Decen'iber 6'h, 2005 J?idge Willis determincd,
as a matter of fact, that tl'iere l'iad probably been a crime of murder and that Ave.ry probably
committed the crime. Tr. 12-06-2005, Pagcs 180-81. Avery argues that Judge Willis could r.ot
preside over the trial as he had already dctermined tbat Avery was guilty.

SCR 60.04(4) states in relevant liarl:

Except as provided in sub. (6) ror waiver, a judge shall recuse himself ...
in a proceeding where tlic facts arid circomstances the judge kriows or
reasonably should know estaLilish knowledge abou( judicial etl'iics
s(andards and llic justice systeri'i and aware' of lhe t'acts and

l

' Judgc Willis also presided over the post-conviction rclic( hearing and madc tlic ruling on thai reqriesl
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circums!ances the judge knosvs or reasonably should know would
reasonably question the judg,c's ability to be impartial:

(f) The judge, while a judge ... has made a public statement that
commits, or appears to commit, t}ie judge with ;espect to any of the
fol[owing:
1. An issue in the proceeding.
2. The controversy in thc proceeding.

In the preliminary hearing a judge is going further than making a finding of law. He is
deciding facts and expressing his opinion of those racts. He is making a public statement (llat
"commits, or appears to con'imit," him to an issue. That issue is tbe controyersy at the yery heart
of the charges. He is stating tbat he believes tl'iat 1) a crime has been a commit(ed arid 2) that the
defendant committed it.

Though it is true tl'iat the judge's detemiination is that there was merely probable cause
that Avery was guilty and not that he was guilty beyond a reasonably doubt, this is still a rhnshssp;
of fact and an opinion of the outcome of the dispute. As SCR 60.04(4)(f) and Wis. Stat. §
757.19 make clear judge Wil]is was required to recuse himself. This failiiig on his part tiegates
Avery's entire trial and requires a reversal.

The same sentiment was echoed ixi Frankiin it. McCaughtry, 398 F.3d 955 (CA7 2005)
We are not saying that due process would be offended if a j?idge
presiding over a case expresse'd a general opiiiion regarding a law at
issue iii a case Liefore him or her. Witlirow, 421 u.s. at 4(l-49; see De[
Vecchio, 31 F.3d at 1377 n.3. Tlie problem arises when the judge has
prejudged (lie facts or tl'ie outcome of uie dispute befoi'e her. In those
circumstances, the decisionmaker "caiinot render a decision t}iat
comports wit!i due process." nnrnii v. port of neriuinont'ntniigation
Dist. 07 Jeffer)i Counly Tex., 57 F.3d 436, 446 (CA5 1995); [citatioiis
oinittedi Here, the only iiifcrcncc that can be draivn rrom il'ie facts or
record is that Judge Scliroeder decided tlia! Frankliii was guilty before he
conducted Fraiiklin's trial. Tliis is clear violation of -Fraiiklin's due
process rigms.

Id., at 962. As with tlic judge in Frankliii, .iudge Willis was on i'ecord having decided the f"ac(s
and outcome. From that point forward (l'iere was 110 decision that Judge Willis could make tl:at
wo?ildn'( be colored by his prcconceived notion that Avery WFIS, in fact, guilty.

;l,:-SThe language found in Fraiik(in arid in SCR 60.04(4) combine to shout that Judge WiliisXi
was required to recuse himself. However, Avery ncsier objected to Judge Willis continuing to
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preside over iris trial. Therefore, Avery may havc to establish that tl'iis failure to request rccti:-al
or a change of sienue was the result of ineffective assistance of trial co?msel

Avery asserts that failure to request a change of venue or to request that Judge Wil!is
recuse himself fell below professionai norms. As Fraiikliit points out, vhen a "judge has
prej udged the facts or the outcome of the dispute before (himl" he "cannot render a decision t)iat
con'iports 'rvith due process."' Frai'tkliit, 398 F.3d at 962. Tl'iere is no reasonable strategy l!ia{
can be pointed to in allowing a trial to go forward under such circurnstaiices.

Avery also asserts that the resul( was that lie was prejudiced. As Frrtnk[in points oul.
"the only inference lhat can be drawn from the facts of record is that [the judgel decided Lhat
[Avery] was guilty before he conducted [Avery'sl trial." In such a situation prejudice is
presumed, as judicial bias is never open to harmless error analysis. Edwrtrds, 520 U.S. at 647;
Eracy, 286 F.3d at 414.

Avery also directs the Court's attention to Wis. Stat. § 971.05 which states in relevp.m
part:

i
i

l

If the defendant is charged with a felony, tl'ie arraignment may be in the
trial court or the coiiit which conducted the. preltminaty examination or
accepted the defei'idant's waiver of the preliminary examination.

Clearly the Wisconsin legislature noted that the "court which conducted the lircliinin:i.:y
examination" cannot be the trail court. The language of the statute clearly delineates (nc
difference belween the two courts with the word "or." (i.e.: ".. . the arraignment may be in tiic
trial cour( or the court which conducted the prelirriiiiaiy examination..." Id. (empbasis adde6)).
Jt is a "well-settled rule as to constmctioii of statutes requires every word to be given force if
possible..." Mltttlal 14e ff2s. CO. V. Collell, 179 U.S. 262, 269 (1900). rn Other wOrdS, CO?IIIS
are required wl'ierever possible, "to give force to each vgorr3 in cvery statute (or constittilional
provision). Uiiited States v. Mentzsche, 148'u.s. 528, 538-539, 99 I. Ed. 615, 75 S. Ci. 513
(1955); see Mrtrbury v. Madisan, s U.S. (l Crancli.) l?l7, 174, 2 L. Ed. 60 (1803)." Si!veira v.
Lockyer, 312 F.3d 1052, 1069 n.24 (CA9 2002).

Given that 3udge Willis had clearly put on record, as was intended in the judicial li;<iccti
of finding probable cause, that he believed !hat Avery was in fact guilty of the murder of l'c:cs.i
Halbacli there can be no way that Avery co?ild receive a fair (rail. Tliis clearly violated his ritic
proccss rights as Iaid out in both the Uiiited States and Wisconsin Constitutions. As a restill ire
)iad a structural defect that rernovcs any harmless error ai'ialysis fron'i the equation.

25
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In like fasl'iion to Franklin, Avery had a trial that violated due process. Therefore, tsvciy
respectfully requests that his conviction be overturned and a new trial wilh a judge thai has nol
already detemiined that lie is g'uilty preside.

Hovvever, Avery did fail to move for a change of venue or to request that judge Willis
tecuse hiniself- As a result of this ineffective assistance of counsel in failing lo make surh
motions or requests Avery requests an cvidentiary hearing under Stafe v. Macliner, to
supplement the record.

kve.ry further notes that his post-conviction counsel failed to raise the issue in his pc!i}ion
for post-conviction relief. Therefore, a Machner bearing is also necessary to establish if it ss:as
uru'easonable for his post-conviction counse] to fail to raise this issue and if this failuyc
prejudiced him.

IV. AVERY WAS DENIED HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE
UNITED STATES AND WISCONSIN CON-
STJTUTIONS TO A POST-CONVICTION HEARING
BY AN UNBIASED JUDGE

Iii like fashion to the obvious denial of his rig]its to a fair ai'id in'ipartial tribunal in Iiis
trial, Avcry was entitled to an unbiased judge iii his post-conviction relief proceedings. His
attorneys failed to request that judge Willis should have recused l'iimself or to request a change r+f
venue.

Ave.ry agaiii requests an evidentiary hearing under State v. Macliner, to show tiiat it
supplen'ient the record. This is also necessary to establish if it was unreasonable for his post-
coiiviction counsel to fail to raise this issue and if this failure prejudiced him.

V. AVERY WAS DENIED HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE
UNITED STATES AND WJSCONSIN CON-
STITUTIONS TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF
COUNSEL FOR 14AILURE TO SUPPRESS
EVIDENCE

LEGAL STANDARD

"The right of the people to be secure in tl'ieir persons, houses, papers, and effects, agairis?
unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be viola(ed, and no Warrants shall issue, bul tilion
probable cacise, s?ipportcd by Oatli or affirmation, arid particularly describing the place to ii0
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searched, and the persons or things to be seized." Fourth Ameiidmen( of the United Stalcs
I

l

Constitution.

In H'ilson v. Layne, 526 u.s. 603 (1999), the United States Supreme Court comnic:iien
on the history and content of the Fourth Amendment as follows:

lit 1604, an Englisli court made the now-famous observation that "the
house of every one is to him as his castle and fortress, as well for his
defence against injury arid violence, as for his repose." Semayne 's Case,
77 Eng. Rep. 194, s Co. 3ep. 91a, 91b, 195 (K.B.). In his Commentaiaias
on the Lmsis of England, Williain Blackstone noted that"the law of
Bnglaiid has so particular and tender a reg,ard to the immunity of a man's
house, that it stiles it }iis castle, and will never suffer it be violated with
impunity" agreeing herein with the sentiments of antient Rome .... For
this reason no doors can in general be broken open to execute any civil
process; tliougl'i, in criminal catises, fhe public safety supersedes the
private." William B)ackstone, 4 Commentaries on the Laws of England
223 (1765- 1769).

Id. at 609-10.

Tl'ie Fourth Amendment embodies this centuries-old principle or respect
for (lie priiiacy of the home: 'The right of khe people to be secure in his
persons, houses, papers, and e{Tects, against iinreasonable searches and
seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warraiits shall issue, bul upon
probable. ca?ise, supported by Oa(ii or affirmation, and particularly
describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be
seized." U.S. Const. Amend. [V (Emphasis added.) See also Uiifted
Smtes it. United Smtes IHstrtct Court, 407 u.s. 297, 313 (1972)
("Physical entry of the Iiome is the chief evil against which the ivording
or t}ie Fourt!i Amendment is Direcied").

i

l

Id.atGlO.

ARGUMENT

A. THE WARRANTS WERE 'VOID FOR LACK OF A COURT SEAL

Writs are required to have a sear of the court, pursuanl to Wis. Stat. § 753.04, and pub!ic
documents not under seal are riot self-authenticating, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 909.OQ(2); in turn,
those publIc documents under seal are self-autlientiacatmg. WIS- Stat. § 909-02(1). Because i)ie
uiarrant racks a seal it is riot a valid warrant.

Tliere is a long history in the tJnited States and in Wisconsin of using seals on warran:s,
In 1977 the Wisconsin Constitution was amended, removing tl'ie Constitutional provision iii
Arlicle VII § 17, req?iiring all writs and processes issued froii'i a co?irt to ha've a seal of the COuFt.
[n that same year Wis. Stat. §§ 753.04 arid 753.30 were enacted. Wis. Stat § 1S:3.04 Iays o+it

27
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tbe requiremem tt'iat writs have a seal of the court and Wis. Stat, § 753.30(3)l lays our the

procedure and ru!es for haiiing writs and processes sealed.

Indeed, the requirement that writs have seals has been in force since Wisconsixi bec rime a

state. The history of the lega! requirement is reflected in Letzs & McVitq v. Merriain, 132 !'.

s 10, s-6 (W.D. V.A. 1904), where the Court stated '!n !ns. Co. v. Hallock, 6 Wall. 556-558 173

U.S. 556 (1867)], it said: 'The authorities are unifomn that all process issuing from a court which

by law authenticates such process with its seal is void if issued without a sea!. Counsel ror

plaintiffs in e.rror bave not cited a single case to the contrary, nor have our own rcseawhes

discovered one."' And this reflects the thinking of the people of the state at the time iha?

Wisconsin adopted stateliood. That the Iegislature shifted the requirement from the constitution

to the slatutes does not remove t}ie requirement.

Furtlier, the Wisconsin State Constitution provides tl'iat common law is still in force,

uniess otherwise stated by law. Wis. Const. Article XIV JS) 13. And Wis. Stat, § 939.10

expressly points out that, thougb common law crimes are abolished, common law rules are

preserved. Tlie United States Supreme Court has pointed out that ". . . there was no settled rule

at common law invalidating warrants not under seal unless thc magistrate issuing fhe warrant had

a seal of office or a seal was required by statute ..." Starr v. [Jnited States, 153 U.S. 614, 619

(1894) (emphasis added). Wis. Stat. § 753.05 places a requirement for the Wisconsin Circuit

Courts to have seals. Fur(lier, Wis. Stat. § 889.08(1) points out that a "certificate must be undci

seal of the court" in order for it to be held as evidence outside of the court that issued it.

Tlie legislatiiie intent is (ound iii the pl'+rasing of Wis. Stat. § 753.04. Indeed, tlic

legislature selected to distinguish all writs iii general from writs of certiorari. Tlie firsl eieiiteiir.e

of the statute beg;ins wit!i tl'ie words "All ivrits ..." and the second sentence of the statute licgtiis

"Ali writs of certiorari ..." A searcl'i warrant l'ias classically been referred to as a "writ ot

assistance" (Black's law dic(ionary, 81" Edition at page 1641) and fal!s under the definition of

"writ" as laid out in Black's law dictionary, 8"' Edition at page 1640.

The plain language rcading of the statute requiiaes that "All writs issued from the circiiii

court shall be . . . sealed witb the seal of the court..." Shall is mcindatory Ianguagc, all wrils 7i:s3

have a seal of lhe court, and a search wart-ant is a writ.

T)iis is not an issue tlia( can te considered a siiigular incident. Tliis warrant cannot t)(

said to }iaiie a n'iere defect that doesn't affect Avery's righ(s. Jn the criminal case agaii'is( paila;lai
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i

there were scveral warrants thai had a seal of the court on it. Tlierefore, this isn't a form over
substance issue. This is a habitual ignoring of the well established law Federal common laiv and
State law that warrants that issue without a court seal are void. Avery asserts that on5/ if these
officers hadn't l'iabitually ignored the statutory and common law requirement that this isstic
would be without merit.

Further, similarly situated persons are afforded the statutory protections of the siaiuiniy
and common law requirements pointed to abosie iii the State of Wisconsin and urider long
standing common )aw as asserted by the United States Supreme Court. And Avcry has El right lo
protections created by state law under the Fourteenth's Ainendment's procedural Due Process
clause. By failing to follow the legal requirements for issuance of a search warram tri Wiscoiisin
Avery's equal protection and due process rights were violated.
B. THE WARRANTS WERE VOID BECAUSE THERE WAS NO RECORD

The warrants are defective because there is no indication that the affidavit was ever secn ,

l

by the issuing judge. The affidavit is witnessed by tl'ie actual prosecutor in the case, zi(lomc}

Ki'atz. Wis. Stat. § 968.23 gi'ves an example of all affidaVit for a warrallt. At the bottoln Oflhe

example the legislature took the time to p?it in lhe text "..., Judge of tl'ie ... Court." Clearly the

Iegislature saw that the United States Constitution requires that a neutral magistrate he

accounlab(y placed between the State and a defendant. Without a way of knowing that tlic

3udges were actually involved in the process of establishing probable cause the procedure svas

Doc. 702

iiivalid and the warrants are illegal.

In Fr(ttlks 17. Del(l}Vare, 43 8 U.S. 154 (1978), the Supreme Court recognized that tIle pic-
search proceeding was ex par(e and lhat a de[endant could cl'iallenge the information placed
before tl'ie court. Id. at 169. Holding an evidentiary proceediiig with the actual prosecutor
doesii't meet tl'ie mandates of the Coiistitution. Sec Coolidge, 403 U.S. at 450, 454-55; Johnson
v. United Sttites, 333 U.S. 10 (1948); Cainara ?i. Municipnl Court ofSan Francisco, 387 U.S.
523 (1967).

The affidavits ('or the search ivarrants act as the only record for tl'ie issuance of t!iesc
warrants. rii the present case the judges signed none of (lie affidavits tliercforc there is no rccoid
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that they saw them. In other uiords, therc is no record. And without a record, tltere is no court -if
record.

I

j

i

i

VI. AVERY WAS DENIED HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE
UNITED STATES AND WI8CONSIN CON-
STJTU'n(NS TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE O[l
COUNSEL FOR FAILURE TO ARGUE A BREAK IN
THE INTEGRITY OF THE STATE'S CHAIN OF
CUSTODY OF HIS AND Ic-IALBACH'S VEHICLE

LEGAL STANDARD

Physical evidence is admissible when the possibility of misidentification or alteration is
"eliminated, not absolutely but as a matter of reasonable probability." llnited States v. iiffen,
106 F.3d 695, 700 (CA6 1997) (citatioiis ornitted). Mercly raising the possibility of tampering or
misidentification is insufficient to render evidence ixiadn'iissible. United Smtes v. Kelly, 14 F.3d
1169, 1175 (CA7 1994).

"[T]he prosecution's chain-of-custody evidence must be adequate."' Urxited States v.
Ladd, 885 F.2d 954, 957 (CAI 1989). A break iii tl'ie chain of custody goes to the weight of the
evidence. United States v- Sparks, 2 F.3d 574, 582 (CA5 1993); United Stcttes v. Levy, 904 F.2d
1026, 1030 (CA6 1990), cext. denied, 498 U.S. 1091 (1991). Where there is no csiidcyicc
indicating that tampering with the exhibits occurred, courts presume p?iblic officers Iiavc
discharged their duties properly. United Stmes v. Aviles, 623 F.2d l 192, 1197-98 (CA7 1980).

All t)'ie government must show is that reasonable precautions were taken to preserve tire
origiiial condition of evidence; an adequate cliaiii of custody can be sl'iown even if all
possibili?ies o[ tampering are not excluded. Aviles, 623 F.2d at 1197. In Aviles, the Coiirl
concluded that since the seals ori the evidence bags were intake when the bags wcrc opened ;i5i
the cliemis( who would analyze the evidence, tbe trial court could reasonably fiiid that t!ie
narcotics evidence was in the same condition as when it was purciiased.
ARGUMENT

The seals on the doors to Avery's vcliicle were broken prior to beiiig taken to the criiiie
lab. Coiiversely, there were no seals placed on the doors or Halbach's Rav-4. Avery argues ti;ai
t)ie seals on the doors were either nonexistent or broken. Tl'iis shows that there was a break in

(he c)iaiii of custody tl'iat tl'ie jury should have been made aware o[.

l
i
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V}I AVERY WAS })ENIED EFFECTn/E ASSISTANCE
OF COIINSEL WHEN THE CHARGE OF FELON iN
POSSESSION OF A FIREARM W,kSN'T SEVERED

LEGAL STANDARD

l

I

Joinder is improper when the State joins a strong evidentiary case with a much io.oeakcr
case in hope. that cumulatioii of evidence will lead to conviction in both cases. Sandoval to.
Caldermt, 231 F.3d 1140 (CA9 2000).

llxe statutes governing joinder of crimes in Wisconsin state:
Wis. Stat. ! 971.12 Joinder of crimes arid derendants.

(l) JOINDER OF CRIMES. Tsvo or more crimes may be cl'iarged in the same complairit,
inrormation or indic(ment in a separale count from eac)i crime if the crimes charged,
whe(her felonies or misdemeanors+ or both, are ot' the san'ie or similar character or ye
based on the same act or transaction or on 2 or more casc or transactions connec}ed
together or constitution parts or a common sclieine or plan. Wlien a misdemeanor is
joined with a relony, the trial shall be in thc courl with jur!sdiciioii to lry the Felony.

(3) RELIEF FROM PREJUDIC?AL JOINDER. Ifii appears that a derendant or the state
is prejudiced by a joinder of criri'ies or defendams -in a complaim, inrormation or
indictment or by such joinder for trial together, the court may order separate trials or
courv, grant a severance of derendatits or ptov:de whatever other relief justice requ:res.
The district attoniey shaH advise the court prior to trial ir jhe dislrict ationiey intends to
usc (hc sta(emcnt of a codcfendant which implicateis an(her defendant in (he crime
charged. Tliereupon, the judge shall grant a severance as so any such defendant.

l

(4) TRIAL TOGETHER OF SEPARATE CHARGES. The court may order 2 or more
complaints, informations or indictmems to be tried iozether if the crimes and the
defendant, if there is more than one, could have been joined iii a single complaint,
information or indictment. l'lie proccdure shall be the same as if (he prosecution were
under such complaint, informalion or iiidictmenl?

Whether severance should be granled Iies within the discretion of the circuit court. Scc
Slate it. Nelson, 146 Wis. 2d 442 (19gg); Slate v. I[offinan, 106 Wis- 2d 185, 209 (1982)
(dealing with substantial prejudice).

ARGUMENT

When Avery was first arrested it was for the charge of Felon in Possession of a Fiicarrii
Eveiitually that charge expired due to a procedura] requirei'iient since the State failed to biiiiB
Avery to have a probable cause hearing inside the statutory tin'ie lin'iit. Avery was subsequcnily
cl'iarged with First Degree Intentional Homicide arid Mutilation of a Corpse. Event?ially the
S(ate recl'iarged the dismissed Feloii iii Possession of a Firearm charge and it was jot iij,1 (l
wi(hou! objection.
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At trial Avery stipulated to the element of being a felon. In so doing Avery introducccl
evidence against himself that would normally no( be introduced to a jury unless he took t!ie
stand. The 5ury svas then aware of the fact, by Avery's own admission, that he had becn
previously convicted of air "infamous crime."

Tlie joindering of this charge was unfair and should have been challenged.
VIII. AVERY WAS DENIED EFFECTI'VE ASSISTANCE

OF POST-CONV{CTtON COUNSEL WHEN THEY
FAILED TO ARGUE THAT HE WAS ENTITLED TO
A NEW TRIAL DUE TO RETROACTIVE
MISJOINDER

LEGAL STANDARD

stand.

Dismissal of some counts charged in the indictment does not automatically warraiil
reversal of conviclions reached on remaining counts. See Uiiited States v. Pelul!o, 14 F.3d 88] ,
897 (CA3 1994); United States v, Friedyiian, 845 F.2d 535, 581 (CA2 1988). The Wtswiisin
Coui't of Appeals stated the following concerniiig retroactive misjoinder, in State v. McCmire,
204 Wis. 2d 372, 380-81 (Ct. App. 1996):

We conclude (ha( where an appellate court has determined (hat conviction on
orie or more counts should be vacated, even if the defendan( tiiti no rrvave for
severance before the trial court, the defendant is entitled (o a new trial on (he
remaining counts ir the defcndnnt shocs compelling prejudice arising form the
evidence introduced to support the vacated coun(s. We adopt the threc-fac}or
analysis or lUnited Stafes 'u.'l Vebelitnms [, 76 F.3d 1283, 1293 (CA2 1996)} as
(he proper method ror making this determination.

l

l

l

f
i

l

l

l

i

l

l

l
j

Tlie three factors to de(eriniiie wlie(Iier ibere is prejudicial spillover are:
(l) Wliellier (he evidence intmdciced to sup1xirt the dismisscd coun! is or such an

inflammatory nalure thai it 'ivould Iiave rended to incite the jury to convict o!l the
remaining cOunt;

(z) The ae.gree or overiap lhe similari(y be(ween the evidence pertaining 10 the
dismissed count and thai pertaining to the remaining count; and

(3) Tl'ie strength of the case on the remaining count.

In United States v. Laiie, 474 U.S. 43 8, 449 (1986) the Uiiited States Supreme Court stated:
[A]n crror iiivolviiig misjoiridcr 'a(Tects stibstan}ial rigms" and rcquires rcversal
only ir (Iie riiisjoinder resul(s in ac!ual prejudice because it "liad subs}antial and
in3iir:ous cffcct or iiiflucncc in dctcrmiiiiiig the jury's verdict." Kotteakos l!
Uiriled Slrrtes, 328 u.s. 750 at 776 (1946).

In Uiiiled States v. Pigee, 197 F.:3d 870 at 891 (CA7 1999), }he court stated:
We reviesv the defeiidantas ciaim or misjoinder dc novo. See Uyiited States it.
Sill, 57 F.3d 553, 557 (CA7 1995). Howcver, "a rnisjoinder 'requires rcvcrsal
only if jlic inisjoindcr resuits in aciiial prejudice becausc it )iad substamial and i

l
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injurious effect or influcncc in determiniiig the 3ury's verdict.- unfted States +I.
Scliweilis, 971 F.2d !102, 1322 (CA7 1992), quo(ing UnitedStates v. Laiie, 474
u.s. 438, 449.

ARGUMENT

Tn t}ie present case Avery had been charged with nmtilation of a corpse. Tlie State s
contemion was that he destroyed the body of Halbacli to cover for his crime. But the State failed
to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt here. Nonetlieless, the State had presented evidetice
that supported this charge (hat could reasonably have influenced the jury to find Avery guilty 011
the cl'iarge he was convicted of. As a result, Avery is entitled to a new trial that is free of this
noncun'iulative evidence that prejudiced him.

IX. AVERY WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE
OF COUNSEL WHEN HIS ATTORNEYS FAILED
TO DEVELOP AN ARGUlViENT HASED ON
AVAILABLE INFORll4ATR)N THAT THE STATE
HAD PLANTED EVIDENCE

l
l

I

i

avers,r's defense attorneys failed to deve.lop evidence that the camera found in a burn
barrel on or near his property had been taken from on John Campion. Furtlier, that tl'ie tire tltat
was supposedly burnt iii the burn barrel couldn't have fit into that barrel. Finall2Y, that a ititib:r
tire burns too hot to leave the plastic components and the aluminun'i can seen in the cvidcncc
pictures in the form it was in. See Exhibits 4 throug,h 10.

Avery asserts that there is evidence available to show tl'iat this tire hadn't burnt the.
contents of the barrel- Most important is that a tire burns exceptionally ho[. The compiii;cii::i
and the can in the barrel would have been destroyed. Anyoiie whose burnt an aluminum can in a
cam):i fire knows that it becomes ash from a wood fire alone. The idea that a tire fire would do
less is absurd.

l'his opens up (he tinding of the "evideiice" to attack. Tlie State's contention bciiig a-
absurd, Mr. Campioii's story becomes plausible. See Exliibi(s 11 and 12. The Statc could easiiy
l'iave burnt t)ie phone and otl'ier evidence ai'id planLed it in the b?irn barrel.

As Avery had assetted the affirmative defense that )'ie was being fran'ied, it is 0111>
reasonable to present evidence and argument tha( the defense is valid.

l
l
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X. AVERY WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS BEC-AUSE
THE COURT WAS INCOMPETENT TO }-JEAR AN
APPOINTED SPECIAL PROSECUTOR

LEGAL STANDARD

A circuit courl has subject n'iatter jurisdiction, conferred by the state constitution, +o
consider and determine any type of action; have, failure to comply wit)i a statutory mandate iiiay
result in a loss of competency which can prevent a court from adjudicating a specific case tefore
it. State st K)iwanda F., 200 Wis.2d 26, 33 (1996).

Failure to comply with a statutory mandate may result in a loss of competency to procced
in a particular case. State v. Ztrnelli, 212 Wis. 2d 358, 365 (Ct. App. 1997). The Wisroiisin
Supreme Court has stated that a circuit court's "failure to follow plainly prescribed lii'occdtire
which we consider central .. . renders it iiicompetent.. ." Arreoht v. State, 199 Wis. 2d 426, 4dl
(Ct. App. 1996).

ARGUMENT

On April 201", 2006 judge Willis signed an Appointinent of Special Prosecutor under
Chapter 978 to allow attorney Thomas J. Fallon to act as special'prosecutor on the case. Sce
Exhibit 13. The "OATH TO CONSENT TO SERVE" was not siBned by attorney Falloi'i.
Tlicrerore, the court was not competent to hear him under law. Avery's conviction must be
overturned as this violated his procedural due process rights. Fai}ure to object or otherwise taisc
this issue was due to ineffective assistance of counsel. Failuxe to raise the ineffective assislaiice

of coi.msel issue was due to ineffective assistance of post coiiviciion counsel.
Xl. AVERY WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS AND HIS

SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO HAVE AN
UNBIASED JURY

LEGAL STANDARD

Under the United States Conslitution a criminal defendant iii a state court is zuaraiiteccl
an impartial jury by the Sixth Amcndment as applied to llie states through the Fouriceriili
An'icndinent. Duricnn v. Louisiana, 391 u.s. 145 (1968); Ristaino v. Ross, 424 U.S. 589, 595
1976); Jrviit v. Dospd, 366 u.s. 717, 722 (1961)- Principles of di?ie process alos guarantee a
defendant a fair trial by a panel of impattial 3urors. Iii Wiscoiisin a defendant is entitled to a li i.il
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by an impartial '3ury as a matter of state constitutional Iaw under Sec 7, art. 1 of the Wisconsin
Constitution.

Wis. Stat. § 805.08 (l) states in relevant part:
Qualifications, examina(ion. The court shall examine on oath each person who
is called as a juror to discovcr wither the jiiror is related by blood or 'marriage (o
any party or to all7 attorney appeariiig in the case, or has any financial interest in
lhe case, or has expressed or'formed any opinion, or is asvare of any bias or
prejudice in the case. [f a 3uror is riol indifferent tri the casc, the 3uror shall be
excused.

i

l

l
l
l

l

ARGUMENT

A. A JURY FROM MANITOWOC COUNTY HAS A PRESUMPTIVE F[NANClAL
IN'rEREST IN THE OUTCOME

Ave.ry had a multi-million dollar lawsuit pending against Manitowoc County at the limc
tl'iat he was c}iarged and brought to trial. The people of the county, who made up the jury thai
judged him, were liable to hin'i if }ie won. Arguably, he was in an excellent posifion to do just
that. His suit focused on the wrongful acts of law enforcement that were discoiiered due to tlic
efforts of the iiinocent Project and revealed tl'iat his DNA did siot match what was found on the
victin'i.

Ultimately, the people of Maiiitowoc County would be forced to pony up for the wrong
that was done to Avexy. It may be, true that their insurance would cover some or even all of the
dan'iages that Avery would have been awarded, however, that wouldn't mean that the people of
the county wouldn't have been frec of a financial hurt- Indeed, whatever isn't covered by thc

Count)ls insurance wotild have becn paid directly from the County itself. Further, the iiisuraiicc
rates would have gone up. The jury was composed of a group of twelve persons with a direct
financial interest in the outcome. The jury's bias is evident and the case must be ovcrt?irned.

Failure to raise and argue this issue was due to ineffective assistance of counsel. Faihire
to raise tl'ie ineffective assistancc of counsel issue was due to failure of post-conviction counsel.
B. .mROR WARDMAN SI{OULD I-IAVE BEEN STRUCK FOR CAUSE.

Juror Wardmaii was a iiolui'i(eer with tl'ie Maiiitowoc County BlicrifTs Department ziiid

his son was a sergeant with the department as welt. This connection statutorily precluded him
from being a juror. Failure to n-rove (o strike him for cause was due to ineffective assistance of
counsel. Failure to raise thc ineffcctive assistance of counsel issue was due to failure of poti-
coiiviction courisel.

C. JUROR MOHR SHOULD HAVE BEEN STRUCK FOR CAUSE.

Doc. 702 35
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Juror Mohr was married to the temporary Clerk of Court called in to relieve the svork

load created by Ave,ry's trial. There was a great deal of concern on tl'ie part of the Statc

concerning the irnplicatioiis of' maintaining this person as a juror. In particular, the State ivas

concerned that juror Mohr's participation would cause the case to be overturned due to his

probable sympathy or additional knowledge of tl'ie inner workings of the Clerk of Court's ofl;cc.

The defense argued [or maintaining 3uror Mohr despite the fact that he was acquainted with

nearly every person that worked in tl'ie office.

Tliere was also concerns that juror Mohr's wife had volunteered information coucesriin)5

her personal knowledge of the vial of blood found in the Clerk's office. It should be rioted thai

the fact that juror Mohr's wife had volunteered any such infonnation is indica(ive of her ip.al>ility

to remain tight lipped concerning personal knowledge of evidence cven when her husband is a

juror. Furilier, it seen"is clear that the Mohr couple were lackiiig in the needed ethical bouidaties

that a Cletk of Court and a juror would l'iave to have. Be it because they are just an open cou)ilc

that freely speak or there is a dysfunctional and unhealthy lack of proper boundaries is irrelevant.

For whatever rcason Mrs. Mohr had shared information that was relevant to the outcome of ttii!-

case.

Under t!'ie circumstances, it is clear that 5uror Molir had personal relationships tvii{i

several persons that worked in the Clerk of Court's office. The fact that they were nicrely

acquaintances is irrelevant, given lha? his wife clearly spokc freely of her exposure to sensitive

evidence. It is reasonable to infer f'i'om this tiiat shc also spoke about her coworkers in a positivc

Iigizt. Further, juror Mohr would be inclined to view them in a positive light rcgardless giv:ii

that they must be persons of the same general personali(y as his wife. In other words, he ivi.itikl

be inclined, as people are, to grant them deference by association. This was not explored i'icar!y

enough. And both the State arid the judge sharcd reservations concerning keeping juror Moly ror
trial.

I

l
l

l

l
l

Failurc to agree to strike )iim for ca;isc was due (o ineffective assistance r+f cnuiis::1.

Failurc to raise the ineffective assistance of counsel issue was dire to failure o[ post-cnitviclion

counsel.

D. JUROR TEMME SHOULD HAVE BEEN STRUCK FOR CAUSE.

Juror Temme had a professional relationship with Manitowoc County District Atlorri:y

Rolirer and Manitowoc Counly C)erk of Couri Lynii Zigmunt. Sl'ie had worked as a le2iil

l
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assistant some ycars e:arlier with them, knew them on a first namc basis, and felt that she coiild

casually engage in conversation with them at any mon'ient. Under these circumstances -hc
should have been struck for cause.

Juror Temn'ie was very clear that she believed that law enforcement officers ate lesy.

likely to lie under oath thai'i other persons. Indeed, she believed that they are inherently Ili!lfe
honest than other persons and always be honest in their answers. She also was clear tha} tlicrc
vtere no circumstances under which tl'iey would riot be honest, in l'ier uiind.

In this juror's mind law enforcement officials are inherently "upstanding." She had a
personal relationship with persons who work in the justice system. Her feelings and beliefs iietc
unlikely to be overcome by a iury instri.iction, no n'iatter wlbat her answier was. Persoiial beF+:t.i
such as these are not fair or impartial. They don't protect a crin'iinal defendant's constitutional
rights to an unbiased jury.

Failure to agree to strike him for cause was due to ineffective assistance of counscl.
Failurc to raise the iiieffective assistance of counsel issue was due to failure of post-com%rtiori
counsel.

E. JUROR NELESEN SHOULD HAVE BEEN STRUCK FOR CAUSE.

Jtiror Nelesen had a bias toward t)ie State. He stated that he would be reluctant not to

consider Asrery's decision riot to lestify as the Court wouJd instruct him. Tliat is, he would vi0s*,-
the right not to take the stand as an indication of Built.

Further, lie stated tiiat lie believed that law enforcement was less likely to lie under tiadi

than otlicr persons. Despite the fact that juror Ne]esen eventually s(ated that he would try to
vievv officers as just as !ikely to lie as anyone else, his initial reaction is srery tellinB. He, in iBy:s,
has a fi'iend who is a law enforcemenl officer. He already believed that a criminal dcicndan!
who wouldn't take the sland was (rying to bide something. And he was also biased toward liiv
enforcement officers as inherently more lioiiest under oalh t)ian the asierage person.

Fiiially, this juror expected Avcry to show who the acttial killer was in this case. ,%-.
noted by the courl, Avery has no such burden under law. But this juror not only believed ;:i4t
law enforcement was more honest than most people but that they make less n"iistakes. This is
evident iii that tl'iis juror expccted Ave.ry to present more than jus( evidence of his ai!iiai
innocence, lie expected Avery to prove who the actual killei' was. Tliis bias, in conjunction tvit!i
other biasing considerations no(ed herein, work to shosv that this juror was in fac( a pro I.iw
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enforcement person who very much believes that when a person is accused by law enforcement
he is more than just probably guilty. His personal philosophy was unlikely to be overcomc by a
jury iiistruction no matter what he said. It is clear by the shear xmn'iber of biasing influences )'c
spoke of that he had deepl)i rooted feelings on these issues. Under such circumstances, thc
presumption that a 5uror will follow a court's instructions should have been considei'ed rebutted.

Failure to mosie to strike hin'i for ca?ise was due to ineffective assis(ance of coiiiisel

Failure to raise the ineffective assistat'ice of counsel issue was due to failure of post-corrvictio*
counsel.

CONCLUSION

For the forgoing reasons Avery respectfully requests that this Honorable Court grant h5q
tbe relief requested.

Respectfully submitted this iaay of. E
jf,?-4ivi /?(t-(:;ry,t,6
Steven Asrery # 122987
Wiscoiisin Secure Program FacFlity
p.o. Box 9900

1101 Morrison Dr.

Boscobel, 'Wl 53805

:ruary, 2{)73 .
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l
I CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify and state under penalty of pex5ury that on this day
I served a copy of the within
MOTION FOR RELIEF PURSUANT TO WIS, STAT 'g3 974.06 on the plaintiff
at the aeiaress listed below, by way of prepaid first class mail;

I

District Attorney Mark Rohrer,
o/o Manitowoc County District Ateorney's Office
325 Courthouse

1010 South 8 th Street

Manitowoi:, WIS. 54220

l

I
l Dated l{'13

.jZle'Zxaa C;!,:?y
os'te"ven"Ave"ry';1-'229"?87 X
Wisconsin Secure ?rogram Facility
P.O. Box 9900
1101 Mi':irrison Dr.
Bossobel, Wis- 53805

l
l

I
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STATE OF W[SCONSIN

STATE OF WiSCONSJN,
Plaintiff,

CIRCUIT COURT MANiTOIVOC COUN-lY

V.

I STEVEN AVERY,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPF,N'DIX TO DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S
MOTION FOR RELIEF PURSUANT TO WIS. STAT § 974.06

I
l

i

MANlTOljJOC C!JUNiY
S'rn'rF'c.r'.';'=':O'i';I?l

F i L- 7 D

FEB i 4 2013

CLERK OF CiRCUlT WUrtT
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EXHIBIT LIST

EXHIBIT NUMBER

1

:)

3

4

s

6

7

B

9

10

11

12

13

EXHIBIT DESCRIPTION

t4emorandum from Conrad Baetz to defense a'l:orneYs
Jail Inquiry concerning jail workers observing
defense

Memo from Sheriff Pagel concerning Exhibit 3
Picture of burn barrel from distance
Picture of burn barrel with tire rim
PicLure of burn barrel with tire rim

Picture of edge of tire rim
Picture of contents of burn barrel
Picture of contents of burn barrel

Pict:ux-e of contents of burn barrel

E-mail to Baetz about Mr- Campion
E-mail from Baetz about Mr. Campion
Chapter 978 from

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

Personnel. Cornmitee October 10, 2006',: 9]DOam
Juror Wife Moho

Excused Juror March 16, 2007, 2 pages
Right doors no evidence tape on
Rear Cargo Door no evidence tape on
Left DooE no evidence tape on
Left Door no evidence tape on
Right Door no evidence tape on
Front Hood no evidence tape on
Front Hood no evidence tape on
Dark cant see

No evidence tape on Vehicle
Dark cant see Time 17j38:15 on 2005-11-s

Dark cant see no evidence tape on Vehicle

27

28

29

30

My car Hood Seal Bro'ken
Trunk lid Seal Broken

M§htDDoor;.isggo6@",,8eal
Left Door is Btoken Seal
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COURT OF APPEALS
DECIEJON

DATED AND FILED

July 28, 2021

Sliella T. Rciff

Clerk or Courl or API)I!111!l

NOTICE

This opinion is siibject to rurther edjting. u
published, (hc orflcial versIon iiill appiiar in
lho buund volume or the Offieliil Reports.

A piir(y may fIle w;lh lhe Suprane Court a
pc(ition lo rev!esv tin ntlvcrse deeision by Ihc
Cuurl or Ap(ieols. Sec Wl!1. STAT. 81 gu8.l0
nnd RULE 809.62.

Appeal No. 2017AP2288-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN

Cir. Ct. No. 200SCF 381

IN COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT n

STATE OF WISCONS[N,

Pr,hmrxpp-R?upoznrqr,

V.

STEVEN A. AVERY,

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT.

APPFsA?L from orders of the circuit court for Manitowoc County:

ANGELA W. SUTKIEWICZ, Judge. Affirmed.

Before Neubauer, c..r., Reilly, P.J., and Davis, J.

Per curiam oliinions may xiot be citcd iii any cour( of this sta€e as pi'ccedent

or authority, except for thc limited purposes speciiicd Sss Wss. Sarhr. RU[.E 809.23(3).
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'l[l PER CURIAM. In 2007, following a jury trial, Steven A. Aver).o

was convicted of first-degree intentional homicide, party to the crime, aiitl

possession of a firearm by a felon. We affirmed his convictions on appeal. hie

issues in this new case concern collateral proceedings: wl'iether the circuit court

erred in denying Avesy's WIS. STAT. § 974.06 (2019-20)' rnoiion and two

supplemental motions without a hearing, as well as his motions to vacate and for

rceonsidaravion of the first of these motions. We hold that Avery's § 974.06

motions are insufficient on their face to entitle him to a hearing and that the circui(

coiut did not erroneously exercise its discretion in denying tt"ie motions to vacatc

and for reconsidetation. Accordingly, we affirm.

OVERVIEW

'H2 We previously summarized the facts of this case in our decision on

Avery's direct appeal, see State v. Avery, 2011 WI App 124, 337 Wis. 2d 351, 804

N.W.2d 216, and we will discuss below those facts relevant to his collateral attack

on his conviction. But for context, this case began in ear}y November 2005 with

the disappearance of Theresa Halbach, a twenty-five-year-old professional

photographer. Volunteer searchers found Halbacli's RAV4 on the forty-acre siic

of Avery's Auto Salvage, a salvage yard business where Avery and other family

members Iived and worked. It was believed that Halbach had photoBraphed

vehicles at this site several days earlier, per Avery's request. According to Staic

witness Bobby Dassey, Halbacl'i was last seen walking towards Ave.ry's trailer.

' A)l references to tlic Wisconsin Staiutes are to the 2019-20 vei-sion unless ntherwiie
noted.

2
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![3 After finding the ]RAV4, police searched the Ave.ry property antI

over the course of the next four months, discovered and identified eyidcnc.e

including: burned bone fragments in and around a burn pit, with DNA maiciiiiig

Halbach's; both Avery's and Halbach's blood in the RAV4; the rermiants of

electronic devices and a camera, the same models as Halbach's, in a burn barrel:

Halbacli's RAV4 key in Avery's bedroom, with Avery's DNA on it; Avery's

DNA on the hood latch of the RAV4 (deposited, the State later claimed, by

kvery's sweaty hands); micl a bullet and bullet fragments in Ave,ry's garage,

containing Halbach's DNA.

'{4 The case was tried over a five week period in February and March of

2007. The State's theory was that Avery shot Halbach in the head, in his garage,

and threw her in the cargo area of the RAV4. He ilien burned the electronics arid

camera, cremated Halbach in a burn pit, transferred the remains to a burn battel,

and hid the RAV4 until he could crus)i it in the Avery car cmsher. The de['ense

argued that law enforcement was biased against Avery, who was pursuing a

wrongful conviction lawsuit against Manitowoc County and the Sheriff's

Department," and, as a result, planted evidence implicating A'very. The real killer,

the defense argued, took advantage of this "investigative bias" to also plarit

evidence on the Avery property, once early media publicity made it clear tlirit

Avery was a key suspect.

'[5 The jury found Ayrory guilty of first-degree intentional homicide and

felon in possession of a firearm. Avery received a life sentence without ths

2 Avery was wrongfully convicted of a 1985 sexual assault and was exonerated in 2n(i3
on (he basis of DNA evidence linking the crime FO anofher person.

3
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possibility of extended supervision. In 2009, Avery commenced his direct appeal

by filing a motion for postconviction relief, pursuant to WIS. STAT. § 914.02,

requesting a new trial. Tliat motion was denied, Avery appealed, and this court

affirmed in the tifore?m6,yiiiri7r=6 decision. See Avery, 337 Wis. 2d 351, 'N3.

'H6 In 2013, Avery filed a pro se Wrs. STAT. '§ 974.06 motion (the 2013

motion), requesting a new trial. That motion was denied, and Ate,ry appealed.

That appeal was stayed and later dismissed on Avery's motion, shortly after he

initiated the postconviction proceedings that are the subject of this appeal. In

2017, Avery filed the first of the six motions that are the subject of this appeal.3

These motions will be analyzed individually, with further discussion of relevant

law, but some basic principJes apply generally.

'J[7 WISCONSIN STAT. § 974.06 provides a mechanism for vacating.

setting aside, or correcting a sentence once the time for direct appeal has passed.

on constitutional or jurisdictional grounds or where "the sentence was in excess or

the maximum authorized by law or is otherwise subject to collateral attack "

Sec. 974.06(1); State v. Romero-Georgana, 2014 WI83, ']'[32, 360 Wis. 2d 522,

849 N.W.2d 668. Section 974.06(4:),4 however, creates a procedural barrier to

3 Avery's appeal is from two orders: the circuit co?ir('s October 3, 2017 order dciiyiiiB
his June 2017 postconviction motion and thc court's November 28, 2017 order denyiiig his
motions to vacatc and for reconsideration of the June 2017 m0ti0n. We address these as )Vtollolli

#1 tlirougli #3. After filing his appeal, Avery moved to supplement the appellate record, and to
slay the appeal arid rei'iiand, in two separate motions. Wc retained jurisdiction and directed Avei y
to raise his claims to the circuit coiirl in [lic form of supplemental postconviction motions. W-
address these as Motions #4 and #5. Tn April 2021, Avery filed a motion to this court to stay his
appeal and t-ernand. We haYe not 7et acted on (liat motion, so we address and decide it as MO!ioii
#6.

4 Jn full, W[S. STAT. 'g 974.06(4) sia(es:

(contihiicei

4
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review, in that it requires the defendant to raise all gro?inds for relief in his or her

first (postconviction or appeltate) motion. State so. Barriette, 2011 WT 79, 'l[%35-36,

336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334. Thus, a defendant is normally barred from

raising issues in a § 974.06 motion that were oi' cotdd have been raised on direct

appeal or in a previous 83 914.06 motion. State v. Es<:tdoym-Naraitjo, 185 Wis. 2d

168, 181-82, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994). An exception to this role exists where the

defendant can show a "sufficient reason" for not raising the issue in any prior

postconviction proceeding. Id.; 83 974.06; Roszxero-rscrirgam, 360 Wis. 2d 522,

'l['J[48-50.

'l{8 Where, as here, a defendant appeals the circuit court's denial of a

WIS. STAT. e) 974.06 motion without an evidentiary hearing, then the questior,

be.fore us is narrow: whefher remand for a hearing is warranted because the circui;

court erred in denying the motion on its face. See Balliette, 336 Wis. 2d 358, '1138.

Pursuant to § 974.06(3)(e), the court shaJl "[glrant a prompt hearing" unless 'lhe.

motion and the files and records of the action conclusively show that tlic

[defendant] is entitled to no relief." Our supreme court has also detertnined,

iiowever, that a baseline level of spccificity applies to all postconviction motions,

including those under f3 974.06. See Balliette, 336 Wis. 2d 358, %'J[42-43, 58-59

Thus, in order for the reviewing court to meaningfully assess the claim, the

All grounds for relief available to a person under this section
must be raised in [the defendant'sl original, supplemental or
amended motion. Any grotind finally adjudicated or not so
raised, or knowingly, volun(arily and in(elligently waived in the
proceeding that resulted in lhc conviclion or sentence or in any
6ther proceeding the pcrson has takcn to secure relief may not be
the basis for a subsequent motion, unless tl'ie court finds a ground
for relief asserted which for sufficient reason was not asser(ed or

was inadeqiialaly raised in the oi'iginal, supplemenLal or
amended mo(ion.

s
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defendant mus} allege "sufficient material facts-e.g., who, what, where, when.

why, and how-that, if true, would entitle [the defendantl to the relief he [or she]

seelcs." State V. (John) Allen, 2004 WI 106, ']['J[2, 23, 274 Wis- 2d 568, 682

N.W.2d 433; Romero-Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, 'l[37. This requirement

promotes finality once the defendant has been convicted and senteuced.

"minimize[s] time-consuming postconviction hearings unless tl'iere is a clearly

articulated justification for them," and recognizes that "the pleading and proor

burdens ... have shifted to the defendant in most situations after conviction."

Balliette, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 'l['l[53, 58. Accordingly, in the context of a § 974.06

motion, the defendant must describe, with specificity, his or her "sufficien!

reason" for failing to raise the claim in any earlier prnccecjirig-iliat is, t!>e

defendant must show why his or her claim is not procedurally barred under !'

974.06(4).5 See Romero-Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, '{37.

N9 We will further discuss some of the contours of this "sufficicnt

reason" exception below, but one point bears incntioning here: ineffective

assistance of postconviction counsel can be., and often is, cited as the reason fot

the defendant's not bringing some claim on direct appeal. The specificity

requirement, l'iowever, applies just as nmcl'i in this context. The defendant cannct

merely present legal concl?isions, summarily arguing that postconviction counsel

was ineffective for failing to bring the claims l'ie or she now views as meritorious.

Id., ']['3[36, 42. Tnstead, to be entitled to a hearing, the defendant must raisc

sufficient material facts demonstrating prior counsel's ineffectiveness-that is,

s 0f corirse, a defendant is not required to do so when there has been no pricii
postconviction proceeding. See State +i. Romero-Geor.gana, 2014 W183, !35, 360 Wis. 2d 522,
849 N.W.2d 6(58

6
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that counsel was constitutionally deficient and that such performance was
prejudicial to the de,fendant. Id.,'}%37-39, 56; see Stricldand v. Washingtoit, 46a
U.S. 668, 687 (1984). Importantly, to show deficiency in this contexI the
defe.ndant must allege. sufficient facts showing that his or her riew claim is "clearly
stronger" than the claims postconviction counsel in f'act broiiglit. Romero-

Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, 'N'J[45-46.

%10 Whethe.r the circuit court erred in not ordering a hearing irrvolves

two potemial inquiries, with separate standards of review. The circuit court rmrsr
hold a hearing wfiere the motion is sufficient on its face, unless the record as a

wl'iole otherwise conclusively demonstrates tha( the defendant is not entitled to
relief. Balliette, 336 Wis. 2d 358, !!18, 50; State !. Hosvell, 2007 WI75, !!75-77
& n.5 1, 30 L Wis. 2d 350, 734 N.W.2d 48. Whether a WIS. STAT. !§ 974.06 motiori

meets this standard-including whether there is a "sufficient reason" ror

o'vercoming the procedural bar of Escalona-Naranjo-is a question of law that we

review de novo. ]{niuero-Gcorgaua, 360 Wis. 2d 522, 'J[30. If, on the other hand,

the motion does not raise sufficient facts, "or presents only conclusory aJlegations,

or if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled I0

relief," then the circuit court has the discretion to grant or deny a hearing.

Balliette, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 'J[18 (quoting John AlLen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, '][9). Tii
such case, we review for an erroneous exercise of discretion. Romero-Georgwn,

360 Wis. 2d 522, '][30.

MOTION #1: JUNE 2017 MOTION

'l[ll In August 2016, Avery, now represented by counsel, brought a

motion for postconviction scientific testing. In No'vember 2016, the circuit court

grarited tlte motion, peimittiiig Avei-y to conduct independent testing of nine trial
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exhibits: seven samples of bloodstain cuttings, swabs, or blood flakes taken froui

Halbach's RAV4; Halbacli's RAV4 key; and a 1996 sample of Avery's blood.

%l2 Based largely on the results of this testing and other iiivestig;'i(ioiis,

Avery filed a WIS. STAT. !:) 974.06 motion in June 2017 (the June 2017 motion),

requesting a new trial. His motion raises a number of claims" falling into thrcc

categories for purposes of overcoming the Escalow-i'!Tttrattjo procedural bar.

First, Avery alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to ful)y

investigate, or present expert testimony in support of, l'iis theory that he was

framed. Second, he brings several claims based on alleged Brady7 violations

Third, he raises claims based on the results of new investigations of a bullet, ihc

hood latch swab of the RAV4, and the RAV4 key, all of which he characterizes F}S

newly discovered evidence.

'H13 The circuit court found that n'iost of the.se claims were procedurally

barred under Escalona-Naranjo bccause Avery had not alleged a "suficient

reason" for not raising them in his 2013 motion or on direct appeal. See

Escalona-Naranjo, 185 Wis. 2d at 181-82. The court furtl'ier held that the claims

based on a'new scientific tests," when considered in the context of the full recor6,

did not a]lege sufficient facts tl'iat, if true, would entitle Avery to relief. See

Romero-Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, 'l?37. The court noted that the new repor(s ori

6 Avery reframes some of these claims and arguments on appeal, but ollr review is of lIl(-
sufficiency of the undetlying motiori. We analyze that motion on its face, deeming new or newiy
argued issues Forfcited. See State +i. Huebner, 2000 Wl 59, !'1110-12 & n.2, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611
N.W.2d 727. lr+ addition, some of Avery's claims, s?ich as his allegations of prosccii)orial
misconduct, are not rencwed on appeal; these we deem abandoned and will not discuss. See A.(1.
Smith Corp. v. ALlsbatc ]ns. Cos. , 222 Wis. 2d 475, 491, 588 N.W.2d 285 (Ct. App. 1998). Tlietc
principles apply to our analyses of Avery's subsequent motions.

' Erady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

8
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the bullet, hood latch swab, and lcey were "eq?iivocal in their eonclusions" t".iid

"ambiguot?ts"; therefore, given "the totality of evidence submitted at trial ... it

cannot be said that a reasonable probability exisrs that a different result would bc

reached at a new trial based on these reports." Accordingly, the court deiiieti

Avery's motion without a hearing.

'l[l4 We review the sufficiency of this motion de novo; if we determine

that Avery was not entitled to a hearing as a matter of law, we then re'view the

circuit court's decision to deny him a hearing for an erroneous exercise of

discretion. See id., '0030. The first, thresbold step in this analysis is determining

whetl'ier Avery has stated a sufficient reason for not raising these claims in his

2013 motion and on direct appeal.

Ineffective Assistance of Trial Counsel

'J[15 kve.ry's claims relating to ineffective assistance of trial counsel are

not-and cannot-ba based on new or newly disclosed evidence unavailable to

trial counsel. By definition, these claims are based on alleged errors of Iria!

counsel, the argument being that Avery was thereby denied his constitutional rig)it

to counsel. As with any WIS. STAT. el974.06 claim, Asiery must show that tlieie

was a "sufficient reason" that these claims were not raised on direct appeal and iii

his 2013 pro se motion. See Escakma-Naraz4o, 185 Wis. 2d at 181-82. And !o

estabLish a "sufficient reason" for not raising ineffective assistance of trial counsc.l

claims on direct appeal, Ayery must show that his new claims arc "clearly

stronger" tl'ian the claims postconviction counsel actually lyrought. See Romero-

Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, %%45-46.

'l[l6 We begin by considering wl-ietl'ier Avery Iias shown a s?ifficieiit

reason for not having raised these claims in his 2013 pro se petition. We then (urn

9
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to whether Avery has shown a sufficient reason for not raising these claims on

direct appeal. I? is at this lioint that the Escalona-Narar0o analysis dovetails witl'i

the merits of Avery's ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims, because if his

new claims are facially insufficient as a matter of law, then postconviction counsel

cannot have been ineffective for failiiig to raise them on direct appeal. Therefore,

after we analyze the potential procedural bar of the 2013 petition, we turn dirccll y

to whether Avery's remaining claims demonstrate a reasonable probability (hat,

but for trial counsel's unprofessional errors, he would not have been convicted at

trial. See Stricklartd, 466 U.S. at 694.

Sufficient reason for failure to raise the dgims iri? the 2013 motion

'N17 As a starting point, although Avery may argue ineffective assistance

of postconviction counsel as a sufficient reason for not raising these claims on

direct appeal, that argument is not available to excuse failings in his 2013 motion

That is because Ave.ry did not have a constitutional right to counsel following his

direct appeal. As our supreme court recentIy observed, there is no cons(ilutiottal

right to counscl on a collateral attack and, consequently, the "vast majority" of

WIS. STAT. 83 974.06 motions are filed by pro se litigants. See State ex rel. Wreri

v. Richardson, 2019 WI 110, 'l[27 & n.21, 389 Wis. 2d 516, 936 N.W.2d 587. Tl'ie

exception would swallow the rule if the mere assertion of pro se status wcie

sufficient to overcome the procedural barrier of Escalona-Naranjo. This 'egal

point precludes successive postconviction motions from turning into somethiii2)

akin to Russian nesting dotls, wtierein a litigarit caxi simply allege a continuous

series of ineffective assistance of counsel claims to justify previous faiitires ti.

raise an issue. Instead, where there are successive § 974.06 motions, any nev.

motion must be based on something other than ineffective assistance or

postconviction counsel.
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'}[18 Avery appears to recognize this point, foregoing any claim based on

the mere fact that he was without counsel. Nonetheless, his June 2017 inoncu

largely focuse.s on the quality of his self-representation, providiryg the following

justification for not raising any of his current claims in his pro se 2013 motion:

[N]umerous unique circumstances are present here that
provide sufficient reasons the current claims were noL
previously presented. Mr. Avery had no way of knowing
the factual and legal basis [forl the claims set forth herein.
As a learning disabled, indigent prisoner, Mr. Avery simply
could not have known them. T-Iis ntternpL to file a
meritorious pleading was thwarted by his lack of lega)
knowledge.

The cuxarent motion is the product of over a thousand hours
of attorney time, hundreds of hours expended by private
investigators, numerous consultations with experts, the
e.xpenditure of funds to retain those experts, and more. TO
expect an indigent prisoner acting pi-o se to compile a
meritorious motion under these circumstances would be

unreasonable. Mr. Avery's lack of legal knowledge,
cognitive deficiencies and the complexity of this unique
case provide tl'ie sufficient reason that the current claims
should be addressed on the merits.

Thus, we construe Avery to offer six (somewliat overlapping) explanations thaI.

taken togetl'ier, might provide a sufficient reason for not raising his claims in 2013:

(l) he was unaware of the Iegal basis for the claims, (2) he was unaware of i)ie

factual basis for the claims, (3) he was acting pro se, (4) he was indigent, (5) hc

has a learning disability, and (6) this case is particularly complex.

'l[l9 These explanations do not justify Avery's failure to bring thc

majority of his claims. Again, the quality of Avery's representation in his prior

motion cannot in and of itself constitute a sufficient reason for not raising an !ssUr

earlier. Accordingly, we reject Avery's first arg?iment that he "lacked a',VFircncs;

of the legal basis for a claim." "Lack of awareness of tl'ie Iegal basis for a claim"

is a term of art that does not merely mean that AVc.rY was not a lawyer or lackcd
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legal knowledge. Rather, it means that he could not previously have anticipated a

change in the substantive law that opened up a new basis for co]lateral attack. Scc

State v. (Aarmz) Allen, 2010 WI 89,'][44, 328 Wis. 2d 1, 786 N.W.2d 124; State v.

Hosvard, 211 Wis. 2d 269, 287-88, 564 N.W.2d 753 (1997), osierruled on other

grounds by State v. Gordon, 2003 WI 69, 262 Wis. 2d 380, 633 N.W.2d 765.

Here, Avery's claims are based on well-settled law. See, e.g., Romero-Georgana,

360 Wis. 2d 522, %%39-41.

!20 As to reasons (2) through (6), Avery gives us bare-bones factual

conclusions but does not meaningfully explain why tl'ie circumstances he dcscribes

precluded him from raising most of these issues earlier. See Johit Allen, 274

Wis. 2d 568, 'l['l[l2, 23. Regarding reason (2), unawareness of the factual basis of

the claims, Avery does not explain, and we cannot envision, WI?Y he did not have

all the facts necessary in 2013 to raise these claims (which, after all, are prcmised

on the further investigation of evidence and witnesses known to Ave.ry at the liri'ie

of trial). See State v. Toiefree, 209 Wis. 2d 421, 426, 563 N.W.2d 175 (Ct. App.

1997). As to reason (3), as explained above, a defendant's pro se status, siaiiding

alone, cannot excuse his or her failure to raise claims in a WIS. STAT. § 914.06

motion.

'J[21 With one exception-discussed below-Avery's remaiiiing rcasoi'is

are similarly deficient. Avery simply claims uxat he has a Iearning disability and

was indigent in 2013, and that his case is complex. He does not cite any law, €lr

develop any detailed argumcnt, as to wl'iy these facts, alone or taken togct)ici,

explain his failure to raise these claims. It appears well established from I'edei:il

liabeas law, from which we can borrow, that reasons such as these are not the sort

of grounds on wiiidi a pi'ocedural bar can be avoided. See Harris v. McAdor2;,

334 F.3d 665, 668-69 (7th Ci'r. 2003) (petitioner's pro se status, borderline men:ai
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retardation, and organic brain dysfunction did not provide sufficient cause to
excuse procedural default of ineffective assistance claim; cause must be based on

an "external impediment").

%22 The one exception we will recognize concerns Avery's contention
that, on his own, it would have been impossible for him to have undertaken the
extensive investigations later carried out by current postconviction counsel, wl'iicli
resulted in new theories as to how he was framed and additional factual support

for previous theories. For example., if Avery believed that forensic testing would
have shown that his DNA was planted on the RAV4 key, he of course could have
raised tl'ie issue in his 2013 motion. But to do so with any chance of success, he
would have had to allege that postconviction counsel was ineffective for not
raising an ineffective assistance of ttial counsel claim on that basis, and to succeed
on that claim, he would have had to show that this new claim was "clearly
stronger" than those actually brought on direct appeal. See Rmtera-Georgana,
360 Wis. 2d 522, 'Jl'l{45-46. Absent forensic testing supporting the basis for such a
sl'iowing, this would be an all but impossible task. Thus, "unique circumslarices"
might exist wherein a pro se defendant is unable to perform or pay for an
investigation but later gains the resources to uncover new material facts arid
develop alternative theories of the crime and, on that basis, can claim a s?ifficient
reason for not previo?isly raising claims based on those theories. We do riot
pe.rceive the polic'ues underlying Escalona-A'ttmnjo-nan'iely, the need for fiiiali(y
iii litigation -to prcclude this result. Indeed, to hold otherwise could unfairly
piinisli defendants who bring postconviction n-iotions based on all facts known tr+
or reasonably discoverable by IJiem. For Escalona-Naranjo purposes, claiin's
based on newly conducted investiga(ions, wliidi co?ild not have been previousiy
undertaken, would appear to be little different than claims based on newly
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discovered evidence, see 'j[43, and we wil'l treat them as such in determining

whcther they are procedurally barred by virLue of Avery's prior pro se

postconviction motion.

'l[23 Tliat said, the n'iajority of Avery's ineffective assistance of trial

counsel clain'is are not based on investigations that Avery, now represented by

counsel, was only recently able to perform.8 0n the other hand, we have identified

a There are a number of claims, some overlapping, that canno( be said to be based on
new scientific or fore,nsic experiments or investigations by Avery's experts, and which we
thcrefore will not address except to list here. Several of these claims relate to issues that kw.ry's
new experts did explore-and which we discuss in more de(ail below-but the claims in (his list
are no( thcmselves dependent on the resul(s of new investigations. Several of these claims also
appear, superficially, to bc based on some new test or experiment (such as a recreation with a key
and a bookshelf), but, cmcially, these claims are not dependent on Avery's ability to hire new
experts, spend money on new tes(s, etc. We are aHowing Avery to overcome thc procedural b:ir
of his 2013 petition by demonstra(ing that lie did not havc the resoiirces to earlier uncover tlic
factual bases for I'iis claims, but this canno( cxkend to simple experiments or recreations llia(
require no expert contribution aiid/or tha( could have been easily conductcd at some poin( prior.

(ct,nimucii)

14
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seven claims, all premised on the results of forensic testing, that could conceivably

fall in this category. So as to address, as nearly as allowable, the merits of his

motion, we will assume that Avery has alleged a sufficient reason for not raising

these seven claims in his 2013 motion. These claims are that trial counsel was

ineffective for failing to:

1. Prcscnt a b!ood spaucr expert, who would have found
Uiat Avery's blood was planted in the RAV4.

2. Present a blood spatter expert, who would have found
that Halbach was not thrown in rear of the RAV4 after

being fatally injured.

3. Present a blood spatter expert, who would have
determined that the theory counsel presented at ttia] as

These claims are that trial counseil was ineffective for Failing to: (1) cross-examine sorrn:.
of the State's expert witnesses ins(ead of retaining their own; (2) thoroughly investigate other
suspects so as to 'idcntify a suspect meeting the requirements of State +t. Denny, 120 Wis. 2d 614.
357 N.W.2d 12 (Ct. App. 1984); (3) usc avnilable evidcnce supporting the theory that the IUlV4
was moved onto A've.ry's propcrty by the real killcr; (4) investFgate kvery's pre-trial belief iliat
his blood was taken from blood d-rippings in his miler sink and planted in the RAV4 (this claim,
standing alone, does not rely on new-investigations; we discuss related claims below); (5) prescnt
a DNA-experf's opinions about bl00d being planted iii the RAV4 (A/ery does not indicate iha+
current postconviction cotinsel retained such an expert; counsel did retain a "blood spatter
expert," whcise findings form the basis for other claims discussed below'l;
(6) demonstrate that Halbach's key was planted in Avery's bedroom, by recreating how the kty
was found; (7) demonstrate that- the RAV4 key found in Avery's trailer was a subkey or
secondary key, as should have been evident from the 1999 Toyota RAV4 manual; (8) delcct ;:nd
raise a Fourth An'iendment challenge x'egarding DNA testing tl'iat alle,oedly violated the scope of li
search warrant; (9) investigate a "chain of custody fabrication" that allegedly allosved law
enforcement to illegally collect and then plant Avery's DNA on the RAV4 hood latch (we disctiss
below claims based on the results of experiments on the RAV4 hood latch); (10) present an expcn
on police practices and investigations, who would have demonstrated errors in the handling of thp
inv;stigation; (11) conduct "a simple experiment" to dcmons(rate that a witness could riol hayt:
smelled bumin'g plastic (Halbach's-electr'onics and cai'nera) in Avery's burn barrel, as the wiincss
testified to at lrial; and-(12) invcs(igate "a smie% of topics," all based on evidence known l,:)
counsel beforc tria!. Avcry also argues that Halbach's ex-boyfrierid was the real killer, but hc
does nol presenl all)I cognia;able clairn base(] on tllis argument. Tllat is, AVer'l specu)ate!i l{lat Ihc.
ex-boyfriend meets thc Denity "legitima(e tendency" (est for iritroducing (rial evidence lhat ,i
Chird par(y c0mmittcd the cri'rne, b-ut without p0inCing lo any Crue newiy discovered evitlcncc,
explarning why trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance during his Deuny hearing in this
regard, or otiie;wise demonstrating why such conclusion entitles him to a +iew ti'ial.

15
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to how Ave.ry's blood was planted in the RAV4 was
untenable.

4. Present a trace n'iaterials expert, vtho would have found
that the RAV4 key rccovered from Avery's bedroom
was Halbach's subkey or secondary key.

s. Present a DNA expert, who would haye found that
Avery's DNA was planted on the subkey by law
enforcement.

6. Present a DNA expert, who would have found that
Avery's DNA was planted on the RAV4 'bood latch.

7. Present a forensic fire expert, who would have found
that Halbacl'i's body was not burned in Avery's burn pit

Qcrits of Ave2g,'s claims of ineffec3iv.e assistar;ce of trjal counsel

']i24 We now turn to whether Avery's ineffective assistance of tria'.
counsel claims have alleged "sufficient t'naterial facts-e.g., who, what, where,
when, why, and how-that, if tnie, would entitle [him] to the relief he seeks," see
John AlTen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 'l[2, bearing in mind that he is not entitled to a
hearing where the record conclusively demonstrates otberwise, see Balliette, 336

Wis. 2d 358, 'J[l8. In short, Ayery must show that a hearing would not be

frivolous. See Romero-Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, 'J[64.

'l[25 Avery cannot make this showing. First, he has wholly failed to

demonstrate deficient performance: tbat trial counsel's "representation fell belo'yv

an objective standard of reasonableness" by counsel's nol retaining experts similar

to those he later retained. ,See Romero-Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, %40 (citatioii

omitted). Avery apparently assumes that his firidings speak for themselves and

that, given the strength of his later claims, the necessity for such experts shoiild
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have been obvious at the time of trial,9 Avery also assumes, again without

explanation, tl'iat any experts retained by trial counse} would have reached tlic

same conclusions as his later experts. But even accepting these premises, kvery

has not demonstrated prejudice: that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for

counsel's unprofessional errors, tbe resull of the proceeding would have been

different." See id., 'J[41 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694).

'J[26 Avery's first three claims concern trial counsel's failure to retain :.

blood spatter expert. Ave.ry argues in his motion that counsel was ineffective

because sucl'i an expert would have found that his "blood was planted in liic

RAV4." I-Iis retained expert's actual findings, however, are not nearly su

conclusive. The expert did not conclude that Avery's "blood was planted" or iulc

out Avery as the source of the blood. Rather, he determined that the presence or

Avery's blood was "consistent with being randomly distributed from a source

liecuuse his blood is present in some locations but absent in some [other]

reasonably anticipated locations" and that "[tlhe absence of blood stains in these

9 Relatedly, Avcry fnils to demonstrate how (he defense sttategies that !rial counsel did
pursue rendered counsel's performance constitutionally deficient. As an example, he poin(s !o
trial counsel's failure to obtain a blood spatter expert but does not address why cormsel's choscii
stralegy for explaining the presence of his l'ilood in the RAV4 represented deficient perfi.irmancr
at llle tinla of triaL, wIChout the benefit of hindsight. Thls 15 a repeated shortcomIng in AVeg'S
briefing, Lioth to the circuit court and 011 appeal, and represents exactly thc type of "Monday
morning quarterbacking" that we strive to avoid in evaluating a claim of ineffective assistance of
counsel. See Weatheralr v. State, 73 Wis. 2d 22, 25-26, 242 N.W.2d 220 (197(i
("[P :lostconVlctaion counsel ... stress[es] '#hat he would hal'e done differently had he COThdllCled
the defense at time of trial- Our criurt Iias called this hindsight-is-better-than-foresight appro.ici
to be 'Monday-morning quarterbacking' and has made cleor that ... it is the right of a dcfcnd;ir.l
and trial counsel to select the par(lcular defense, from among tl1e alternatives available, upon
which they clcct to rcly." (footnotes and citation omitted)); Stricklmid 11. Wasliington, 4(i6 u.b.
668, 689 (1984) ("Judicial scmtiny of co?mscl's perf'ormance must be highly deferential. It is all
too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or advcrs:
sentence, and it is all too easy for a comt, examiniiig counsel's defense after it has lusveal
?msuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unrcasonable.").
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locations is inconsistent with an active bleeder" (the State al]eged at trial tha
Avery's finger was actively bleeding while he was in the R.AV4). The expcrl
further determined that the bloodstaixis were "consistent with an explanation other
than Mr. Avery being in the RAV4 and deposi(ing his blood in those locations
with his actively bleeding cut finger."'o

%27 Certainly, these. condusions tend to support kvery's general lbeory

that he was framed, and their presentation may have been useful at trial. Bui

Avery's burden in a postconviction motion is not merely to point to belpfui

evidence but to show how its introduction at triaL could reasonably have led to a

different outcome. See Strickland, 466 U.S. 668 at 694. He cannot meet this

burden by misrepresenting the expert's results as "demonst'raLing" tbat he was

framed. Absent additional facts or argument, we cannot assume that such
measured support for Avery's frame-up theory would have led to an acquittal.

![28 Next, A'very argues that counsel was ineffecti've because a brood

spatter expert would have refuted the Stafe's narrative that I{albach was tl'irown in

the rear of the RAV4 after being fatally injured. Avery asserts tl'iat, to ilie

contrary, Halbach "was struck on the head after she opened the rear cargo dool'

and was then "struclc repeatedly by" a mallet or hammer-without explaining why

'o For the purpose of this motion, we accept that these conclusions are based on soaiid
n'iethods. It is unclear, ho*e.'vcr, how this expert determine.d tl'iat a person actively bleeding in ttir.
RAV4 would havc lefk a different blood pattern thari wi'iat was found in Halbach's vehicle.
According to the expert's affidavit referenced in the Jutie 2017 motion, hc rccreated how 61cc.:I
could be taken from Avery's sink arid selectively plantcd tri the RAV4. The June 2017 moiic.n
states that (prcsumably so'me differeni) "blood spat(er experiments conducted with acti+al blcii-..l
on tl'ie subJect's nliddle finger conclllslVel7 demonstrate lhat tIle bl00d would hnVe bcen dcpoKilcd
on" additi-onal tocations within (he RA'/4. Tliat experiment is not described in thc rc(cxciiccd
affidavit, howcvcr, so wc do no( know the rneFhodology suppoi'ting this conclusion.

18
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an alternative finding as to how she was killed supports his theory that lie was
framed.

'H29 Third, Avery contends that a blood spatter expert could have advised

counsel that its trial strategy for explaining the presence of his blood in the RAV4

was flawed (i.e., that such strategy would have failed to persuade the jury). This

assertion is entirely speculative; as a matter of law, such guesswork falls well short

of demonstrating ineffective assistance of counsel.

!30 Fourth, Avery .argues that counsel was ineffective for not retaining a

trace materials expert, who would have found that the R?AV4 key recoveted f'ron'.

kvery's bedroom was Halbach's secondary lcey or subkey. But it is, agaiii,

completely speculative to asmime that the subkey was therefore planted (and not,

instead, that Halbacb herself was ?ising her subkey and not I'ier main key on the

day of her death).

'l[31 kvery's fifth and sixtl'i claims concern the retention of a DNA

expert. According to Avery, such an expert would have determined that his "DNA

was planted on the key" by law enforcement. Ayery again misstates the evidc+icc.

His expert analyzed DNA from "[a]n exemplar lcey, reportedly held by Mr. Avery

as if to start a car, i.e., grippcd by ungloved fingers for twelve (12) minutes." Tlie

expert determined that ten times less DNA was deposited on the exemplar key

than on tl'ie key recovered by Iaw enforcement. The expert further concluded that

"[ilf thc .?. key was indeed 'enl'ianced,' [i.e., tampered wit)i] (hen it is likely that

some ... personal item of Mr. Avery's was used for' this purpose," such as "a

toothbrush or a cigarette butt." Thus, once agairi, the f'indings of kvery's c:xliert

are significantly more ambiguous than w}ia( is presentcd in his motion. We h;rvt-

no reason to doulit the truth of these findirigs (altl'iough we note that the expert did

19
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not observe Avery holding the key), but simply determining that Avery depositcd

significantly less DNA in a controlled experiment does not indicate that kvcry

could not or did not deposit more DNA under other conditions, and it cet(ainl>

does not demonstrate that law enforcement planted DNA on the key. Tlms, eyc.n

accepting the truth of these new findings, we camiot conclude that there is o

reasonable probability that their introduction at trial would have led to a different

result.

%32 kve.ry's sixth claim is that counsel was ineffective for not retaining a

DNA expert, who would have determined that DNA from Avery's sweaty hands

"was never deposited [by Averyl on the RAV4 hood latch," demonstrating that

"Mr. Avery was being framed." In wl'iat is becoming a pattern, A've.ry has

misrcpresenied the facts. The DNA expert Avery has now hired did not dctermine

that Avcry 'i'iever deposited" the DNA and did not state that Avery was ftained.

Instead, the expert performed a series of experiments on an identical vehicle,

wherein volunteers opened the car hood using the hood latch. Only four of tlic

fifteen volunteers deposited DNA, and those four deposited significantly )ess

DNA tl'ian present in the swab from Halbach's RAV4 hood latch. Froin this

experiment, the expert extrapolated the possibility that law enforcement couM

have retrieved and relabeled a swab of Avery's groin (which was collected and

discarded for exceeding the scope of a search warrant) as coming from the hood

latch. The exper( admitl:ed, however, that "the convenicnce of this explanation ...

and the fact that it accounts for the physical findings observed from the analysis . . .

does not prove evide.nce tampering, or more precisely, evidence reassignment.'

Thus, again, we are left with facts that, even if true, would not entitle Ayery it?i

relief: in a controlled experiment, the minority of volunteers who deposited swcat

on the RAV4 deposited significantly less sweat than on the swab recovcred by I:nv

Doc. 1056
20

App 140

Case 2005CF000381 Document 1113 Filed 01-24-2023 Page 145 of 145


